
Common Council

City of Appleton

Meeting Agenda - Final

100 North Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI  54911-4799

www.appleton.org

Council Chambers7:00 PMWednesday, July 17, 2024

A. CALL TO ORDER

B. INVOCATION

C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAG

D. ROLL CALL OF ALDERPERSONS

E. ROLL CALL OF OFFICERS AND DEPARTMENT HEADS

F. APPROVAL OF PREVIOUS COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES

24-0867 Common Council Meeting Minutes of June 19, 2024

 

CC Minutes 6-19-24.pdfAttachments:

G. BUSINESS PRESENTED BY THE MAYOR

24-0924 Flag Day Parade Award Winners

 

24-0925 Proclamations

  - Make Music Day

  - Childrens Week

  - Glioblastoma Awareness Day

  - Parks & Recreation Month

 

Make Music Day 2024.pdf

Childrens Week Proclamation 2024.pdf

Glioblastoma Awareness Day Proclamation 2024.pdf

Parks and Recreation Month Proclamation 2024.pdf

Attachments:

H. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

I. PUBLIC HEARINGS

Page 1 City of Appleton Printed on 7/12/2024

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24568
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=12281622-d05d-4eea-b4c0-235454086e71.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24625
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24626
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=0c32dfdc-47b3-419c-8a16-b3422d71bf5f.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=ed271a0e-069e-40f0-91f9-689e5aa82fbe.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=a1635bc3-f9e1-4cd4-8c19-23d6726e2650.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=816798fe-f298-409f-b428-bb4e75eb3781.pdf


July 17, 2024Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final

24-0784 Public Hearing for Rezoning #5-24 1313 E. Amelia Street and 1319 N. 

Owaissa Street from R-1B Single Family District to R-1C Central City 

Residential District

 

RZ #5-24 Notice of Public Hearing.pdfAttachments:

J. SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS

K. ESTABLISH ORDER OF THE DAY

L. COMMITTEE REPORTS

1. MINUTES OF THE MUNICIPAL SERVICES COMMITTEE

24-0766 Resolution #7-R-24 To Rescind the No Mow May Ordinance Language 

 

#7-R-24 Rescind No Mow May.pdf

WeedComplaintData_MSC_Memo06062024.pdf

No Mow May Resolution Resident Handout.pdf

No Mow May Resolution Substitute AS AMENDED.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

6/10/24 Municipal Services 

Committee

held

Hold until next scheduled meeting.

6/24/24 Municipal Services 

Committee

recommended for approval

6/24/24 Municipal Services 

Committee

amended

Amended by substitution (as attached).

6/24/24 Municipal Services 

Committee

amended

6/24/24 Municipal Services 

Committee

amended

Amended the amendment from 12” to 10”.

24-0754 Approve the request from Lil Taco for a street occupancy permit to place 

tables and chairs at 106 S. State Street. 

4 Lil Taco Tables & Chairs Permit.pdf

24-0754 Lil Taco Occupancy Permit App - Comments for 06-24-24 MSC Mtg Minutes.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

6/10/24 Municipal Services 

Committee

held

Hold until next scheduled meeting.

6/24/24 Municipal Services 

Committee

recommended for approval

Page 2 City of Appleton Printed on 7/12/2024

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24485
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e1f81a11-8042-495a-b838-d4bbf2ecda00.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24467
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f2c2530e-075d-4977-bdbf-344722e929a2.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=cab80162-4136-46c3-9a11-070194734075.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=5d99da88-b20b-4516-804b-8028bad38026.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=aee4c160-a818-4441-970b-302999671d03.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24455
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=918074f4-d554-414f-85f2-4347c1ee73d9.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=b9a2bf1a-ee6e-4793-aa4b-a0c841bbb585.pdf


July 17, 2024Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final

24-0838 Approve the request from Rise Apartments, LLC for a permanent street 

occupancy permit at 113 W. Harris Street for two door swing areas and 

two associated concrete stoops to extend into the Harris Street 

right-of-way a maximum of 4 feet. 

Rise Apartments LLC - Permanent Occupancy Permit App MSC 06-24-2024.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

6/24/24 Municipal Services 

Committee

recommended for approval

24-0839 Approve the request to extend street occupancy permit 24-027-T from The 

Boldt Company for a street occupancy permit for the Fox Commons City 

Center Plaza project along College Avenue from City Center East to the 

entrance of City Center West for a period ending on August 15, 2024.

Boldt College Ave Occupancy Permit Extension MSC final 06-24-2024 .pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

6/24/24 Municipal Services 

Committee

recommended for approval

2. MINUTES OF THE SAFETY AND LICENSING COMMITTEE

24-0834 Non-Renewal of the Class "B" Fermented Malt Beverage & "Class B" 

Liquor License for Corner Pub, 1123 N Mason Street.  Kim Williams, 

Agent.

 

Corner Pub Alcohol Lic Non-Renewal MEMO - Atty.pdf

2024 Corner Pub Non-Renewal Hearing Notice.pdf

2023 Non-Use of License Letter- Corner Pub.pdf

CORNER_PUB 2023 Inspection Report.pdf

CORNER_PUB 2024 Inspection Report.pdf

Corner Pub 2024.2025 Renewal.pdf

Kim Williams-inspection letter.pdf

Inspections S&L Memo- Corner Pub 7-9-2024.pdf

7-10-24 - Corner Pub- Report of S&L to Common Council.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

6/26/24 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

held

Kim Williams addressed the committee

7/10/24 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

Motion failed 2/3

Page 3 City of Appleton Printed on 7/12/2024

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24539
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=3c3e1561-5fee-42bb-8fb7-5a127d096dce.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24540
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e4cb025b-95b5-43cd-80b9-a198ba267994.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24535
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=83053232-84fb-4679-b861-e8407551c7e1.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=4c9b21b8-b906-42a0-b83b-e517c101db73.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=7a13fda0-768b-463d-86ab-813b2e0612da.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=0a012120-541e-4722-b615-3607bf563f2d.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=5829e9b8-4071-48c0-a00a-bbe6b0ad0f86.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=1474b99e-bd4a-4263-97b8-06ef367a99aa.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=51328876-dbdc-4bfc-a4c4-5374b0736ab4.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=964f58af-75e0-45cd-8cb8-bb9d7c87f357.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=7f2319c6-1588-423a-8a0f-0dab89732c29.pdf


July 17, 2024Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final

7/10/24 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

Approve a 60 day extension (commencing July 10th) for the licensee to 

complete remaining work to reopen the business and for the alcohol license to 

no longer be deemed abandoned. 

Motion failed 2/3.

7/10/24 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

Approve the non-renewal of the alcohol license in accordance with the findings 

of the attached report.

Motion carried 3/2.

24-0879 Police Department Sole Source Memo for TimeClock Plus LLC Contract.

Aladtec Sole Source - SL 2024.pdf

Q032584 - Appleton Police Department_preview (1) (1).pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

7/10/24 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

24-0835 Hop Yard Ale Works Full-Service Retail Outlet Permit for Flicks & Sips on 

8/16/2024 in Jones Park.

 

Ab-105 Flicks Sips_Redacted.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

6/26/24 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

24-0808 Mobile Home Park License Renewal Application for Fox Valley Estates, 

located at 106 Primrose Lane, contingent on approval from the Inspections 

and Finance departments.

Fox Valley Estates- Mobile Home Park Renewal.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

6/26/24 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

24-0821 "Class C" Wine License application for Bowinator LLC d/b/a Ukiyo, Corbin 

Schiedermayer, Agent, located at 207 W. College Ave., contingent upon 

approval from the Inspections and Public Works departments.

 

Bowinator LLC Ukiyo Class C App Redacted.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

6/26/24 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

Page 4 City of Appleton Printed on 7/12/2024

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24580
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=af2dc7dc-7c2e-4a38-94d4-027be3178c1a.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=7eb0afa9-b724-428b-9f31-18764d95fce6.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24536
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f9a13b00-b500-4acd-ab2c-521f97abe186.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24509
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=79274668-b9a4-4a04-bc15-797aff299c3a.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24522
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=322bf7b1-da3e-4047-b80a-438d31c065ec.pdf


July 17, 2024Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final

24-0822 Class "B" Beer & Reserve "Class B" Liquor License application for Mondo 

Wine LLC d/b/a Mondo on the River, David Oliver, Agent, located at 425 

W. Water St, Ste 100, contingent upon approval from Health and 

Inspections departments. 

 

Mondo Wine LLC Class B Beer.Reserve Class B Liquor 2024 Redacted.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

6/26/24 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

24-0825 Class "A" Beer and "Class A" Liquor License application for Walgreen Co. 

d/b/a Walgreens #12693, Andrew Krueger, Agent, located at 729 W. 

Northland Ave.

 

Walgreens 12693 Redacted.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

6/26/24 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

24-0826 Class "A" Beer and "Class A" Liquor License application for Walgreen Co. 

d/b/a Walgreens #07323, Garrette Kersten, Agent, located at 3330 E. 

Calumet St.

 

Walgreens 12693 Redacted.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

6/26/24 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

24-0827 Class "A" Beer and "Class A" Liquor License application for Walgreen Co. 

d/b/a Walgreens #12019, Amber Janssen, Agent, located at 2803 N. 

Meade St. 

 

Walgreens 12019 Redacted.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

6/26/24 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

24-0828 Class "A" Beer and "Class A" Liquor License application for Walgreen Co. 

d/b/a Walgreens #02921, Stephanie Schroeder, Agent, located at 1901 S. 

Oneida St.

Walgreens 2921 Redacted.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

6/26/24 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

Page 5 City of Appleton Printed on 7/12/2024

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24523
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f8800a9f-accd-43ce-8aaf-e814c48f2dbd.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24526
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=388ed88b-be64-4707-9102-7c1a3098a9c4.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24527
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=224f632f-4289-4f0e-a080-51588a67a0f9.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24528
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=49f9ced2-fc68-4740-8c6c-ff810b4555d4.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24529
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=5473847c-e8c4-4c00-98cb-41101fd44e2b.pdf


July 17, 2024Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final

24-0829 Class "B" Beer and Reserve "Class B" Liquor License application for 

Dairyland Brewing Co LLC d/b/a Dairyland Brew Pub, Dorri Schmidt, 

Agent, located at 1216 E. Wisconsin Ave, contingent upon approval from 

the Finance department. 

 

Dairyland Brew Pub Redacted.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

6/26/24 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

24-0830 Cigarette, Tobacco, and Electronic Vaping Device License application for 

1619 College Ave LLC d/b/a Nanglo Momos And Curry, Sandip Bhandari, 

Agent, located at 1619 W. College Ave.

 

Nanglo Momos & Curry Tobacco Redacted.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

6/26/24 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

24-0831 Cigarette, Tobacco, and Electronic Vaping Device License application for 

Richmond Smokeys Tobacco Inc, Hussein Alobaidi, Agent, located at 

2828 N. Richmond St Unit 2.

 

Richmond Smokeys Tobacco Inc Redacted.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

6/26/24 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

24-0832 2024-2025 Late Late Alcohol License Renewal applications, contingent 

upon approval from all departments by 12:00 p.m. on June 28, 2024.

 

Late 2024-25 Alcohol License Renewals S&L.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

6/26/24 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

24-0833 2024-2025 Late Cigarette, Tobacco, and Vaping Device License renewal 

applications.

 

2024-2025 Late C.T.V Renewals 3rd Round.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

6/26/24 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

Page 6 City of Appleton Printed on 7/12/2024

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24530
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=d017779f-52e5-4100-b2ee-11951fba9e6c.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24531
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=44fb3f5e-1b8b-4bd8-8519-cb35aa6631c0.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24532
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=a95ea333-3c27-422b-80da-5cab9a8dd099.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24533
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=20cdf961-821a-4430-afa7-a3cc368d5a9c.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24534
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=762a84fd-dfbb-4df6-a24f-3e993781df87.pdf


July 17, 2024Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final

24-0840 Class "A" Beer and "Class A" Liquor License application for Walgreen Co. 

d/b/a Walgreens #05102, Sarah Loeck, Agent, located at 700 W. College 

Ave. 

Walgreens 5102 Redacted.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

6/26/24 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

24-0855 Cigarette, Tobacco, and Electronic Vaping Device License renewal 

application for D8D by 4H4 LLC d/b/a The Dispensary, William Nething, 

Agent, located at 3020 E. College Ave Ste N.

Dispensary Tobacco App Redacted.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/10/24 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

24-0857 Class "B" Beer & Reserve "Class B" Liquor License application for 1619 

College Ave LLC d/b/a Nanglo Momos And Curry, Sandip Bhandari, 

Agent, located at 1619 W. College Ave, contingent upon approval from the 

Health and Inspections departments.

Nanglo Momos & Curry Class B Beer.Reserve Class B Liquor App Redacted.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/10/24 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

24-0858 Salvage Dealer Renewal application for Golper Supply Co Inc, David 

Golper, Applicant, located at 1810 W. Edgewood Dr, contingent upon 

approval from the Inspections department.

Golper Supply Co Inc 2024 Renewal Redacted.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/10/24 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

24-0859 Salvage Dealer Renewal application for Mach IV Motors LLC, Kara 

Tullberg, Applicant, located at 600 E. Hancock St, contingent upon 

approval from the Inspections department. 

Mach IV Motors LLC 2024 Renewal Redacted.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/10/24 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

Page 7 City of Appleton Printed on 7/12/2024

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24541
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=a0e38006-c3e5-4efa-8359-4d568ac3cb52.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24556
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=66d92928-7447-4de3-9782-b5ddd5c68eb4.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24558
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e7e38355-d856-4d41-b176-2e98ce3d1901.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24559
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e034b10d-8d86-492f-bf34-94bba3e7d46d.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24560
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=b3676b78-56de-4a47-9bab-9724744c5424.pdf


July 17, 2024Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final

24-0860 Class "B" Beer and "Class B" Liquor Temporary Premise Amendment 

application for Spats Food and Spirits LLC d/b/a Spats Food and Spirits, 

Nicholas Kapleim, Agent, located at 733 W. College Ave., from August 

1-August 4, 2024 for Special Event, contingent upon approval from the 

Inspections and Finance Departments.

Spats Temp Premise Amendment 2024.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/10/24 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

24-0861 Class "B" Beer and "Class B" Liquor Temporary Premise Amendment 

application for TNE Inc d/b/a Emmett's Bar & Grill, Sharon Reader, Agent, 

located at 139 N. Richmond St., from August 1-August 4, 2024 for Mile of 

Music Event, contingent upon approval from the Police, Health, Inspections, 

Public Works, and Finance Departments.

Emmetts Premise Amend. 8.1.24.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/10/24 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

24-0864 Cigarette, Tobacco, and Vaping Device License renewal application for 

Family Dollar Stores of Wisconsin, LLC d/b/a Family Dollar #23800, 

Joshua Nigbor, Agent, located at 808 W. Wisconsin Ave.

Family Dollar 23800 Redacted.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/10/24 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

24-0865 Cigarette, Tobacco, and Vaping Device License renewal application for 

Indianhead Oil Co., LLC d/b/a Circle K #2746526, Brad Larson, Agent, 

located at 1935 E. Calumet St.

Circle K Tobacco Redacted.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/10/24 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

24-0866 Class "A" Beer & "Class A" Liquor License application for Indianhead Oil 

Co., LLC d/b/a Circle K #2746526, Brad Larson, Agent, located at 1935 

E. Calumet St, contingent upon approval from the Finance Department.

Indianhead Oil LLC Class A Beer.Liquor App Redacted.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/10/24 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

Page 8 City of Appleton Printed on 7/12/2024

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24561
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=2e6ae62d-870a-4419-bec8-ac19b0400f5d.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24562
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e678bcbe-3023-4ac9-985b-8c75db10b3be.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24565
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f0900efc-b143-40e7-8cd8-ce37b8855c44.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24566
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=280b0b81-cfda-4010-9b51-e8c3bbed0378.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24567
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=782fceb4-9aad-4908-bc91-abb3fcb7a415.pdf


July 17, 2024Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final

24-0869 Class "A" Beer & "Class A" Liquor License application for Lindo 

Michoacan Mexican Restaurant LLC d/b/a Lindo Michoacan, Pedro 

Juarez, Agent, located at 211 N. Richmond St.

Lindo Michoacan Class A Combo App Redacted.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/10/24 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

24-0870 Class "B" Beer & Reserve "Class B" Liquor License application for Lindo 

Michoacan Mexican Restaurant LLC d/b/a Lindo Michoacan, Pedro 

Juarez, Agent, located at 207 N. Richmond St.

Lindo Michoacan Class B Reserve Combo App Redacted.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/10/24 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

24-0871 Class "B" Beer and "Class B" Liquor Temporary Premise Amendment 

application for Wooden Nickel Restaurant & Lounge, Inc d/b/a Wooden 

Nickel Sports Bar and Grill, Anthony Mueller, Agent, located at 217 E. 

College Ave., from 11 a.m. to 12 a.m. August 1-August 4, 2024 for Mile of 

Music, contingent upon approval from all Departments.

Wooden Nickel Temp Premise Amend. 8.1.24.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/10/24 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

24-0872 Class "B" Beer and "Class B" Liquor Temporary Premise Amendment 

application for DDCT, Inc d/b/a Jim's Place, Stacy Hoffman, Agent, located 

at 223 E. College Ave., from 11 a.m. to 12 a.m. August 1-August 4, 2024 

for Mile of Music, contingent upon approval from all Departments.

Jim's Place Temp Premise Amend. 8.1.24.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/10/24 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

24-0874 Pet Store renewal application for Wild Habitats, Brady Bartel, Applicant, 

located at 1350 W. College Ave, contingent upon approval from all 

departments.

Wild Habitats 2024 Renewal Redacted.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/10/24 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

Page 9 City of Appleton Printed on 7/12/2024

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24570
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=1c1b1e74-e3e6-4a7a-bef1-a39d8b6cb3ef.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24571
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f9c46357-10aa-46d1-bafd-f9d0ec2af988.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24572
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=7977b4f4-0f3d-4d66-ab62-aeb3588bdaca.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24573
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=7d9613f2-c727-46d9-a58c-752003bb092b.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24575
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=fad442de-7f88-46c8-af5b-7972348130f7.pdf


July 17, 2024Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final

24-0882 Class "B" Beer & Reserve "Class B" Liquor License application for DCMX 

LLC d/b/a Gingerootz, Mylee Xiong, Agent, located at 2920 N. Ballard Rd 

Ste A, contingent upon approval from the Finance Department.

Gingerootz Class B Combo App Redacted.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/10/24 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

24-0891 Class "B" Beer and "Class C" Wine License application for Moon Water 

Cafe LLC d/b/a Moon Water Cafe, Shannon Boegh, Agent, located at 606 

North Lawe St.

Moon Water Cafe App Redacted.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/10/24 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

3. MINUTES OF THE CITY PLAN COMMISSION

24-0738 Request to approve Rezoning #5-24 for the subject parcels located at 

1313 East Amelia Street (Tax Id #31-1-1926-00) and 1319 North Owaissa 

Street (Tax Id #31-1-1927-00), including to the centerline of the adjacent 

street right-of-way, as shown on the attached maps, from R-1B 

Single-Family District to R-1C Central City Residential District

StaffReport_1313Amelia+1319Owaissa_Rezoning_For06-12-24.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

6/12/24 City Plan Commission recommended for approval

Proceeds to Council on July 17, 2024.

24-0851 Request to approve the Lumbini Estates Final Plat as shown on the 

attached maps and subject to the conditions in the attached staff report

StaffReport_LumbiniEstates_FinalPlat_For7-10-24.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/10/24 City Plan Commission recommended for approval

4. MINUTES OF THE PARKS AND RECREATION COMMITTEE

5. MINUTES OF THE FINANCE COMMITTEE

24-0842 Request to approve the 2025 Special Assessment Policy

2025 Assessment Policy Finance Memo 06-24-2024.pdf

2025 Assessment Policy - 7-17-24.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

6/24/24 Finance Committee recommended for approval

Page 10 City of Appleton Printed on 7/12/2024

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24583
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=65693c10-14af-41eb-a62d-e8b2bdb3437b.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24592
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=faf63737-dba9-4356-ab13-e1c86a6612a5.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24439
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=517286c9-d368-4358-8dd6-161c1342d9b4.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24552
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f588ee65-c30d-4974-9ec8-6068353235c0.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24543
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=422f5347-484b-440f-b40d-a7f2c19993ca.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=dcdd19ab-0641-4e6d-8932-192035df6c2c.pdf


July 17, 2024Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final

24-0844 Request to award AWWTP Phase II Belt Filter Press Equipment Upgrades 

Project Base Bid with Alternate Bid to Staab Construction in the amount of 

$4,627,000 with 4.65% contingency of $215,119 for a project total not to 

exceed $4,842,119.

Phase 2 BFP Equip Upgrades Project Bid Award_Staab.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

6/24/24 Finance Committee recommended for approval

24-0845 Request to approve Change Order #8 to Staab Construction contract as 

part of the AWWTP Phase I Belt Filter Press Equipment Upgrades Project 

totaling $66,293 resulting in a decrease in contingency from $675,538 to 

$609,245.

Change Order 8_Staab.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

6/24/24 Finance Committee recommended for approval

24-0887 Request to approve Transportation Project Plat and Relocation Order for the 

Olde Oneida Street Bridge over South Mill Race Project.

49840121_TPP_6.25.24_ signed.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/8/24 Finance Committee recommended for approval

24-0889 Request to approve the following 2024 Budget amendment:

Public Works Capital Project Fund

Public Safety Camera Program                 + $110,904

Fund Balance Applied                               + $110,904

To fund Public Safety Camera project costs.

Public Safety Camera Budget Amendment.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/8/24 Finance Committee recommended for approval

24-0898 Request to award the City of Appleton’s 2024 Park Pavilions Roof Replacement 

Project contract to Schulze Exteriors, LLC in the amount of $45,775 with a 15% 

contingency of $7,000 for a project total not to exceed $52,775.

2024 Parks Pavilion Roof Replacement.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/8/24 Finance Committee recommended for approval

Page 11 City of Appleton Printed on 7/12/2024

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24545
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=1c8f1a57-5306-4fd0-a32d-5c8a24c31dca.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24546
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=a6eebae1-9e3f-4f2a-8ee8-2f16f3a85fa7.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24588
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=c91d4980-0d79-4f33-8d94-a78f9a2f481e.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24590
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=6337a259-3bcf-40d5-9e02-cd0b98a774d7.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24599
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=974357ed-131d-4495-9812-253a75c34735.pdf


July 17, 2024Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final

24-0900 Request to approve AUDIT AGREEMENT FOR PAYMENT FOR LANDS OR 

INTERESTS IN LANDS ACQUIRED FROM PUBLIC UTILITY needed for the 

City to be reimbursed by WisDOT for relocating water main in conjunction with 

the 2025 I-41/Ballard Road interchange reconstruction project. 

DT1541_CoA_WATR _1130-65-76_1130-65-41.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/8/24 Finance Committee recommended for approval

6. MINUTES OF THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

24-0690 Request to award the contract for updating Appleton's Comprehensive 

Plan and Sub-Area Plans to SmithGroup in the amount of $359,000 with a 

contingency of $16,000 for a project total not to exceed $375,000

AwardMemo_CompPlanUpdate+SubAreaPlanning_For7-10-24.pdf

RFP_CompPlanUpdate_SubAreaPlanning_Final_4-12-24.pdf

SmithGroup Proposal_CompPlanUpdate+SubAreaPlanning_7-2-24.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

7/10/24 Community Development 

Committee

recommended for approval

24-0691 Request to award the contract for the Neighborhood Leadership Academy 

Program to NeighborWorks Green Bay in the amount of $76,250 with a 

contingency of $3,750 for a project total not to exceed $80,000

AwardMemo_NeighborhoodLeadershipAcademy_For7-10-24.pdf

RFP_NeighborhoodLeadershipAcademy_4-12-24.pdf

NeighborWorksGreenBayProposal_NeighborhoodLeadershipAcademy_FINAL 24.6.24.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

7/10/24 Community Development 

Committee

recommended for approval

24-0892 Request to approve the First Amendment to the Offer to Purchase from F 

Street Manager 3, LLC to extend the inspection date and modify the 

purchase price for the approximately 14 acres located at the southwest 

corner of E. Vantage Drive and S. Eisenhower Drive in Southpoint 

Commerce Park Plat No. 3 (Tax Id #31-9-5712-00)

OTP Amendment_FStreet_Memo to CDC_7-10-24.pdf

1st Amendment to OTP_FStreet.pdf

BuyerSignedOTP+Addendum_AdjacentExcessLand_14Acres_FStreetManager3LLC.pdf

FStreet14 acre-Exhibit A.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

7/10/24 Community Development 

Committee

recommended for approval

Page 12 City of Appleton Printed on 7/12/2024

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24601
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=02cb550f-ba5a-42a5-9535-fcbddefc6f00.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24391
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=453db5a1-8839-4691-b857-15f8c2f3172a.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f845d0eb-33cb-4ddd-92c3-5230d5b385bf.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e570df0d-3548-43a6-ba44-d7c4e4eacdd6.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24392
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=13090e62-616c-497f-912f-fb726cc442ae.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=edf7f7d8-0d0e-45f1-b905-57eb09c03572.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=bb5894d2-957c-4c2e-a4b5-8c30c6ed7495.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24593
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e4e0fbb9-88b5-46d4-a923-80dc52c5d62a.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=41e27676-96ba-40c4-b2e4-7c7b54b5af4b.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=706e2714-4aba-4c4a-aa23-66ac724e31d2.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=14a574eb-482d-4ca8-bf21-f08c8c237b25.pdf


July 17, 2024Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final

7. MINUTES OF THE UTILITIES COMMITTEE

8. MINUTES OF THE HUMAN RESOURCES & INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 

COMMITTEE

24-0897 Request to Approve Endpoint Switches for $256,000. 

 

Request to Approve Endpoint Switches for $256,000.pdf

Endpoint Switches Sole source.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

7/10/24 Human Resources & 

Information Technology 

Committee

recommended for approval

9. MINUTES OF THE FOX CITIES TRANSIT COMMISSION

10. MINUTES OF THE BOARD OF HEALTH

M. CONSOLIDATED ACTION ITEMS

N. ITEMS HELD

O. ORDINANCES

24-0868 Ordinances #96-24, #97-24, and #98-24 (Wheel Tax)

 

Ordinances to Council 7-17-24.pdfAttachments:

P. LICENSE APPLICATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS REFERRED TO 

COMMITTEES OF JURISDICTION

Q. RESOLUTIONS SUBMITTED BY ALDERPERSONS REFERRED TO COMMITTEES 

OF JURISDICTION

R. OTHER COUNCIL BUSINESS

S. ADJOURN

Kami Lynch, City Clerk

Reasonable accommodations for persons with disabilities will be made upon request and 

if feasible.  

Remote meeting attendance may be permitted pursuant to Section 2-29 of the Appleton 

Municipal Code and Rules of Council.

Page 13 City of Appleton Printed on 7/12/2024

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24598
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=a90f187f-af7b-4a12-831f-6c18ce925a4f.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=6ef50c7f-ce2d-4483-9eb4-1b2c1eb41d54.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24569
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=d40c1f41-4962-4741-982c-7d551bc8405f.pdf


100 North Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI  54911-4799

www.appleton.org

City of Appleton

Meeting Minutes - Final

Common Council

7:00 PM Council ChambersWednesday, June 19, 2024

CALL TO ORDERA.

The meeting was called to order by Mayor Woodford at 7:00 p.m.

INVOCATIONB.

The Invocation was offered by Alderperson Meltzer.

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAGC.

ROLL CALL OF ALDERPERSONSD.

Alderperson Smith appeared virtually.

Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson 

Brad Firkus, Alderperson Martyn Smith, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Patrick Hayden, Alderperson 

Patti Heffernan, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, 

Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri 

Hartzheim, Alderperson Christopher Croatt, Alderperson Chad Doran and 

Mayor Jake Woodford

Present: 16 - 

ROLL CALL OF OFFICERS AND DEPARTMENT HEADSE.

All departments were represented.

APPROVAL OF PREVIOUS COUNCIL MEETING MINUTESF.

24-0785 Common Council Meeting Minutes of June 5, 2024
 

CC Minutes 6-5-24.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Hayden moved, seconded by Alderperson Meltzer, that the 

Minutes be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson 

Brad Firkus, Alderperson Martyn Smith, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Patrick Hayden, Alderperson 

Patti Heffernan, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, 

Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri 

Hartzheim, Alderperson Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Page 1City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24486
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=7f71c26a-410d-4f23-95cb-d7e07d4e35d3.pdf


June 19, 2024Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

BUSINESS PRESENTED BY THE MAYORG.

24-0816 Refugee Day Proclamation
 

Refugee Day 2024.pdfAttachments:

24-0817 AZCO Recognition - Yellow Ramp Skywalk Improvements

The recognition was presented to AZCO CEO, Earle Cianchette.

24-0818 Victim Services Officer - Facility K9 Overview
 

Sgt. Lori Duven and K9 Edison presented the overview.

24-0819 Confirmation of Appointments 
 

June 19 2024 Council Appointments Memo.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Croatt moved, seconded by Alderperson Alfheim, that the 

Appointments be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson 

Brad Firkus, Alderperson Martyn Smith, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Patrick Hayden, Alderperson 

Patti Heffernan, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, 

Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri 

Hartzheim, Alderperson Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATIONH.

The following spoke regarding Item 24-0585 Resolution Increasing the Wheel Tax:

Walter Blank, 2623 E Sundance Dr.

Debra Blank, 2623 E Sundance Dr.

The following spoke regarding Item 24-0341Resolution regarding the Sustainable 

Use of Pesticides:

Israel Del Toro, 826 E South St.

Relena Ribbons, 826 E Washington St.

PUBLIC HEARINGSI.

Page 2City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24517
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=8c60664e-245b-4562-a519-eb736fb80b74.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24518
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24519
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24520
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=d5105b44-d066-4e27-adec-94537417563a.pdf


June 19, 2024Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

24-0673 Public Hearing for Rezoning 4-24 841 W. Lawrence Street from C-2 

General Commercial District to R-2 Two-Family District
 

RZ #4-24 Notice of Public Hearing.pdfAttachments:

The Public Hearing was held.  No one spoke during the hearing.

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONSJ.

ESTABLISH ORDER OF THE DAYK.

24-0341 Resolution #4-R-24 Sustainable Use of Pesticides 
 

#4-R-23 Sustainable Use of Pesticides.pdf

Memo RE 4.R.24 Sustainable Use of Pesticides Response.pdf

Attachments:

Alderperson Meltzer moved, seconded by Alderperson Wolff, that the 

Resolution be amended to add:

Let it be further resolved, that the City will share the list of pesticides used by 

posting it on the new City website. Roll Call. Motion failed by the following 

vote:

Aye: Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson 

Patrick Hayden, Alderperson Patti Heffernan, Alderperson Alex Schultz 

and Alderperson Nate Wolff

6 - 

Nay: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Brad Firkus, Alderperson 

Martyn Smith, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, Alderperson Vaya Jones, 

Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, Alderperson 

Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

9 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Alderperson Van Zeeland moved, seconded by Alderperson Meltzer, that the 

Resolution be amended by substitution to read:

The record keeping of pesticides will be built into the Turf Management Policy 

so that when a pesticide is applied, a record is kept of what type of pesticide is 

applied and where the pesticide was applied.

 Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson 

Brad Firkus, Alderperson Martyn Smith, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Patrick Hayden, Alderperson 

Patti Heffernan, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, 

Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri 

Hartzheim, Alderperson Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Page 3City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24374
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=4d4c3f70-c872-4d99-9819-d48ef1051863.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24042
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=a56507d0-661a-4b7a-9fdd-83a88f1766d6.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=1ff0a4f0-da48-4e99-865d-8ef4769ceabc.pdf


June 19, 2024Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

This item was also referred to the Municipal Services Committee who held the item 

on 6/10/2024.  Since Council has acted on the item (as reported by the Parks & 

Recreation Committee), the item will not come back before Municipal Services 

Committee.

Alderperson Meltzer moved, seconded by Alderperson Hartzheim, that the 

Resolution be approved as amended by substitution. 

Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson 

Brad Firkus, Alderperson Martyn Smith, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Patrick Hayden, Alderperson 

Patti Heffernan, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, 

Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri 

Hartzheim, Alderperson Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

24-0768 Adopt Resolution #2024-02 for the Wisconsin DNR IRA Urban 

Forestry Grant
 

WI DNR IRA Urban Forestry Grant Memo.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Hartzheim moved, seconded by Alderperson Croatt, that the Grant 

Resolution be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson 

Brad Firkus, Alderperson Martyn Smith, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Patrick Hayden, Alderperson 

Patti Heffernan, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, 

Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri 

Hartzheim, Alderperson Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

24-0760 Continue negotiations with Bird Rides for a 2024 Memorandum of 

Understanding. 

10 2024 Bird MOU Recommendation.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Fenton moved, seconded by Alderperson Hartzheim, that the 

discontinuation of negotiations with Bird Rides be approved. Roll Call. Motion 

carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson 

Brad Firkus, Alderperson Martyn Smith, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Patrick Hayden, Alderperson 

Patti Heffernan, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, 

Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, Alderperson 

Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

14 - 

Nay: Alderperson Alex Schultz1 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Page 4City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24469
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=062abe16-275b-4659-856f-cda301d71246.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24461
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=b47d8533-05aa-4faf-a667-596a765eb680.pdf


June 19, 2024Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

COMMITTEE REPORTSL.

Balance of the action items on the agenda.

Alderperson Fenton moved, Alderperson Van Zeeland seconded, to approve 

the balance of the agenda.  The motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson 

Brad Firkus, Alderperson Martyn Smith, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Patrick Hayden, Alderperson 

Patti Heffernan, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, 

Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri 

Hartzheim, Alderperson Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

MINUTES OF THE MUNICIPAL SERVICES COMMITTEE1.

Page 5City of Appleton



June 19, 2024Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

24-0750 Approve the updated roadway design parameters for planned 2025 

street reconstruction: Morrison Street, from Glendale Avenue to 

Pershing Street (1,480 ft), be reconstructed with asphalt pavement and 

concrete curb and gutter. The details of the proposed Morrison Street 

reconstruction project are as follows: 

- ELIMINATE previously approved curb extensions (narrowing of the 

pavement) at Marquette St to serve as traffic calming. 

- New asphalt pavement and concrete curb and gutter constructed to a 

width of 27’ from back of curb to back of curb, which is 6’ narrower 

than the existing street (33’) within this portion of the project. 

UNCHANGED from previous design approval.

- Traffic calming circle constructed at the intersection with Lindbergh 

Street. UNCHANGED from previous design approval.

- Existing on-street parking would be restricted along the west side of 

Morrison Street, within the project limits. UNCHANGED from previous 

design approval.

DPW staff recommend the above change based on the new Complete 

Streets Design Guide standards, which were adopted after the 

referenced design recommendation was made at November 20, 2023 

Municipal Services Committee. 

1 Morrison St Informational Letter (Modified Design Proposal) 

05-29-24.pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

24-0752 Approve the request from J.H. Findorff & Son Inc for a street 

occupancy permit for the Fox Commons City Center Plaza 

construction material loading, partial closure of College Avenue on 

Mondays and Wednesdays starting July 1, 2024 through November 

15, 2024.

2 J.H Findorff & Son Inc 7-1-24 to 11-15-24.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

Page 6City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24451
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=01f69ada-c6ee-496d-a57c-7c8ca0544583.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24453
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=ce89063d-7058-4b5c-867c-a9f55296f522.pdf


June 19, 2024Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

24-0753 Approve the request from Appleton Downtown Inc. for a street 

occupancy permit to host a Sidewalk Sale on Friday August 2, 

Saturday August 3 and Sunday August 4, 2024 from 10:00am to 6:00 

pm (during Mile of Music) on the College Avenue beautification strip 

from 900 W. College Avenue to 300 E. College Avenue.

3 Appleton Downton Inc and Mile of Music - 8-2 to 8-4-24.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

24-0755 Approve the permanent street occupancy permit for brick veneer 

extending no more than 4-inches into the right-of-way at Jack’s Apple 

Pub located at 535 W. College Avenue.  

5 Jacks ApplePub - Brick Veneer.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

24-0756 Approve the permanent street occupancy permit for building awning 

projecting 4-feet maximum into the right-of-way with a minimum 

clearance of 10-feet at Jack’s Apple Pub located at 535 W. College 

Avenue.

6 Jacks ApplePub - Awning.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

24-0757 Approve the temporary street occupancy permit for a sidewalk closure 

related to building façade improvement at Jack’s Apple Pub located at 

535 W. College Avenue.

7 Jacks ApplePub-Mason Doctor Sidewalk Closure.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

24-0758 Approve the award of Service Contract for Traffic Signal Control and 

Management Software. 

8 SISP Contract Award.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

24-0759 Approve the award of the Unit Q-24 Pavement Marking Maintenance 

Contract (Paint).

9 Q-24 Pavement Marking Contract Award.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

24-0761 Create an ordinance prohibiting short-term rental of electric scooters to 

the general public. 

This Report Action Item was approved.

Page 7City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24454
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=8acbc90a-0c1a-43b9-b63d-33d73ee2fe4d.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24456
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=7ed40bd5-8c24-4b41-b143-cf12e94d1258.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24457
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=01ba20ec-9553-47f7-aa4d-a915c26a3699.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24458
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=097387b1-c475-4780-b4ac-32f57c2fee3e.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24459
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=8f76f0ad-4ed6-4868-868b-4c5f3bc54ecd.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24460
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=47eef8ff-4c66-4fcd-81c1-92172ac8d2c6.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24462


June 19, 2024Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

MINUTES OF THE SAFETY AND LICENSING COMMITTEE2.

24-0743 Fire Department Automatic Aid Agreement with the Village of Fox 

Crossing Fire Department.

AFD_Auto_Aid_Fox Crossing_2024.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

24-0748 2024-2025 Late Alcohol License Renewal applications, contingent 

upon approval from all departments by 12:00 p.m. on June 28, 2024

Late 2024-25 Alcohol License Renewals.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

24-0749 2024-2025 Late Cigarette, Tobacco, and Vapor Product License 

Renewals

2024-2025 Late C.T.V Renewals.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

24-0663 Taxicab Company License Renewal Application for Dynasty Limousine 

Service LLC, Owner, Diana Wolters, 1900 Vandenberg Ln, Kaukauna, 

WI 54130. 

Dynasty Limousine Service LLC - Taxicab Co Renewal.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

24-0683 Class "B" Beer and "Class B" Liquor License application for Mauthe 

Ventures LLC d/b/a No Idea Bar, Jennifer Mauthe, Agent, located at 

109 W College Ave, contingent upon approval from the Health 

department.

Mauthe Ventures LLC No Idea Bar App Redacted.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

24-0684 Class "B" Beer and "Class B" Liquor License application for Mauthe 

Ventures LLC d/b/a Bazil's Pub & Provisions, Jennifer Mauthe, Agent, 

located at 109 W College Ave, contingent upon approval from the 

Health department.

Mauthe Ventures LLC Bazil's Pub App Redacted.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

Page 8City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24444
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=a17e962f-7f98-47ee-9b29-4cedc8239e0c.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24449
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=029b3865-ee82-4758-b6a1-4e4f74892ae1.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24450
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=21230b84-4f3d-44dc-a458-3cdda52256a4.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24364
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=adcd10d1-db8e-4e2d-a143-1614ce95931e.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24384
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=15a461fa-67d7-448c-9f10-fa06b3e16a9f.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24385
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=aebf4aad-7c9e-47da-b24d-96453325f811.pdf


June 19, 2024Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

24-0685 Class "B" Beer and Reserve "Class B" Liquor License application for 

Mauthe Ventures LLC d/b/a Olde Town Tavern, Jennifer Mauthe, 

Agent, located at 107 W College Ave, contingent upon approval from 

the Health department.

Mauthe Ventures LLC Olde Town Tavern App Redacted.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

24-0699 Salvage Dealer Renewal application for Mr C's Motorcycles LLC, Janet 

Ristau, Applicant, located at 724 S. Outagamie St, contingent upon 

approval from the Inspections department.

Mr. Cs Motorcycles LLC 2024 Renewal Redacted.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

24-0702 Pet Store renewal application for Just Pets, Craig Weborg, Applicant, 

located at 2009 N. Richmond St, contingent upon approval from the 

Inspection and Community Development departments.

Just Pets 2024 Renewal Redacted.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

24-0704 Class "B" Beer and "Class B" Liquor Temporary Premises Amendment 

application for S C Carrow Corp d/b/a Rookies Sports Bar & Grill, 

Steven C. Carrow, Agent, located at 325 N. Appleton St, from 11 a.m. 

to 2 a.m., August 1-4, 2024 for Mile of Music Event, contingent upon 

approval from the Health Department.

Rookies Sports Bar Temp Premise Amend. for 8.2024.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

24-0708 Taxicab Company License Application for Z's Overflow LLC d/b/a 

Phoenix Transportation, Owner, Zonea Mims, 1280 S. Van Dyke Rd. 

#3, Appleton, WI 54914, contingent upon approval from the 

Inspections department.

Z's Overflow LLC - Taxicab Co Application.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

24-0751 Pet Store renewal application for Fish Cave LLC, Ton Vang, Applicant, 

located at 2110 S Memorial Dr, contingent upon approval from the 

Inspection and Community Development departments.

Fish Cave LLC Renewal 2024 Redacted.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

Page 9City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24386
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=d43e52e6-2d77-4c9e-bce5-88246155fd02.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24400
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=accbce5d-08d2-490c-84bd-06d32fe2f9ab.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24403
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=8a4ce317-4f77-4ed5-b590-e002a407670f.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24405
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=b4540aec-548e-4a91-93bf-67801a4701c8.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24409
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=d48f7ab7-eddc-4b89-85e6-438dc197d25f.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24452
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=4af7e171-4ed2-418a-a5ab-86f7a9329112.pdf


June 19, 2024Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

MINUTES OF THE CITY PLAN COMMISSION3.

24-0632 Request to approve Rezoning #4-24 for the subject parcel located at 

841 West Lawrence Street (Tax Id #31-3-0899-01), including to the 

centerline of the adjacent railroad line and the adjacent one-half (1/2) 

right-of-way of West Lawrence Street, South Badger Avenue and 

South Pierce Avenue, as shown on the attached maps, from C-2 

General Commercial District to R-2 Two-Family District

StaffReport_841WLawrenceSt_Rezoning_For05-22-24.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

24-0739 Request to approve the wetland restriction modification for Lots 90 - 97 

of North Edgewood Estates 3 (Tax Id #31-1-7612-20, #31-1-7612-21, 

#31-1-7612-22, #31-1-7612-23, #31-1-7612-24, #31-1-7612-25, 

#31-1-7612-26, and #31-1-7612-27) as requested and shown on the 

attached documents and subject to the condition in the attached 

memo

StaffMemo_NorthEdgewoodEstates3_RestrictionModification_For06

-12-24.pdf

AffidavitOfCorrection_NorthEdgewoodEstates3_RestrictionModificati

on.pdf

WetlandDelineationMap_NorthEdgewoodEstates3_RestrictionModifi

cation.pdf

RecordedPlat2021_NorthEdgewoodEstates3_RestrictionModification

.pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

24-0740 Resolution #2024-03 - Supporting and Approving of the New Appleton 

(Fox Cities) Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) Policy Board 

Structure and Re-designation Agreement

MPOPolicyBoardStructure+RedesignationAgreement_Memo_6-5-24

.pdf

Resolution_NewAppleton(FoxCities)MPOPolicyBoardStructure+Red

esignationAgreement.pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE PARKS AND RECREATION COMMITTEE4.

24-0701 Request to Approve an amendment to the Houdini Plaza Lease 

Agreement
 

Houdini Plaza Lease Agreement Memo.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

Page 10City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24333
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=fc108608-7636-4441-81b0-9b477fc5158a.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24440
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=31638c18-e696-422c-97fb-50b1fca03906.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=9e33685f-60de-4bdc-821b-bc4433c06b25.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=cd5583e5-134b-483e-b94b-c0564d1ffe7a.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=32413dd6-b4d7-4afd-aac9-974795171f76.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24441
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=03a6427e-e79c-4ebe-848d-a4e1b2882a09.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=a5c810d5-ead3-4f09-922f-9d0e03bb3e09.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24402
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=2bf6aa96-64e2-4707-9a66-5d9cef8aa7ed.pdf


June 19, 2024Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

24-0767 Adopt the Proposed Revised Agreements for Stormwater Ponds at 

Memorial Park and Reid Golf Course
 

Reid and Memorial Park Stormwater Pond Agreements Memo.pdf

Memorial Park Stormwater Agreement - Amended - CLEAN - 

05-30-2024.pdf

Memorial Park Stormwater Agreement - Amended - REDLINE - 

05-30-2024.pdf

Reid Stormwater Pond Agreement - Amended - CLEAN - 

05-30-2024.pdf

Reid Stormwater Pond Agreement - Amended - REDLINED - 

05-30-2024.pdf

2024 Stormwater Pond Market Value Analysis.pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

24-0776 Approve updated Park Pavilions and Special Areas Policy
 

Park Pavilions and Special Areas Memo.pdf

2024 Pavilion Special Areas Policy - Redline - 6-5-2024_1.pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE FINANCE COMMITTEE5.

24-0779 Request from the Appleton Police Department to paint a mural to be 

located on the east-facing concrete wall, between the lower garage 

and the upper parking deck, located at 222 S. Walnut Street as 

described in the attached documents and subject to the conditions in 

the attached staff memo.

PDMural_PublicArtsCommitteeRecommendation.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

24-0780 Request to apply for a Safe Drinking Water Loan and to approve a 

Resolution declaring official intent to reimburse expenditures for loan 

disbursement payments.

Memo Resolution Intent to Reimburse.pdf

Resolution 2024-04 - Intent to Reimburse.pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

Page 11City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24468
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=4217e7ff-8177-4a74-b46b-04db9ec59edd.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=2c4934c1-049e-42e0-815f-5de927150241.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=1a5bb351-9315-4aa4-a0eb-976e582bc355.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=56670e0c-def6-446a-9260-b0b27cd5b864.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=861c3708-4bf5-425d-8b69-8a6be8c82347.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=b5282b29-f218-41fe-9df2-1766165148ac.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24477
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=43271fef-a09b-4a74-bc45-7739d7bfcb1d.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=20427b83-b451-416d-9f77-9b0d8611847c.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24480
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=df3df9c6-66b6-4c75-a638-fdb1e10c08e6.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24481
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=b8531354-ffa7-49e2-8484-d5f16896eac4.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=233dddc3-56a6-4773-8e98-c559d4929226.pdf


June 19, 2024Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

24-0781 Request to award AWWTP Mix Liquor Channel Blower Replacement 

Project Base Bid Plus Alternative to Sabel Mechanical, in the amount 

of $392,100 with 15% contingency of $58,815 for a project total not to 

exceed $450,915.

BidAward_ML Channel Blower Sabel Contract.pdf

AWWTP ML Blower Replacement Recommendation  Bid Tab.pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

24-0782 Request to award the 2024 Lutz Park Trail and Shoreline Development 

Project contract to Vinton Construction Company in the amount of 

$496,345.35 with a 20% contingency of $99,269 for a project not to 

exceed $595,614.35. 

Lutz Park Trail and Shoreline Project Finance Memo.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE COMMUNITY AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

COMMITTEE

6.

24-0688 Request to approve the 2023 Consolidated Annual Performance and 

Evaluation Report (CAPER) for the Community Development Block 

Grant (CDBG) Program

CAPER Memo to CDC_6-12-24.pdf

Appleton_2023PY_CDBG_CAPER_Draft For Public 

Comment_05-17-24.pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

24-0689 Request to approve the REVISED 2024-2025PY (Program Year) 

Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) allocations as specified 

in the attached documents

CDBG 2024PY Final Allocation Memo to CDC_6-12-24.pdf

Exhibit1_CDBG_Final_Allocations_Project_Descriptions_6-12-24.pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

Page 12City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24482
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=d2e174da-8830-4bec-98db-7f5c3abd7cc7.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=a92c399c-8ba0-4b60-b00d-5a811aa78daa.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24483
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=06f00c69-a332-45bc-9213-d2533726fba3.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24389
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=53de652a-2c59-4799-9b62-19520cbbb59f.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f82d384a-987d-48fe-a7ba-01d909731023.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24390
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=9c81d8fb-4491-4369-abe2-dd4acb78fff0.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=8aa6695a-be77-4336-a00b-be339141398a.pdf


June 19, 2024Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

24-0770 Request to approve a waiver to the Declaration of Covenants and 

Restrictions, Item 4.B for Southpoint Commerce Park allowing 

maximum lot coverage over 70% located at 3351 S. Eisenhower Drive 

(Tax Id #31-9-5714-01) subject to the conditions in the attached memo

Waiver Request_Encapsys_Memo to CDC_6-12-24.pdf

Waiver Request Email From Boldt_Encapsys_5-28-24.pdf

Subject Area Map_Encapsys_Southpoint Commerce Park.pdf

SPCP Covenants.pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE UTILITIES COMMITTEE7.

24-0745 Request Approval of the Electronic Compliance Maintenance Annual 

Report (eCMAR) for 2023 and Request the following Resolution be 

presented to Common Council for approval:

Whereas, the City of Appleton manages, operates, and maintains a 

sewer collection system and wastewater treatment plant; and

Whereas, treatment efforts produce a liquid effluent and a biosolids 

that are returned to the environment; and

Whereas, the State of Wisconsin evaluates wastewater utilities 

throughout the State of Wisconsin through an electronic Compliance 

Maintenance Annual Report (eCMAR); and

Whereas, Appleton received a score of 4.0 GPA; and

Whereas, the State of Wisconsin requests the Common Council pass 

a resolution accepting the eCMAR report;

Now, therefore, be it resolved by the City Council that the City of 

Appleton:

Article 1.  Continue supporting the treatment and maintenance 

programs at the utility

Article 2.  Continue planning efforts that will address and promote long 

term performance results at the facility.
 

2023 eCMAR Validated.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

Page 13City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24471
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=58ac24e1-17f0-47b3-bd3e-d840ad5db345.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=951324a9-c7cb-4449-886c-9d76fbcdff70.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=751fa516-e25b-48f3-901c-1ea6df33bb3c.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=faa83cb6-d535-41bb-bc7a-19eb7a58eadf.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24446
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=0fdb5eb3-2a18-4170-893a-6e19ac296d2a.pdf


June 19, 2024Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

24-0746 Adopt the Proposed Revised Agreements for Stormwater Ponds at 

Memorial Park and Reid Golf Course
 

Reid and Memorial Park Stormwater Pond Agreements.pdf

0821 - Memorial Park Stormwater Agrm - Amended - REDLINE - 

05-30-2024.pdf

0821 - Memorial Park Stormwater Agrm - Amended - CLEAN - 

05-30-2024.pdf

0820 - Reid Stormwater Pond Agrm - Amended - REDLINED - 

05-30-2024.pdf

0820 - Reid Stormwater Pond Agrm - Amended - CLEAN - 

05-30-2024.pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

24-0765 Amend 2024A Stormwater Management Plan Review contract with 

Brown and Caldwell by an increase of $25,000 for a total contract 

amount not to exceed $75,000.
 

2024A Stormwater Plan Review amendment #1 UC Memo.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE HUMAN RESOURCES & INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 

COMMITTEE

8.

24-0729 Request to add 1.0 FTE Environmental Health Technician Position. 
 

Health Re-org 2024 Memo.pdf

Health Re-org 2024 JD.pdf

Health TO Update TO.pdf

OperationsSupervisorHealth.pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

24-0730 Request to Increase Public Health Nursing FTE from 4.0 to 4.1. 
 

Nursing TO Change 2024.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

24-0731 Request to Approve Metafile Conversion for $43,571.
 

2024 Request to Approve $43,571 for Metafile Conversion.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

Page 14City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24447
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=be1c2285-b079-48c3-86df-47da18200c13.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=23985903-78e3-4ece-823e-d5551fc6d96b.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e3a290cc-9050-4b5b-ae63-99de20574708.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=12ad7078-c12a-472b-94eb-a67c0758d78f.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=03f384ee-1b49-4a72-9061-f46fce507e08.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24466
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=0430ab4f-e94b-4b95-ab59-27bd20c91c90.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24430
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=eb3f0782-3e04-4334-8cc9-8bd97aecf532.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=049bb48a-a5f3-4e2d-b983-732e66f377d6.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=4271b03d-b1d9-4efa-888f-a3210ddc5dd8.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=1961a24d-48eb-4071-aa82-3c2e5bd04275.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24431
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=58a48874-ee35-4453-9544-4adc1451bc0a.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24432
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=3de0ee9b-9172-4ba0-ba4a-d709267ff39b.pdf


June 19, 2024Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

24-0742 Police Department Table of Organization Modification Request and 

Addition of Police Officer Position. 
 

APD Reorg Memo 2024.pdf

APD reorg TO 2024.pdf

APD Reorg Traffic Report.pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE FOX CITIES TRANSIT COMMISSION9.

24-0773 Approve Resolution No. 2024-03 Supporting and Approving of the 

New Appleton (Fox Cities) MPO Policy Board Structure and 

Redesignation Agreement

Resolution Memo.pdf

COA Resolution No 2024-03.pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE BOARD OF HEALTH10.

24-0722 Policy Review: N204 Tuberculosis Screening

POL_N204_TuberculosisScreening_06.05.2024.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

CONSOLIDATED ACTION ITEMSM.

24-0815 Consolidated Action Items:

24-0740 City Plan Commission (Resolution 2024-03) recommended for 

approval

24-0773 Fox Cities Transit Commission (Resolution 2024-03)  
recommended for approval

Alderperson Hartzheim moved, seconded by Alderperson Fenton, that the 

Consolidated Action Items be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the 

following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson 

Brad Firkus, Alderperson Martyn Smith, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Patrick Hayden, Alderperson 

Patti Heffernan, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, 

Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri 

Hartzheim, Alderperson Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Page 15City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24443
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=93b6e61a-01cd-4a13-8469-707118ff764a.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=b1108533-35fc-4714-adec-8a3f67ec88e2.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=614bf809-9e96-487e-ac83-d6a03c62b422.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24474
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=926dbdb0-e3d0-47b4-8cf1-018c5732df04.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=38a7ce1e-664b-4d8c-8b35-82f020d20453.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24423
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f30965e3-ec64-4878-a5a3-0f58fe5764f4.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24516


June 19, 2024Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

ITEMS HELDN.

24-0585 Resolution #5-R-24 Increasing the Wheel Tax
 

#5-R-24 Resolution to Increase the Wheel Tax.pdf

DPW Wheel Tax Res Memo.pdf

Attachments:

Alderperson Van Zeeland moved, seconded by Alderperson Jones, that the 

Resolution be amended to implement the increase in January of 2025. Roll Call. 

Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson 

Brad Firkus, Alderperson Martyn Smith, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Patti Heffernan, Alderperson 

Vaya Jones, Alderperson Nate Wolff and Alderperson Christopher Croatt

10 - 

Nay: Alderperson Patrick Hayden, Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson 

Sheri Hartzheim and Alderperson Chad Doran

4 - 

Absent: Alderperson Alex Schultz1 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Alderperson Doran moved, seconded by Alderperson Hartzheim, that the 

Resolution be amended to: 

Council directs staff to find offsetting costs in the 2025 budget to remove the 

wheel tax beginning January 2025.

Roll Call. Motion failed by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson Patti Heffernan, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim and 

Alderperson Chad Doran

3 - 

Nay: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson 

Brad Firkus, Alderperson Martyn Smith, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Patrick Hayden, Alderperson 

Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson Kristin Alfheim and 

Alderperson Christopher Croatt

11 - 

Absent: Alderperson Nate Wolff1 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Alderperson Fenton moved, seconded by Alderperson Wolff, that the 

Resolution be approved as amended. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following 

vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson 

Brad Firkus, Alderperson Martyn Smith, Alderperson Denise Fenton, 

Alderperson Patti Heffernan, Alderperson Alex Schultz and Alderperson 

Nate Wolff

8 - 

Nay: Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, Alderperson Patrick Hayden, Alderperson 

Vaya Jones, Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, 

Alderperson Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

7 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Page 16City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24286
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f698a87c-45ba-48fb-baee-9e265244465a.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=8147f9eb-b749-4637-915f-6c788b97968c.pdf


June 19, 2024Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

ORDINANCESO.

24-0807 Ordinances #92-24 to #95-24 (Responsible Bidder Policy)

Ordinances to Council 6-19-24.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Hartzheim moved, seconded by Alderperson Van Zeeland, that the 

Ordinances be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson 

Brad Firkus, Alderperson Martyn Smith, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Patrick Hayden, Alderperson 

Patti Heffernan, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, 

Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri 

Hartzheim, Alderperson Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

LICENSE APPLICATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS REFERRED TO 

COMMITTEES OF JURISDICTION
P.

RESOLUTIONS SUBMITTED BY ALDERPERSONS REFERRED TO 

COMMITTEES OF JURISDICTION
Q.

OTHER COUNCIL BUSINESSR.

ADJOURNS.

Alderperson Siebers moved, seconded by Alderperson Van Zeeland, that the 

meeting be adjourned at 9:31 p.m. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following 

vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson 

Brad Firkus, Alderperson Martyn Smith, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Patrick Hayden, Alderperson 

Patti Heffernan, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, 

Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri 

Hartzheim, Alderperson Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Kami Lynch, City Clerk

Page 17City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24508
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=d910727c-3721-473c-a49c-7791f8e62677.pdf










NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
#5-24 

RE: Proposed Zone Change 
 

A public hearing will be held in the Council Chambers, City Hall, Appleton, Wisconsin, on 
Wednesday, July 17, 2024, at 7:00 P.M., or as soon thereafter as can be heard, to consider the 
following proposed zone change: 

 
Rezoning #5-24: A rezoning request has been initiated by Terry Adams, owner, and David 
Hebert of Hebert Associates, Inc., applicant, in the matter of amending Chapter 23 (Zoning 
Ordinance) of the Municipal Code of the City of Appleton for the below-described real estate, 
which is currently zoned R-1B Single-Family District.  The owner and applicant propose to 
rezone the property to R-1C Central City Residential District.  The R-1C district is intended to 
provide for the conservation and revitalization of residential areas located in the oldest parts of 
the City characterized predominately by single-family, detached dwellings on small sized lots of 
record while protecting residential neighborhoods from the intrusion of incompatible non-
residential uses. 
 
Legal Description:  
Parcel 31-1-1926-00: North 60 feet of Lot 5 and Lot 7 of Ullman's Addition, City of Appleton, 
Outagamie County, Wisconsin, including to the center line of the adjacent public right-of-way.   
Parcel 31-1-1927-00: South 60 feet of Lot 5 and Lot 7 of Ullman's Addition, City of Appleton, 
Outagamie County, Wisconsin, including to the center line of the adjacent public right-of-way.   
 
KAMI LYNCH 
City Clerk 
 
June 13, 2024 
 
RUN: June 18, 2024 
 June 25, 2024 
 



 

Resolution #7-R-24 
Resolution to Rescind No Mow May Ordinance Language 

 

Date: Wednesday June 5th, 2024  

Submitted By: Alderperson Christopher Croatt – District 14, Alderperson Hayden – District 7 

Referred To: Municipal Services Committee 

 

RESOLUTION SUMMARY 

A resolution to act on discontinuing the No Mow May program in the City of Appleton. The full 
resolution specifies action on rescinding the ordinance language directly related to the No Mow 
May program as it relates to tall grass and weeds which is found in Section 12-58 of the City Code 
and restore that section to the form it was in prior to April 6th, 2022.  
 

FULL RESOLUTION  

Whereas the No Mow May initiative was made a permanent part of the city’s ordinances in 2022, 
largely based on the data provided in a study looking at the quantity of bees and other pollinators 
found in mowed vs. non-mowed lawns, and;  

Whereas the study to support the new program was presented in 2022 to the Common Council as 
proof that non-mowed lawns in fact did show higher levels of bee richness and abundance, leading 
to the program being permanently adopted by Appleton and later by numerous other municipalities 
around Wisconsin, and;  

Whereas in November of 2022 the study was retracted by the authors of the paper as well as the 
publisher of the journal in which it appeared, and;  

Whereas the editor of the journal noted the findings of the study are “unreliable and could impact 
the results”, and;  

Whereas the retraction guidelines for the journal note that a paper should be retracted if the 
findings are unreliable, or the result of fabrication or falsification, and;  

Whereas as the basis for adoption of No Mow May, the science behind the study has been proven 
to be unreliable with faulty conclusions, and other apiologists who study bees have said that long 
grass provides no discernible benefit for bees and other pollinators, and;  

Whereas other Wisconsin communities such as neighboring Fox Crossing have rescinded their No 
Mow May initiative based on a recommendation from a sustainability committee, and;  

Whereas a UW-Madison Professor Emeritus recently attended a Village Board meeting in 
Waunakee and stated, “My take on it (No Mow May) is that it is well intentioned, but it’s probably 



having little impact”, he also stated typical vegetation in a midwestern lawn is not necessarily 
beneficial for pollinators and suggested other, better options exist, and;  

Whereas there are negative impacts of No Mow May on our neighborhoods for those that choose 
not to participate in it, there is some research that shows mowing actions immediately after No 
Mow May can have a negative impact on other insect populations, there is some research and 
opinion that excessively tall grass and weeds increases the likelihood of rodent/pest populations in 
our urban neighborhoods, and;  

Whereas there is an impact to the City of Appleton Inspections Division. This impact is directly 
related to addressing non-compliance post No Mow May through increased workload in June of 
every year.  

Whereas this resolution shall not be construed as a lack of support for helping pollinators. 
Pollinators are important and there are many other ways residents can contribute to helping 
pollinators and increase the livelihood and abundance of the bee population inside Appleton. The 
past couple of years shows many that participated in No Mow May are not taking any other 
significant actions to help the bee population, now;  

Therefore, Be It Resolved that based on a lack of scientific evidence to support the No Mow May 
program and based on other Wisconsin communities’ recent actions rescinding their ordinances 
related to it, the City of Appleton Common Council hereby takes formal action to remove the 
language in the current code and rescinds the No Mow May program for 2025. This includes making 
it more permanent by working with the City Attorney’s Office to repeal Ordinance 26-22 adopted on 
April 6, 2022, and restore Section 12-58 to its form prior to that date in order to enforce the city’s 
long grass ordinance during the entire growing season, including the month of May. 



 

MEMORANDUM  

Date:  June 6, 2024 
To:  Municipal Services Committee 
From: Kara Homan, AICP, Director of Community Development 

Kurt Craanen, Inspections Supervisor 
Subject: Comparative Data, Pre and Post “No Mow May” Weed Complaints 
 

 

At the request of Chair Fenton, we have prepared data related to Weed Complaints 
logged by the Inspections Division, pre- and post- implementation of “No Mow May,” as 
illustrated in Table 1, below. 

 

Table 1. City of Appleton | Average Weed Complaints, 2014-2019 and 2020-2023; 
and Annual Weed Complaints 2020-2023 

          

   Pre - "No Mow May" Post - "No Mow May"          
   Average Weed Complaints Average Weed Complaints Actual Weed Complaints  
   2014-2019 Average 2020 - 2023 Average 2020 2021 2022 2023  
  January 0.0 0.0 0 0 0 0  
  February 0.0 0.0 0 0 0 0  
  March 0.0 0.0 0 0 0 0  
  April 0.0 0.0 0 0 0 0  
  May 69.2 0.0 0 0 0 0  
  June 85.2 116.3 106 93 115 151  
  July 58.2 61.0 56 75 55 58  
  August 44.3 44.5 34 47 61 36  
  September 38.0 28.0 21 47 18 26  
  October 14.5 11.0 14 15 11 4  
  November 3.0 2.8 1 6 3 1  
  December 0.0 0.0 0 0 0 0  
          

Source: City of Appleton, iSeries Database 



















No Mow May Resolution Substitute 
 

Whereas the No-Mow-May initiative was made a permanent part of the city’s ordinances in 

2022, based on the data provided in a study looking at the quantity of bees and other 
pollinators found in mowed vs. non-mowed lawns, and; 

 

Whereas the initially challenged data in the study presented in 2022 to the Common Council as 

evidence that non-mowed lawns showed higher levels of bee diversity and abundance, 
specifically the accuracy of visual species identification, was subsequently rectified and 

bolstered with follow-up research that lead to the program being permanently adopted by 

Appleton and hundreds of other municipalities in Wisconsin and around the United States who 

followed Appleton's lead, and; 
 

Whereas the No-Mow-May initiative has had a significant and lasting impact upon the 

communities it has been adopted in leading to, among other things; lowered frequencies of 
mowing, reduced greenhouse gas emissions from 2-cycle mower engines, reduced use of non- 
organic and harmful chemical pesticides, reduced organic matter and chemical fertilizer uptake 

into watersheds from surface runoff, increases in insect populations supporting a move stable 

and resilient urban wildlife food web, increases in song bird and raptor populations, 
proliferation of early flowering non-grass species, and significant engagement with citizens who 

are more cognizant of the impacts lawn management practices have on their own lawn micro- 
environments, and 

 

Whereas many of the communities which adopted the simple “No-Mow” model of allowing turf 
grasses to grow unattended until the implied target date of June 1st for enforcement are 

increasingly challenged with an earlier growing season and many participating homeowners 

committed to reaching that target date, resulting in grass lengths far exceeding the intended 

beneficial turf heights and duration of the natural lawn “awakening” period which leads to 

necessary stressing of managed lawns, increased use of pesticide controls, and potentially 

problematic increases in populations of unwanted pests and noxious weeds in our urban 

neighborhoods, and; 
 

Whereas many communities across the United States are now pivoting toward, or fully 

adopting, a “Slow-Mow” model, extending the narrative to include the entire growing season. 
 
 

Whereas the authors of the original resolution recognize that continued refinement of the No 

Mow May ordinance is part of evolving the best practices in pollinator conservation, and 

continued climatic environmental change is expected to impact growing season length and 
 

Whereas, best practices in pollinator conservation require a balanced approach that satisfies 

environmental needs with community aesthetic needs; 



Be It Resolved that the City of Appleton Common Council remove the adopted language from 

2022 from municipal code which allowed for weed ordinance to be suspended and 

unenforceable during the month of May, and 
 

Be It Further Resolved, the Council direct staff to amend Section 12-58 of the city’s long grass 

ordinance by increasing the acceptable lawn height to 12”10”* for both residential and 

commercial lawns for the entire growing season, including the month of May. 
 
*Amended at committee from twelve (12) inches to ten (10) inches. 





 













From: Peter Neuberger <Peter.Neuberger@Appleton.org>  
Sent: Monday, June 17, 2024 3:28 PM 
To: Denise Fenton <District6@Appleton.org> 
Subject: Municipal Services Committee Held Item - Occupancy Permit Lil Taco Tables & 
Chairs 

Good Afternoon Alder Fenton, 

This email is provided to you and to the other Municipal Services Committee members in 
response to discussion at the 06-10-2024 MSC meeting concerning the street occupancy 
permit application for tables and chairs at Lil Taco, 106 South State Street, for the remainder of 
the 2024 calendar year. 

During deliberations, committee members offered the following line of comments and questions 
needing further investigation by staff: 

• The use of picnic tables as proposed does not seem conducive to the owner removing 
the tables from the right-of-way after normal business hours. Might the after-hours 
presence of such tables at this location contribute to behaviors of concern to APD? The 
committee would like to hear from APD on this.

• Is it appropriate to consider placing limitations on the time of day/night during which 
tables and chair may be operated within the right-of-way? Is it appropriate to consider 
the portability of tables and chairs for purposes of their ability to be removed from the 
right-of-way during certain hours?

DPW offers the following information for the members’ consideration per the above topics. 

Applicable Code Language 
The permit application falls under the Sidewalk Cafés section of the municipal code, Secs 
9-256 to 9-265, attached for reference.

Noteworthy sections regarding the above topics: 

• 9-257 Requires that sidewalk cafés obtain a Street Occupancy Permit from DPW.
• 9-261 and 9-262 Restrictions on Use of Permit and Conduct of Business Generally. DPW 

did not identify any time-of-day-related restrictions specified by code, other than those 
associated with serving of alcohol per 9-262(b).

• 9-262(a)(6) states the following requirement, “A minimum width of twelve (12) feet 
between the back of curb and the building face must exist; with a minimum of eight (8) 
feet available for pedestrian traffic”. DPW has confirmed the necessary clearance is 
available.

• 9-262(c) states, “The Chief of Police or designee may close a sidewalk café at any time 
the health, safety, welfare, or good order of the City is threatened.”

mailto:Peter.Neuberger@Appleton.org
mailto:District6@Appleton.org


Appleton Police Department 

DPW consulted with Police Chief [Olson] on the above topics. Chief [Olson] indicated based on 
practical experience that if behaviors of concern were to occur within the proposed sidewalk 
café, such behaviors would likely occur during operational hours of the establishment, not after 
close. Therefore, a theoretical requirement that tables and chairs be removed from the right-of-
way after business hours is unlikely to significantly impact behaviors of concern, positively or 
negatively. Chief [Olson] further added that if the permit is granted, the Police Department would 
monitor this situation closely and would bring any concerns to the committee’s attention. 

Sidewalk Café History at this Location 

Under previous management and under the name Mr. Taco, this location first received an 
occupancy permit for tables and chairs in 2016. On March 1, 2017, Common Council approved 
a street occupancy permit application for tables and chairs at this location. After 2017, Mr. Taco 
renewed their permit with DPW annually through 2021. After 2021, it appears the site began 
operating under new management using the name Lil Taco. DPW received no occupancy 
permit applications for tables and chairs after 2021, until receiving the permit application under 
current consideration, although it appears operation of the sidewalk café area continued 
uninterrupted since 2021. 

DPW Administration of Other Sidewalk Café Permits 

DPW currently administers numerous sidewalk café occupancy permits. DPW’s research did 
not identify instances of a permit for which DPW had placed a time-of-day restriction on the 
placement of tables and chairs, although some permittees appear to voluntarily remove tables 
and chairs at certain times and days. 

Thank you and please let me know if I can be of further assistance regarding this application. 

Pete 

Peter J. Neuberger 
Deputy Director of  Public Works / City Engineer 
City of Appleton, Department of Public Works 
100 N. Appleton St. Fl 5, Appleton, WI 54911-4702 
O: 920-832-6485 | peter.neuberger@appleton.org 
Facebook | Appleton.org 

mailto:peter.neuberger@appleton.org
https://www.facebook.com/AppletonDPW
https://www.appleton.org/home


Rev. 05-2024

General 
e r n
ea n

 Street Address:
- or-

(Department use only)
upan y ype  Sub-Type Location
er anen   r n  
e rar   r n  

en nn al  
lan e nn al   
l  ar  

n n  

er

n

r n  er

  n a ner

 Certificate of Insurance Bond

Other : 

Traffic Control Requirements N/A

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

PERMIT TO OCCUPY    
THE     

PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY

er    

e e a e  

ra n a e  

n e n a le ee

a  e  r n

n a  ra  n   ne  a  r r  
an  lane l re  r  ne  a  r r  a ll r a  l re  

nal e re en

 This permit approval is subject to the following conditions:

Address:

Company:

ma l

Date:

Telephone:

Applicant Information

Arterial/CBD

Collector

Local 

Additional Requirements 
Plan/Sketch

Applicant Signature:

Other (attach plan)

APPROVED BY: DATE:
(Department of Public Works)

l le ree  

Name (print):

Proposed Traffic Control:

 Approved by: 

er ee  re n le  a n an  r er er  a  a  e re re  a  ar    an
er ee all a ere  an  lan  a  ere e   e   le n a  ar    a l a n

 er   e     an r an e  a    n n   e er  are n  e  
 er   e      n a ra le ra  n n  e el  r n  e er  e an   er e

Dumpsters Ds onta ners s all e lo ate  t n  o  a e o  ur  

Occupancy Information

Type of Street:

City Manual Page(s) 

Date:

State Manual Page(s) 

This permit is issued to the applicant upon payment of the permit fee and is expressly limited to the location and type described herein.  The applicant, in exchange for receiving this 
permit, warranties that all street occupancies will be performed in conformity to City ordinances, standards and policies, be properly barricaded and lighted, and be performed in a safe 
manner.  By applying for and accepting this permit, the applicant assumes full liability and/or any costs incurred by the City for corrective work required to bring the subject area into 
compliance with said ordinances, standards, policies and permit conditions. No occupancy shall occur prior to approval of this permit by the Department of Public Works.  

The Grantee shall guarantee at their expense, the repair or replacement of pavement, sidewalk and any other facilities within the public right-of-way damaged or destroyed by the Grantee 
or any sub-contractor working for them.  The Grantee shall assume complete and full liability and responsibility, in accordance with existing ordinances and policies, in the event of injury 
or damage to persons or property resulting from their facilities within the public right-of-way.

Date(s) From: To:  a  r  a  r 
         e re  ee an  n l r al

an  ar  

a les a r
e al

erra e

a a

e al r a a  r n re e e     r   

Committee and Council Approval

Date:

Tom Klister Rise Apartments LLC
229 E Washington St 920-284-9094

tklister@foreinvestmentgroup.com
6/12/2024

113 W Harris St

✔

✔

✔

Front door swings out onto public ROW (Sidewalk)  since the property is zero lot line. 
Having an outswing door will be more safe in case of fire or other reason for rapid evacuation.

$40.00
yes/157554362



Dear Pete Neuberger and Dan Meisner,  
 
This le5er is to provide our word as a statement of good faith that we will work with the City to 
execute an OperaBons and Maintenance agreement with the City of Appleton in perpetuity for 
us as the owner to maintain the concrete stoops and the common joint between the stoops and 
adjacent City sidewalk per City standards.  
 
 
Tom Klister 
Member 
 
 





Insurance Coverage:

Insurance Carrier: ___________________________________________________________

Insurance Agent Name and Phone Number: ______________________________________

Policy Number: _____________________________________________________________

Policy Period: ______________________________________________________________

* Bond Carrier: ______________________________________________________________

* Bond Agent Name and Phone Number: ________________________________________

* Bond Number: ____________________________________________________________

* Bond Period: _____________________________________________________________

I confirm that I have the authority to sign and certify the information contained herein as the permittee/licensee
or duly authorized representative of the entity obtaining this permit/license.

I have reviewed and understand the insurance and bonding requirements of the City of Appleton. I hereby certify
that I, or the company I represent have insurance and a bond in the amounts required to obtain this permit/
license. I have named the City of Appleton as an additional insured for purposes of this permit/license and have
provided the name of my insurance and bond carriers, the policy numbers and policy periods above.

Further, I agree to maintain appropriate insurance coverage for the duration of this permit/license and to
indemnify against any and all liability, loss, damage and expenses and costs including attorneys� fees arising out
of the activities performed as described herein, caused in whole or in part by any negligent act or omission of the
applicant, anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them, which may arise from the use of city right of
way or property under this permit or license.

I certify that this application, and all information and documentation provided therein, is true and accurate.

Company Name:__________________________________

Print Name: ______________________________________

Signature: _______________________________________

Date: ___________________________________________

* Bonds are required for the following types of work only:

Plumbing in the public right of way: $5,000.00 Permit Bond (Code Section 4 265)

Demolition of Buildings: $5,000.00 Permit Bond (Code Section 4 188(a)(2))

Sewer lateral sealing in the public right of way: $5,000.00 Permit Bond (Code Section 4 188(c))

Moving of Buildings: $5,000.00 Permit Bond (Code Section 4 207(5))

Cement Finisher�s License: $5,000.00 License Bond (Municipal Code Section 9 33)

Excavation or place facilities in the public right of way: $5,000.00 Permit Bond (Code Section 16 110)

Bond Coverage:



From: support@pointandpay.com
To: tklister@foreinvestmentgroup.com
Subject: Your Receipt
Date: Wednesday, June 12, 2024 9:28:08 PM

Greetings,

The City of Appleton thanks you for your payment.  For questions about your account, please call 920-832-6474

Your payment ID is: 157554362

Items Paid For:

Description: Street Occupancy
 Amount Paid: $40.00
 PermitDescription: Permanent - $40
 Project Address: 113 W Harris St
Customer Information:

 First Name: Thomas
 Last Name: Klister
 Address Line 1: 229 E Washington St
 Address Line 2:
 City: Appleton
 State: Wisconsin
 Zip Code: 54911
 Phone Number: 9202849094
 Email Address: tklister@foreinvestmentgroup.com

Payment Information:

 Subtotal: $40.00
 Fee Total: $1.50
 Total: $41.50
 Datetime: 06/12/2024 21:28:01

mailto:support@pointandpay.com
mailto:tklister@foreinvestmentgroup.com










bhechimo
Cloud

bhechimo
Callout
This closure to be removed and full open approximately July 15th

bhechimo
Cloud

bhechimo
Callout
This closure to be removed by 8.1.24 additional work beyond 8.1.24 if needed to be coordinated and completed under Findorff occupancy permit

bhechimo
Cloud

bhechimo
Callout
This closure to be closed until 8.15.24  During mile of music adjustments to fencing and work hours will be adjusted.





  
From: Jennifer Stephany <jennifer@appletondowntown.org>  
Sent: Monday, June 17, 2024 11:19 AM 
To: Brad Hechimovich <Brad.Hechimovich@boldt.com> 
Cc: Cole Alsbach <cole@darkhorsedevelopmentllc.com> 
Subject: Re: Fox Commons Sidewalk Closure and work Beyond July 1 
  
  
We greatly appreciate the communication and cooperation. We support the extension and 
will continue to work with Dark Horse and the Boldt team to coordinate our power needs 
for July 19th Light the Night Market and Farm Market each Saturday.  
  
Thank you for your partnership.  
  

Jennifer Stephany  

Pronouns: she, her, hers 

Executive Director 

Appleton Downtown Inc. 

920.954.9112 

appletondowntown.org 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

mailto:jennifer@appletondowntown.org
mailto:Brad.Hechimovich@boldt.com
mailto:cole@darkhorsedevelopmentllc.com
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fappletondowntown.org&c=E,1,VCiLDxQhAIE8z6yhzyVbIZJF_fM9n6NWSAg--7gOylMD0V-pb7gBOV4Hosh7GTgQ-FBBnTia9uEaZ6ZZgEHPUIbmjB-8eoVVS3ZseD8N&typo=1&ancr_add=1


From: Ethan Buechel <ebuechel@findorff.com>  
Sent: Friday, June 14, 2024 2:02 PM 
To: Brad Hechimovich <Brad.Hechimovich@boldt.com>; Peter Neuberger 
<Peter.Neuberger@Appleton.org>; Michael Hardy <Michael.Hardy@Appleton.org>; Joe 
Grueneberg <jgrueneberg@findorff.com> 
Cc: Chuck Yohanek <Chuck.Yohanek@boldt.com>; Collin Krueger <Collin.Krueger@boldt.com>; 
traffic.engineering@appleton.org; Matt Femal <mfemal@findorff.com>; Mackenzie Beck 
<mbeck@findorff.com>; Michael Hoier <mhoier@findorff.com> 
Subject: RE: Fox Commons Sidewalk Closure and work Beyond July 1 
 
Brad –  
  
Findorff agrees to the plan you have discussed with the City. The following are the only two 
comments I have: 
  

• As we get closer to ceasing use of the 2nd floor overhead doors, can you please 
confirm that Boldt will be able to get the bedroom watertight in a timely manner?  

• When will the concrete be installed for access to the freight elevator?  
  
Thank you and enjoy your weekend,  
  
Ethan Buechel 
Assistant Project Manager 
  
FINDORFF 
Building & Beyond 
226890 Harrier Ave | Wausau, Wisconsin 54401 
Direct: 715.803.2226 | Cell: 715.323.3337 | Main: 715.803.2222 
findorff.com  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=http%3a%2f%2fwww.findorff.com%2f&c=E,1,o-s4dUFtZH_8Pj_js6HWK_lwM0U7kUf3XgujEK4QMreacYJ4nsydMJH9Ey7OuT9t-rKRyTulv2es6Dh4CM5SjaEUCSOwvPsrmQtF-qOVkfM,&typo=1


Revised Schedule – Boldt College Ave Temp Occupancy Permit Extension 
 

• The existing setup will remain thru July 15th . 
o Findorff continues their operation exclusively from the back side. 

• July 15th - East of Oneida Street intersection will open completely.   Jersey barrier removed, 
meter bags removed, sidewalk fully open. 

o Findorff continues their operation exclusively from the back side. 
• August 1st – West of Oneida Street intersection will open completely.   Jersey barrier 

removed, meter bags removed, sidewalk fully open.    
o Part of sidewalk at the old mall entrance north of the Oneida Street intersection will 

remain closed.    There is still ample walkable space to get around this (like today). 
 Work on in this area will cease late morning during Mile of Music event days, 

the fencing will be pulled back to create more sidewalk space.    
o Findorff begins the Monday thru Wednesday operation as part of their permanent 

occupancy permit.    
• August 15th – Last of Boldt’s sidewalk obstruction is removed.     

  
Brad will contact ADI to update them on all this for Farmers Marking and other events. Plan to be 
implemented sporadically to remove jersey barrier/fencing and support construction operations of 
the old mall entrance area (permitted weekdays prior to 2PM, except during Mile of Music event 
days).    
  
 
 



CITY ATTORNEY’S OFFICE 
100 North Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI 54911  
p: 920.832.6423 
f: 920.832.5962 

www.appleton.org 
 
 
TO:  Safety and Licensing Committee, Common Council  
 
From:  ACA Zak Buruin 
 
Date:  6/21/24 
 
RE:  Corner Pub, Alcohol Beverage Abandonment and Non-Renewal 
 
 
Wisconsin Statutes §125.12(3) and (2)(ag) authorize an issuing municipality to refuse to 
renew an alcohol beverage license where the licensee has violated a local regulation 
adopted under §125.10.  Appleton Code §9-52 is such a regulation.  
 
Appleton Code §9-52(9) provides that abandonment of an alcohol beverage license 
shall be sufficient grounds for revocation or non-renewal of such license.  It defines 
“abandonment” as “continuing refusal or failure of the licensee to use the license for the 
purpose for which the license was granted by the city council for a period of one (1) 
year.”    The Common Council may extend such period if good cause is shown.   
 
On May 30, 2023, the Appleton Health Department conducted an inspection of the 
Corner Pub, an alcohol beverage licensed establishment located at 1123 N. Mason 
Street in Appleton.  The inspection was prompted by a broken water pipe in the rental 
unit above the bar, resulting in significant damage to the licensed premises.  The 
inspection report noted several significant areas of concern and several city 
departments that would need to approve of the repairs and conditions of the bar before 
it would be able to reopen.    
 
On July 28, 2023, license holder Kim Williams was notified of the situation via a letter 
from Clerk Lynch.  The letter advised Ms. Williams that if her business was not 
reopened by May 30, 2024, would result in grounds for her alcohol beverage license(s) 
to be revoked or not renewed.  It advised that the letter was intended to provide her 
ample notice of the potential loss of her alcohol beverage license and to remedy the 
situation by reopening the business.   
 
On May 30, 2024, the given deadline to reopen, the Appleton Health Department 
conducted an inspection to determine if the premises was compliant with requirements 
to reopen.  The inspection report noted that the bar area was not complete, and the 
business did not look as though it was ready to open.  It was further noted that multiple 
city departments were unable to confirm that the establishment was able to resume 

http://www.appleton.org/


operation.  The Health, Fire, and Inspections departments had not been able to approve 
the condition of the premises due to necessary additional work.  The establishment 
could not reopen.   
 
The following day, Clerk Lynch provided written notice to Ms. Williams of the intent to 
not renew her alcohol beverage license(s) based upon abandonment.  The letter 
provided her with the required opportunity to be heard on the issue of the non-renewal 
of her alcohol beverage license at the meeting of the Safety and Licensing Committee 
of the Appleton Common Council on June 26 at 5:30 PM, The same letter advised her 
of the option to withdraw the renewal application and have the associated license fee 
refunded.   
 
Based upon the above, the alcohol license in question is considered “abandoned” and is 
therefore subject to revocation or non-renewal under Appleton Code §9-52(9).   
 





____________________________________________________ 
 

   

____________________________________________________ 
 

 
  
July 28, 2023 
 
Kim Williams 
200 E Harding Drive 
Appleton, WI 54915 
 
 
Re: Abandonment/Non-Use of Alcohol License  
 
 
Appleton Municipal Code Section 9-52 (9) states that an alcohol license may be revoked or non-renewed for 
failure to use the license for the purpose in which it was granted for a period of 1 (one) year.  As of May 30, 
2023 your establishment with the trade name, Corner Pub, located at 1123 N Mason St. has remained closed to 
the public, and your Class “B” Fermented Malt Beverage & “Class B” Liquor License have not been used.  
Failure to open your business and use your alcohol license for the intended purpose of a bar/tavern by May 30, 
2024 may be grounds for license revocation or non-renewal.  This letter is to provide you ample notice of 
potential non-renewal or revocation should the business not be operational by the time specified.   
 
If you have any questions regarding this matter, please do not hesitate to contact me at the number listed above. 
 
Respectfully, 
 

 
 
Kami Lynch  
City Clerk  
 

LEGAL & ADMINISTRATIVE 
SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

Office of the City Clerk 
Kami Lynch, Clerk 
100 North Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI  54911 
Phone: 920/832-6443 

  
 



 
APPLETON HEALTH DEPARTMENT
100 N Appleton Street
Appleton WI 54911
Phone: 920-832-6429
Fax: 920-832-5853
Website: www.appleton.org

 
No image found with name: PublicHealth_COA_small.jpg. Image files needed to

be generated.

Appleton restaurant inspection reports are
posted on the health department website

 
 

Retail Food Establishment Inspection Report
 
Establishment Information  
Facility Name

CORNER PUB
Facility Type

Retail Food - Serving Meals
Facility ID #

HSAT-7QWT54
Facility Telephone #

920 073-1097
Facility Address

1123 N MASON ST
APPLETON , WI 54914
Licensee Name

KIM-RICK WILLIAMS
Licensee Address

1123 N MASON ST
APPLETON , WI
54914

 

Inspection Information  
Inspection Type

Routine
Inspection Date

May 30, 2023
Total Time Spent

 
 

Equipment Temperatures  
Description Temperature (Fahrenheit)

walkin beer cooler
pizza freezer    
Warewashing Info      
Machine Name Sanitization Method Thermo Label PPM Sanitizer Name Sanitizer Type

manual bleach
 

OPERATOR - The violations in operating procedure or physical arrangement indicated below must be corrected by
the next routine inspection or by a date specified in this report.
 

Comments:
Water pipe broke in rental over bar.  Ceiling down to rafters, walls have stud exposed.  Can lighting hanging down.  Bar needs to
be essentially put back together and have all departments sign off prior to reopening.  Fire, HVAC, Building, Plumbing, Electrical
and Health will all need to come through and inspection prior to opening  back up for business.
 
Re attach the faucet on the 4 compartment sink.  (Faucet is onsite)
 
Report will be mailed to 200 E. Harding Drive 54915 

 

Any operator aggrieved by an order of this department under this chapter may request a hearing as provided in ch.227
statute, if state licensed, or a local ordinance if licensed by an agent health department.
 

Person in Charge

 
 

Rick Williams 

Sanitarian

 
 

Michelle Roberts
(920) 832-6429

 

Page 1 of 1CORNER PUB (Inspection Date: 05/30/2023)



 
APPLETON HEALTH DEPARTMENT
100 N Appleton Street
Appleton WI 54911
Phone: 920-832-6429
Fax: 920-832-5853
Website: www.appleton.org

 
No image found with name: PublicHealth_COA_small.jpg. Image files needed to

be generated.

Appleton restaurant inspection reports are
posted on the health department website

 
 

Retail Food Establishment Inspection Report
 
Establishment Information  
Facility Name

CORNER PUB
Facility Type

Retail Food - Serving Meals
Facility ID #

HSAT-7QWT54
Facility Telephone #

920 730-1097
Facility Address

1123 N MASON ST
APPLETON , WI 54914
Licensee Name

KIM-RICK WILLIAMS
Licensee Address

200 E HARDING DR
APPLETON , WI
54915

 

Inspection Information  
Inspection Type

Routine
Inspection Date

May 30, 2024
Total Time Spent

 
 

Equipment Temperatures  
Description Temperature (Fahrenheit)

walkin beer cooler
pizza freezer    
Warewashing Info      
Machine Name Sanitization Method Thermo Label PPM Sanitizer Name Sanitizer Type

manual bleach
 

OPERATOR - The violations in operating procedure or physical arrangement indicated below must be corrected by
the next routine inspection or by a date specified in this report.
 

Comments:
Hold from Fire, Electrical, HVAC.  Building and Plumbing not onsite to recheck.  Inspections will create a CSR with all the
notes.  No storage under stairs.
 
4 compartment sink installed. Bar still not completed and looking ready to open.   Bar can not be reopened at this time.  Final
approvals needed from Fire, Electrical, HVAC, Plumbing and Building.  Also Health needs to come back and bar should look
like it is ready to open.
 
Report emailed to crystal.k.denton@gmail.com  

 

Any operator aggrieved by an order of this department under this chapter may request a hearing as provided in ch.227
statute, if state licensed, or a local ordinance if licensed by an agent health department.
 

Person in Charge

 
 

KIm Williams

Sanitarian

 
 

Michelle Roberts
(920) 832-6429

 

Page 1 of 1CORNER PUB (Inspection Date: 05/30/2024)















 

MEMORANDUM  

Date:  7/10/24 
To:  Safety and Licensing Committee  
From:  Kurt W. Craanen, Inspection Supervisor   
Subject: 1123 N. Mason St, - Corner Pub 
 

 

On May 30, 2024, an inspection was conducted at the owner’s request at the Corner Pub, 
1123 N. Mason St. This type of scheduled inspection, involving staff from the Health, 
Community Dev. and Fire Department staff, is common. 

The condition of the property on May 30,2024, was such that it was not a habitable building. 
Inspections staff noted multiple life safety violations. The owner was instructed to hire licensed 
contractors to correct the code violations.  

On June 6, 2024, an electrical permit was issued to Alan’s Electric to correct electrical 
violations.  

An inspection was scheduled for July 8, 2024. Staff from Community Dev., Health and Fire 
conducted inspections.  Staff found multiple violations still existing at the property.  These 
violations include: 

• The ceiling has openings and gaps in several places that need to be properly sealed with 
gypsum board and fire caulk. 

• Areas of walls and at door opening, have exposed wood studs.  
• HVAC vent openings at wall lack grilles. 
• Partitions in men’s restroom lack support.  
• No grab bars at toilets in restrooms.  
• The gas furnace must be enclosed with a 2-hour rated ceiling and surrounding walls. 
• Door to furnace room must be 1 ½ hour rated with a closer. 

 

Based on the condition of the property and the multiple violations that still exist, staff does not 
support the renewal of the liquor license.  

 

c:  Zak Buruin  









Page 1 of 1 

 

 

 

                                 POLICE DEPARTMENT 

 
                                                                                                   222 South Walnut Street  Appleton, WI  54911-5899 

“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.”               (920) 832-5500    Fax  (920) 832-5553 

                                                 http//www.appleton.org/police 

 

                                    

TO:  Alderperson Croatt – Chairperson Safety & Licensing Committee  

 

FROM:  Chief Polly Olson  

 

DATE:  July 10th, 2024 

 

RE:  Sole Source Memo for TimeClock Plus, LLC Contract – Action Item 

 

The Police Department is requesting approval of a five-year contract with TimeClock 

Plus, LLC, (TCP) which is the Aladtec Scheduling Program currently used by the 

Appleton Police Department.   

 

In 2016, the Department began using the Aladtec Scheduling Software as it provided a 

streamline process for managing schedules and was accessible online by all staff. In 

October 2021, TCP acquired Aladtec Scheduling Software and continues to service our 

account. With increasing annual rates at 10% we began to research other options for 

scheduling software.  

 

In the research process, our Scheduling Team explored other software to determine: 1) if 

there was a similar product at a reduced cost, 2) if there were other scheduling features 

that we should consider, and 3) if other police agencies were using the software. Our 

research included meeting with other agencies to view their scheduling software, meeting 

virtually with vendors, and reviewing products on our own. Unfortunately, there is an 

“Hourly Editor” feature in Aladtec that has not been replicated by other software 

products. The feature provides flexibility and ease of use when changing, adding, and 

deleting schedules and is used daily by staff. 

 

In 2024, TCP offered a five-year contract (2025-2029) at a reduced annual increase of 

4%, 3%, 2%, 2%, 1% respectively. With TCP contract proposal we will be guaranteed no 

price changes for five years. We are asking the Safety & Licensing Committee to approve 

this five-year contract as a sole source provider.   

 

 



billing@tcpsoftware.com         +1 (325) 223-9500          www.tcpsoftware.com
Page 1 of 2

CLIENT INFORMATION

Purc ha se d  fo r :  App l e t on  Po l  i  c  e  Depa r t m e n t
B  i  l  l  T o :  Ap p l e  t  on  Po l  i  c  e  Depa r t m en t

B  i  l l  i ng  Add re s s : 222  S .  Wa lnu t  S t . ,  App l e ton ,  WI   54911  / 
b i  l  l  T

B  i  l l  i n g  C on t  a  c  t  Na m e  :  /  Su e  Ann  Tee r r /  / 

B  i  l l  i n g  C on t  a  c  t  E m a  i  l  :  / sueann . t e e r@app le ton .o rg i  l  l  /

B  i  l  l  i n g  C on t  a  c  t  Ph one  :  /  920 -832 -5530

Sh i pp i ng  Me  t  hod :  N /  A

C on t r a c t  C on t a c t  Na m e :  C h i e f  Po l l y  O l son

C on t r a c t  C on t a c t  E m a i l :  po l l y . o l son@ a pp l e t on .o rg

Suppo r t  C on t a c t  Na m e : / s c Na m e /

Suppo r t  C on t a c t  E m a i l : / s c E m a i l /

Suppo r t  C on t a c t  Phone : / s c Phone /

S t a r t  da y  o f  we e k :  / s t a r t Da y /

BILLING TERMS

INITIAL TERM RENEWAL TERM PAYMENT TERM PAYMENT METHOD

60  MONT HS 60  MONT HS NE T  45  C HE C K

ITEM DESCRIPTION PRICE PER UNIT QUANTITY CHARGE TYPE ORDER TOTAL
*AL ADT E C  SUB SC R IPT ION -

ANNUAL $76 .86 160 R E C UR R ING $12 ,297 .60

SUB T OT AL $12 ,297 .60

T AXE S $0 .00

GR AND T OT AL $12 ,297 .60
Q U O T E  E X P I R A T I O N  D A T E  :  0 9 / 0 1 / 2 0 2 4

C UR R E NC Y USD

SPE C IAL  T E R MS:  YR 1 |$76 .86 |160 |$12 ,297 .60
YR 2 |$79 .16 |160 |$12 ,665 .60
YR 3 |$80 .74 |160 |$12 ,918 .40
YR 4 |$82 .35 |160 |$13 ,176 .00
YR 5 |$83 .17 |160 |$13 ,307 .20

AB CDE F G H IJK L M NO P Q RST UVWXYZ T IM E CL O CK  P L US,  
L L C

1  T IM E CL O CK  DRIVE
SAN ANG E L O ,  T X 76904

 Q UO T E  #  :  Q032584 

CO NT RACT  ST ART  DAT E  :  01/01/2025 



billing@tcpsoftware.com         +1 (325) 223-9500          www.tcpsoftware.com
Page 2 of 2

SERVICE TERMS & CONDITIONS

TimeClock Plus, LLC ("TCP"), a Delaware limited liability company, will provide Client and its authorized Employees and Users access to the 
Services during the Initial Service Term in accordance with the complete terms and conditions (collectively the "Licensing Agreement") found at: 
https://www.tcpsoftware.com/legal 

TCP reserves the right to modify the Licensing Agreement at TCP’s sole discretion provided that changes shall not materially decrease the Services 
features and functionalities that Client has subscribed to during the then-current term.  Should TCP make any modifications to the Licensing 
Agreement, TCP will post the amended terms on the applicable URL link and will update the "Last Updated Date" within such documents to notify 
Client of said changes.

This Order Form is entered into as of the Contract Start Date contained herein (the "Effective Date") by and between TimeClock Plus, LLC and the 
entity named in the Bill To section herein (the "Client"), and is subject to the Licensing Agreement. In the event of any conflict between the Order 
Form and the Terms and Conditions (as applicable), the terms of the Order Form shall control.

Client shall pay all fees or charges in accordance with those outlined on the Order Form. Except for cases of TCP breach, all fees are committed and 
non-cancelable during the term of the agreement.

The individuals executing this Agreement on behalf of each Party represent and warrant to the other Party that they are fully authorized and 
legally capable of executing this Agreement on behalf of such Party and that such execution is binding upon such Party.

Accepted by:

Client TimeClock Plus, LLC

By: By:

Name:

/clientSignature/

Name:

/tcpSignature/

Title:

/clientName/

Title:

/tcpName/

/clientTitle/ /tcpTitle/











lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil





lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil





lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil





lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil

lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil

lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil

lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil

lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil

lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil

lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil

lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



2024-2025 RENEWALS 

 

CLASS “A” FERMENTED MALT BEVERAGE & “CLASS A” LIQUOR LICENSE 

 

NAME    TRADE NAME   ADDRESS 

 

Appleton Liquor LLC   Appleton Liquor    2727 N Meade St 

Heidi Guta, Agent, 1325 E Overland Rd, Appleton WI 54911 

 

Swami LLC    Northland Amoco   800 E Northland Ave 

Kanu B. Patel, Agent, 420 W Northland Ave, Appleton WI 54911 

 

BSS Corporation   Richmond Mobil   3401 N Richmond St 

Buddi S. Subedi, Agent, 3045 Winnipeg St, Menasha WI 54952 

 

CLASS “B” FERMENTED MALT BEVERAGE & “CLASS B” LIQUOR LICENSE  

 

NAME    TRADE NAME   ADDRESS 

 

Santino LLC    Houdini’s Escape   1216 S Oneida St 

Katelyn E. James, Agent, 200 E James St, Appleton WI 54915 

 

Fox Valley Rentals & Investments LLC M.T. Pockets   2906 E Newberry St 

Brian M. Tomaszewski, Agent, 1459 Mera Ln, Kaukauna WI 54130 

 

Harvath LLC    The Wishing Well   2709 E Newberry St 

Terrill J. Harvath, Agent, 3997 N Trailway Ln, Appleton WI 54913 

 

Gregg Vandinter   Union Jacks    812 S Olde Oneida St 

Gregg Vandinter, Sole Proprietor, W6227 Wisconsin Ave, Greenville WI 54942 

 

 

June 19, 2024 

 

KAMI LYNCH 

CITY CLERK 

 
 



2024-2025 Late Cigarette/Tobacco/Electronic Vaping Device Renewals 

TRADE NAME BUSINESS NAME ADDRESS 
APPLETON HILTON DRIFTWOOD SPECIAL 

SERVICING, LLC 
333 W COLLEGE AVE 

WALGREENS #02921 WALGREEN CO. 1901 S ONEIDA ST 
WALGREENS #05102 WALGREEN CO. 700 W COLLEGE AVE 
WALGREENS #07323 WALGREEN CO. 3330 E CALUMET ST 
WALGREENS #12019 WALGREEN CO. 2803 M MEADE ST 
WALGREENS #12693 WALGREEN CO.  729 W NORTHLAND AVE 

 



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil

lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil

lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil





lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil











lindsay.reuer
Pencil

lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil

lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil

lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil

lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil

lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil

lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil

lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil









lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



lindsay.reuer
Pencil



 

MEMORANDUM  

Date:   June 12, 2024  
To:   Plan Commission  
From:  Lindsey Smith, Principal Planner 
Subject:  Rezoning #5-24 – 1313 E. Amelia Street & 1319 N. Owaissa Street 
 
 
GENERAL INFORMATION 

Owner/Applicant:  Terry Adams, owner and David Hebert of Hebert Associates, Inc., applicant 
 
Address/Parcel Number:  1313 E. Amelia Street (Tax Id #31-1-1926-00) & 1319 N. Owaissa Street 
(Tax Id #31-1-1927-00) 
 
Petitioner’s Request:  The applicant proposes to rezone the subject parcel from R-1B Single-
Family Residential District to R-1C Central City Residential District.  The rezoning will establish 
legally conforming parcels to facilitate a lot line adjustment between the subject parcels. 
 
Plan Commission Informal Hearing Meeting Date:  June 12, 2024 
 
Common Council Public Hearing Meeting Date:  July 17, 2024 
 

 
BACKGROUND 

1916 - Ullman’s Addition Subdivision Plat  

1930 - Residential House Built at 1319 N. Owaissa Street 

1952 - Residential House Built at 1313 E. Amelia Street 

 
STAFF ANALYSIS  

Project Summary:  The owner/applicant is proposing a lot line adjustment for the subject parcels 
he owns. The existing parcels are less than the minimum lot area for R-1B zoning district. Rezoning 
the lots to R-1C will create legal conforming parcels of record and allow for a lot line adjustment of 
approximately 880 square feet.  
 
Existing Site Conditions:  The subject parcels are each approximately 5,760 square feet in size 
and contains a single-family home used for residential use. The minimum lot area for R-1B zoning 
district is 6,000 square feet.    
 
Surrounding Zoning and Land Use:  The surrounding area is under the jurisdiction of the City of 
Appleton (north, south, east, and west).  The uses are generally residential and commercial in 
nature. 
 



2 
 

 
North: R-1B Single Family Residential District.   The adjacent land uses to the north are currently 

residential.  
 
South: C-2 General Commercial District.  The adjacent land uses to the south are currently 

institutional.  
 
East: R-1B Single-Family Residential District and C-2 General Commercial District.  The 

adjacent land uses to the east are currently residential and commercial.   
 
West: R-1B Single-Family Residential District.  The adjacent land uses to the west are currently 

residential. 
 
Appleton Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030:  Community Development staff has reviewed this 
proposal and determined it is compatible with the goals and objectives found in the City’s 
Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030.  Listed below are related excerpts from the City’s Comprehensive 
Plan 2010-2030. 
 
Goal 1 – Community Growth 
Appleton will continue to provide opportunities for residential, commercial, and industrial growth, 
including appropriate redevelopment sites within the downtown and existing neighborhoods, and 
greenfield development sites at the City's edge. 
 
Goal 3 – Housing Quality, Variety, and Affordability 
Appleton will provide a variety of rental and ownership housing choices in a range of prices 
affordable to community residents, and ensure that existing housing is adequately maintained in 
terms of physical quality and market viability. 
 
OBJECTIVE 5.3 Housing and Neighborhoods: 
Provide a range of housing options that meet the needs and appeal to all segments of the 
community and allows residents to age in place. 
 
OBJECTIVE 10.5 Land Use: 
Support the continued redevelopment and revitalization of land uses adjacent to Appleton’s key 
transportation corridors and downtown. 
 
Proposed Zoning Classification:  The R-1C Central City Residential District is intended to provide 
for the conservation and revitalization of residential areas located in the oldest parts of the City 
characterized predominately by single-family, detached dwellings on small sized lots of record while 
protecting residential neighborhoods from the intrusion of incompatible non-residential uses. Per 
Section 23-94(g) of the Municipal Code, the development standards for the R-1C District are listed 
below: 
 
(1) Minimum lot area: 

a. Four thousand (4,000) square feet for single-family detached dwellings. 
b. Six thousand (6,000) square feet for all other uses. 

(2) Maximum lot coverage. Seventy-five percent (75%). 
(3) Minimum lot width. 

a. Forty (40) feet for single-family detached dwellings. 
b. Fifty (50) feet for all other uses. 

(4) Minimum front yard. 
a. Ten (10) feet. 
b. Twenty (20) feet on an arterial street. 

(5) Minimum rear yard. Twenty-five (25) feet. 
 



3 
 

(6) Minimum side yard. 
a. Five (5) feet for single-family dwellings. 
b. Six (6) feet for all other uses. 

(7) Maximum building height. Thirty-five (35) feet. 
 
Standards for Zoning Map Amendments:  Per Section 23-65(d)(3) of the Municipal Code, all 
recommendations for Official Zoning Map amendments shall be consistent with the adopted plans, 
goals, and policies of the City and with the intent of the Zoning Ordinance.  It would appear the 
criteria established has been satisfied.  Related excerpts are listed below. 
 

a. Prior to making a recommendation on a proposed rezoning, the Plan Commission shall 
make a finding to determine if the following conditions exist.  No rezoning of land shall be 
approved prior to finding at least one of the following: 

 
1. The request for a zone change is in conformance with the Comprehensive Plan for the 

City of Appleton.  The rezoning request is in conformance with the Comprehensive Plan 
2010-2030 goals and objectives stated above and the Future Land Use Map, which 
identifies this area with a future one- and two-family residential designation. 

 
2. A study submitted by the applicant that indicates that there has been an increase in the 

demand for land in the requested zoning district, and as a result, the supply of land 
within the City mapped as such on the Official Zoning Map is inadequate to meet the 
demands for such development.   

 
3. Proposed amendments cannot be accommodated by sites already zoned in the City due 

to lack of transportation, utilities or other development constraints, or the market to be 
served by the proposed use cannot be effectively served by the location of the existing 
zoning district(s). 

 
4. There is an error in the code text or zoning map as enacted. 

 
b. In addition to the findings required to be made by subsection (a), findings shall be made by 

the Plan Commission on each of the following matters based on the evidence presented: 
 

1. The adequacy of public facilities such as transportation, utilities and other required public 
services to serve the proposed site.  The subject area is served by existing 
infrastructure, and the transportation network should be able to accommodate the 
proposed rezoning.   

 
2. The effect of the proposed rezoning on surrounding uses. Parcels that are less than 

6,000 square feet with single-family residential uses are already located in this area of 
the City.  Therefore, the proposed rezoning request is unlikely to create adverse impacts 
for the surrounding uses. 

 
Technical Review Group (TRG) Report:  This item appeared on the May 21, 2024 TRG agenda.  
No negative comments were received from participating departments. 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends, based upon the standards for zoning map amendments as required by Section 
23-65(d)(3) of the Zoning Ordinance, that Rezoning #5-24 to rezone the subject properties at 1313 
E. Amelia Street (Tax Id #31-1-1926-00) and 1319 N. Owaissa Street (Tax Id #31-1-1927-00) from 
R-1B Single-Family Residential District to R-1C Central City Residential District, including to the 
centerline of existing adjacent streets, as shown on the attached maps, BE APPROVED. 







Parcel 31-1-1926-00 

 

North 60 feet of Lot 5 and Lot 7 of Ullman's Addition, City of Appleton, Outagamie County, Wisconsin, including to 

the center line of the adjacent public right-of-way.   

  

 

Parcel 31-1-1927-00 

 

South 60 feet of Lot 5 and Lot 7 of Ullman's Addition, City of Appleton, Outagamie County, Wisconsin, including to 

the center line of the adjacent public right-of-way.   

  

 

 



 

MEMORANDUM  

Date:   July 10, 2024  
To:   Plan Commission  
From:  Don Harp, Principal Planner 
Subject:  Final Plat – Lumbini Estates 
 
 
GENERAL INFORMATION 

Owner/Applicant:  Saket, LLC, 3206 South Tahoe Lane, Owner / Martenson & Eisele, Inc., c/o 
Jack Richeson, Applicant 
 
Parcel Number:  31-9-4161-00  
 
Petitioner’s Request:  The owner/applicant is proposing to subdivide the property into 27 single-
family lots. 
 
Plan Commission Meeting Date:  July 10, 2024 
 
Common Council Meeting Date:  July 17, 2024 
 

 
BACKGROUND 

The subject property was annexed to the City of Appleton through the Jonen Family Trust 
Annexation in 1985.  The R-1A zoning classification has remained on this property since the time 
of annexation. 
 
The proposed street design for Lumbini Estates subdivision was approved by the Municipal 
Services Committee on March 25, 2024 and by the Common Council on April 3, 2024.    
 
The Preliminary Plat was approved by the Plan Commission on April 10, 2024 and by the Common 
Council on April 17, 2024.  
 

 
STAFF ANALYSIS  

Existing/Proposed Conditions:  The subject area is currently undeveloped.  Lumbini Estates 
consists of 12.859 acres and will be divided into 27 single-family lots.   
 
Comparison Between Final Plat and Preliminary Plat:  The Final Plat is consistent with the 
Preliminary Plat layout in terms of the shape, size, and location of the lots and streets.  As a result, 
the Final Plat is entitled to approval with respect to layout per §236.11(1)(b) of the Wisconsin State 
Statutes.  
 
 



2 
 

 
Zoning Ordinance Review Criteria:  R-1A Single-Family Residential District lot development 
standards (Section 23-93) are as follows: 
 

• Minimum lot area:  Eight thousand (8,000) square feet. 
 

o The proposed typical single-family lot size within this development is approximately 
16,000 square feet.  

 
• Minimum lot width:  Seventy (70) feet. Lot width is measured between the side lot lines 

measured along front lot line. 
 

o All proposed single-family lots comply with this minimum requirement.  
 

• Minimum front, side and rear yard setbacks:  Twenty (20) foot front yard when abutting a 
local and collector street, Twenty (25) foot front yard when abutting on an arterial street, Six 
(6) foot side yard, and Twenty-five (25) foot rear yard.  
 

o Required building/structure setbacks will be reviewed through the building permit 
review process. 

 
• Maximum building height:  Thirty-five (35) feet. 

 
o This will be reviewed through the building permit review process. 

 
• Maximum lot coverage.  Forty percent (40%). 

 
o This will be reviewed through the building permit review process. 

 
Compliance with the Appleton Municipal Code Regulations:   
 
On April 17, 2024, the Common Council granted relief at the Preliminary Plat approval stage to 
allow Lots 6, 7, 10, 11, 12 and 15 be designed as double frontage lots.  

 
This subdivision complies with all other applicable Appleton Subdivision Regulations. 
 
Review and Decision by Plan Commission:  The Plan Commission shall, within 30 days of the 
date of the filing of Final Plat with the City Clerk, recommend approval, conditional approval or 
denial of the plat to the Common Council, unless time is extended by agreement in writing between 
the City and Owner. 
 
Review and Decision by Common Council:  The Common Council shall, after receipt of the Plan 
Commission recommendation and within 60 days of the date of the filing of Final Plat with the City 
Clerk, approve, approve with conditions or deny the plat, unless time is extended by agreement in 
writing between the City and Owner. 
 
Access, Traffic & Street Design:   
 
The new proposed streets within the subdivision are dedicated to the City with this Final Plat. 
 
A permit from the Calumet County Highway Department for the access connection from proposed 
Saket Street to Midway Road (C.T.H. AP) has been approved by the Calumet County Highway 
Department.  The City has no plans to require sidewalks or trails along this section of Midway Road 
(C.T.H. AP).  Design changes to urbanize Midway Road (C.T.H. AP), would be initiated by the 
Calumet County Highway Department.   



3 
 

 
Street Names and Prefixes:  The proposed street names and prefixes appear to satisfy Section 
16-36 of the Municipal Code and Street Name Policy. 
 
Surrounding Zoning and Land Uses: 
 

North:  City of Appleton, R-3 Multi-family – Multi-family residential uses 
 South: City of Appleton, R-1A Single-family – Single-family residential uses and 

undeveloped land. Village of Harrison Zoning, Multi-family residential uses and 
15-acre neighborhood park “Rennwood Park” 

 East:   City of Appleton Zoning, R-1A Single-family – Single-family residential uses 
 West:    City of Appleton Zoning, R-3 Multi-family – Undeveloped land 
 
2010-2030 Comprehensive Plan:  Community Development staff has reviewed this proposed 
subdivision and determined it is consistent with the One and Two-Family Residential use shown on 
the City’s 2010-2030 Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map.  
 
Overall Community Goals 
 
Goal 1 – Community Growth (Chapter 10) 

Appleton will continue to provide opportunities for residential, commercial, and 

industrial growth, including appropriate redevelopment sites within the 

downtown and existing neighborhoods, and greenfield development sites at the 

City's edge.  

Goal 3 – Housing Quality, Variety, and Affordability (Chapter 5) 

Appleton will provide a variety of rental and ownership housing choices in a 

range of prices affordable to community residents and ensure that existing 

housing is adequately maintained in terms of physical quality and market 

viability. 

5.1 OBJECTIVE: Continue efforts to ensure an adequate supply of housing affordable to all income 

levels in the community. 

5.3 OBJECTIVE: Provide a range of housing options that meet the needs and appeal to all 
segments of the community and allows residents to age in place. 
 
College North Neighborhood Plan – Chapter 4: Market Study 2020-2030: The average annual 
housing need is about 301 units per the market study this proposed single-family development will 
help to meet the demand for housing in Appleton as specified in the market study. 
 
6.3 OBJECTIVE: Create an environment that is safe and conducive to walking and bicycling 
throughout the entire City. 
 
6.3.2 Maintain existing sidewalks and implement plans to install new sidewalks in targeted areas 

where they do not exist. Continue the City’s policies to require sidewalks in new neighborhoods.  

7.1 OBJECTIVE: Provide a pattern of development that minimizes impacts to municipal services 

and utilities. 

7.1.1 Prioritize development and redevelopment that minimizes the need for additional public and 

private infrastructure such as water storage facilities and sewage lift stations. 

10.1 OBJCTIVE: Provide an adequate supply of suitable land meeting the demand for development 

of various land uses. 



4 
 

 

10.4 OBJECTIVE: Plan for compact, efficient, and fiscally responsible growth of residential, 

commercial, and industrial development in new neighborhoods in order to implement the principles 

of smart growth. 

10.4.1 Continue to guide residential growth to locations either contiguous to or within presently 

urbanized areas. As peripheral development occurs, it should be at a compact, urban 

density to ensure new neighborhoods can be efficiently served by public infrastructure. 

18.1.1 Continue park land and trail dedication, or fee-in-lieu-of land dedication requirements for all 

new residential development.  

 
Dedication of Public Parks and/or Trails or Payment Fee in Lieu Thereof:  The Appleton 
Subdivision Regulations require parkland dedication or fee in lieu thereof for residential 
subdivisions.  Parkland dedication is not required for this development per the Deputy Director of 
Parks and Recreation.  As a result, the City will collect a park fee in the amount of $1,100.00 per 
lot from the landowner upon the issuance of a building permit pursuant to Section 17-29(f) of the 
Municipal Code. 
 

• Park Fee Amount: 27 Lots X $1,100.00 = $29,700 
 
 
Plat Review Team (PRT) & Technical Review Group (TRG) Report:  This item appeared on the 
following internal staff meeting agendas: 
 
June 4, 2024 – PRT Agenda 
June 18, 2024 – PRT Agenda    
 
Comments pertaining to stormwater management, drainage, erosion control, utilities, street design, 
parkland dedication, plat layout and other technical requirements have been received from 
participating departments and captured in the stipulations found below. Technical Engineering Plan 
Review and Final Plat comments have been submitted to the applicant by a separate email by staff.  
Note: The Stormwater Plans continue to be reviewed. 
 

 
FUTURE ACTIONS 
 
The existing street sign for existing short segment of East Vail Lane will be replaced with South Vail 
Lane by City staff. 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION 

The Final Plat for Lumbini Estates, BE APPROVED subject to the following conditions and as 
shown on the attached maps: 

 
1. The Final Plat technical comments provided by the Plat Review Team sent by email on June 

25, 2024 shall be addressed on the Final Plat prior to City signatures being affixed to the 
Final Plat. 
 
 
 
 



5 
 

 
 

 
2. City signatures shall not be affixed to the Final Plat until objecting authorities (Department 

of Administration and Calumet County Planning and Zoning Committee) review and notify 
the City that they do not object to the Final Plat. 
 

3. The applicant shall submit a revised Drainage Plan, Engineering Plans for sanitary sewer, 
water main, storm sewer, street and laterals satisfying the comments made by the 
Department of Public Works, Engineering Division pursuant to the email on June 21, 2024 
prior to City signatures being affixed to the Final Plat.  
 

4. All requirements from the City of Appleton Department of Public Works, Engineering 
Division shall be met to the satisfaction of the City Engineer prior to the City affixing 
signatures on the Final Plat. 

 
5. The Final Plat shall be recorded within 12 months from the approval date of the last 

approving authority and within 36 months from the approval date of the first approving 
authority.  Failure to do so requires the subdivider to recommence the entire procedure for 
Final Plat approval. 

 
6. A Development Agreement is required between the City and owner/developer that identifies 

the duties and responsibilities with respect to development of the subject land. The applicant 
and owner, Community Development Director, and City Engineer shall discuss the 
preparation and process of this agreement. City signatures will not be affixed to the Final 
Plat until the Development Agreement is executed by the owner/developer. 

 

 
 











 

MEMORANDUM  

Date:   06/24/2024 
To:  Finance Committee  
From:  Pete Neuberger, Deputy Director of Public Works 
Subject: Request to Approve 2025 Special Assessment Policy 

 

The Department of Public Works (DPW) recommends adoption of the revised Special Assessment 
Policy for 2025 (strike-and-bold version attached).  

The following changes are proposed for 2025: 

 Increase 4-inch and 6-inch Sanitary Lateral Rate from $52 per lineal foot to $55 per lineal foot 
to reflect bid price increases. 

 

 Thank you for your consideration. 

 



1 
 

CITY OF APPLETON, WI  
POLICY FOR SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS 2025 

     
I. STREET CONSTRUCTION AND RECONSTRUCTION                   ADOPTED 7/17/24  

A. General Information 

New
Rural to 
Urban 

Conversion
New

Rural to 
Urban 

Conversion
New

Rural to 
Urban 

Conversion
Max. Width 33' 33' 33' 33' 49' 49'

Max. Thickness 7" 7" 7" 7" 9" 9"
Assessed at (%) 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Multiple Frontage 
Reduction Yes* Yes* Yes* Yes* None None

Base Assessment Rate

( Y=Assessed     N=Not Assessed )

Construction Items
Administrative Fees (6%)
Property Owner Notification
Concrete Pavement
Curb & Gutter (Integral)
Sawcutting
Fine Grading
Seed & Mulch/Sod
Terrace Restoration
Concrete Driveway Apron
Trees
Miscellaneous Asphalt
Asphalt - Milling
Curb & Gutter (miscellaneous)
Geotextile Fabric
Stone Base
Unclassified Excavation
Erosion Control
Adjust MH/Inlet Tops
Asphalt - Miscellaneous
Asphalt Transitions
Curb Thimbles
Drill-in Tie Bars/Dowels
Driveway Closure
Inlet Leads
Maintenance Hole / Inlet Reconstruction
Maintenance Hole/Inlet Castings
MH Chimney Seals
Pavement Marking
PVC Pipe for sump pumps
Reinforcing Rods
Removal - Asphalt
Removal - C&G
Removal - Concrete
Removal - DW Aprons (Conc. & Asp.)
Removal - Sidewalk
Repair work from permits
Repair work from Utility Permits
Traffic Signals
* See Calculation Guidelines ** Residential Use Properties to be Assessed as R-2

CONCRETE 
PAVEMENT  

New Concrete Rural to Urban 
Conversion

Y
Y

Y

Y

Direct Assessments  
( in addition to Base 

Rate )

R-1 Zoning R-2 Zoning All Other Zoning**

Calculated on an individual street basis using actual bid prices

Y -

-
-

Y
Y

    N  *

Y
Y
Y
Y

Y

Y
N
N
N

Y

Y

Y
Y

Y

Y

N

N
N
N
N

N
N

N
N
N

N
N

N
N
N

N
N
N
N

-

N

N
N
N
N

N
N

-

$1.50/front foot
-

-

N
N
N
N
N

N

N

N
N

N
N

Per bid price

N
N

N
N

-

-
-
-
-

N

N

-

-
-
-
-

-

-

-

-
-

-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-

-

N

N
N N

-

N

N
N N -

-

-
N N -

 



2 
 

After     
G&G

Rural to Urban 
Conversion

After     
G&G

Rural to Urban 
Conversion

After           
G&G

Rural to Urban 
Conversion

Max. Width 33' 33' 33' 33' 49' 49'

Max. Thickness 3" 3" 3" 3" 6" 6"

Assessed at (%) 25% 0% 25% 0% 25% 0%

Multiple Frontage  
Reduction Yes* Yes* Yes* Yes* None None

Base Assessment Rate

( Y=Assessed     N=Not Assessed )

Construction Items
Administrative Fees (6%) N -
Property Owner Notification N -
Asphalt Pavement N -
Milling N -
Sawcutting N -
Curb & Gutter (New/repair) N -
Fine Grading N -
Seed & Mulch/Sod N -
Terrace Restoration N -
Concrete Driveway Apron     N  * per bid price
Asphalt (miscellaneous) N -
Geotextile Fabric N -
Stone Base N -
Trees N -
Unclassified Excavation N -
Erosion Control N -
Adjust MH/Inlet Tops N -
Curb Thimbles N -
Drill-in Tie Bars/Dowels N -
Driveway Closure N -
Inlet Leads N -
Maintenance Hole / Inlet Reconstruction N -
Maintenance Hole/Inlet Castings N -
MH Chimney Seals N -
Pavement Marking N -
Removal - Asphalt N -
Removal - C&G N -
Removal - Concrete N -
Removal - DW Aprons (Conc. & Asp.) N -
Removal - Sidewalk N -
Repair work from permits N -
Repair work from Utility Projects N -
Traffic Signals N -
* See Calculation Guidelines ** Residential Use Properties to be Assessed as R-2

N

All Other Zoning**

ASPHALT 
PAVEMENT  
(Not including    

New            
Subdivisions) 

Calculated on an individual street basis using actual bid prices

Y

R-1 Zoning R-2 Zoning

Y
Y
Y

N

N

N

Y
Y

N
N

N

N
N

N
N
N

N

N
N
N
N

N

N

N

N

N
N

N

N
NN

N
N

N
N

N

N

N

N
N

N

N

N
N

N

N
N

N

Y
Y

N

    N  *

Asphalt 
Reconstruct / 

Overlay

N N
N

N

N

Direct 
Assessments  

(in addition to 
Base Rate)

Asphalt following 
G&G

Rural to Urban 
Conversion

Y

N
N

Y

Y

Y

Y

 
 



3 
 

New 
Street

Rural to Urban 
Conversion

New 
Street

Rural to Urban 
Conversion

New 
Street

Rural to Urban 
Conversion

Max. Width 35' 35' 35' 35' 51' 51'

Max. Thickness - - - - - -

Assessed at (%) 100% 0% 100% 0% 100% 0%

Multiple Frontage 
Reduction Yes* Yes* Yes* Yes* None None

Base assessment Rate

( Y=Assessed     N=Not Assessed )

Construction Items

Administrative Fees (6%)
Property Owner Notification
Fine Grading
Seed & Mulch/Sod
Erosion Control
Sawcutting
Unclassified Excavation
Stone Base
Geotextile Fabric
Removal - Asphalt
Removal - C&G
Removal - Concrete
Removal - Sidewalk
Miscellaneous Asphalt
Miscellaneous Curb & Gutter
Adjust MH/Inlet Tops
Street Lighting 
Traffic Signals
* See Calculation Guidelines ** Residential Use Properties to be Assessed as R-2

-

-

-

-

-
-

-

-

-

-

-

-
-
-

-

-

-

N

N
N

Y

Y

Y

N
Y

N

N

N
N

N

N
N

N
N

N

N

N

N

N

N

N
N

Y

Y

Y
Y

Y

Y

Y
Y

Y
Y

N -

GRADING & 
GRAVELING 

(not including New 
Subdivisions)

New Street Rural to Urban 
Conversion

R-1 Zoning R-2 Zoning

Calculated on an individual street basis based upon bid prices

All Other Zoning**

Direct Assessments 
(in addition to Base 

Rate)

      B.  Calculation Guidelines – Street Construction and Reconstruction 
 
1. Assessments will be levied according to the front foot dimensions of abutting property except 

as noted. 
 

2. The assessment rate will be the portion (%) of assessable construction costs in accordance 
with the charts above.  Assessments will be reduced proportionately for pavements 
constructed less than the maximum widths. 

 
3. Public owned property, including lands under the jurisdiction of the Board of Education, 

Parks and Recreation Committee and other branches of city, churches and private schools 
and other exempt properties will be assessed 100% of the “all other zoning” assessment rate 
regardless of the zoning.  (BPW 2/2/94) All county, state and federal governments will be 
exempt from assessment charges.  (City Attorney 1/23/14) 



4 
 

                                                                   
4. The assessment rate for alley pavement will be based on the full width of the pavement. 

 
5. The City assumes the entire cost of permanent pavement for all intersections on new 

construction in areas platted prior to 1/1/04 or after 12/31/14. 
 

6. Driveway approaches shall be constructed at property owner’s expense: 
a. When permanent street surfaces are constructed. 
b. Where a street has been permanently improved, driveway approaches shall be installed 

within six months of the completion of the adjacent structure. 
c. When ordered to be installed by the Common Council. 
d. When a property owner requests approach to be widened, rebuilt or closed. 

 
7. The costs of closing unused driveway openings that are closed in conjunction with the paving 

program are not directly assessed to the property owner. 
 

Any driveway approach without improved surface shall be paved with a permanent surface in 
conjunction with a street-paving project.  The cost will be assessed to the property.   
(S&S 3/3/93 and MSC 9/3/97) 

 
8. The cost of the initial asphalt surface application on a new subdivision gravel street will be 

billed at the time of official street opening. 
 

9. All asphalt maintenance exclusive of the initial application will be done as general 
maintenance and at no cost to the abutting property. 

 
10. Assessments for asphalt pavements that are constructed without curb and gutter (City 

standard) will be calculated by dividing total project cost by assessable frontage. 
 

11. Assessments for trees will be included with paving assessments.   
 
12. If one person owns an entire block as one parcel and the block is zoned R-1 or R-2, the 

shortest side shall be assessed in full.  The remaining sides shall receive up to a 120’ 
discount. 

 
13. On paving projects where there are other contributing sources of funding such as federal, 

state, or from other units of government, the City rates will be applied.  If projected revenue 
(using the City rates) exceeds the City’s share of project costs, then assessment rates will be 
reduced proportionately so that revenue equals City share of project cost.  “City share” of 
project cost will include, in addition to normal construction costs, items such as right-of-way 
acquisition, relocation costs, consultant cost, all Department of Transportation administrative 
and review costs, and any other fees charged by the other participating units of government.  
(BPW 1/7/97) 

 
14. When the long side of a corner lot falls on the “bulb” or “mouse ear”, the assessment shall be 

calculated as follows: 
a. Determine a rate per foot by dividing the lump sum per lot charge by the actual footage 

of the long side. 
b. The first 120 feet will be charged 25% of the rate calculated in “a” above.  The balance of 

the frontage will be assessed at 100% of the rate calculated in “a” above.  (BPW 1/21/98) 
 



5 
 

15. The requesting property owner, where permitted, shall pay all additional cost for indented 
parking. 

 
16. When additional pavement width is required to accommodate on street bike lanes, the extra 

width beyond what would be required for a standard street design, will not be assessed.  
 
17. Assessments will only be levied on partial or total street reconstruction for those streets that 

do not meet current City Street or Drainage standards prior to their reconstruction.  
 

18. Calculation Guidelines: 
a. On multiple frontage lots zoned R-1 or R-2, the shortest side will be assessed at 100% of 
 the assessment rate.  On the other sides, the first 120 feet of each side will be assessed at 
 25% (R-2, 50%) of the assessment rate.  The balance of the frontage will be assessed at 
 100% of the assessment rate.  
b. On lots having multiple frontages, there will be NO assessment for the frontage to which 
 access is legally precluded or fronts on a naturally occurring access barrier such as a 
 steep incline. 
 c. On inside corner or multiple frontage lots, the side or sides precluded from access are not 
 included in the assessment frontage determination. 
d. On multiple frontage lots where all sides have equal frontage, the side to be considered 
 the short side is the “Addressed” side. 

 e. On cul-de-sac lots, the abutting property owner shall be responsible for cul-de-sac 
 pavement, overbuild costs including the straightaway portion of the affected property.  
 The assessment will be calculated using total assessable cost divided by the number of 
 properties fully or partially abutting the “bulb” according to the number of originally 
 platted lots. 
f. On “mouse ear” lots, defined as abutting lots to a widening in the road around a curve but 
 not including lots on a cul-de-sac, the front foot dimensions for assessment calculation 
 will be determined by dividing the square footage of the property by the average depth of 
 the lots in the block. 
g. For work abutting only part of a parcel’s total frontage, assessments will be calculated 

based on the partial frontage.  The balance will be assessed as work is completed along 
the remaining frontage.   

h. Definition of “addressed” side:  The street with the house number. 
i. No corner lot exception will be provided for combined properties that did not meet the 

corner lot criteria prior to their combination. 
 

19. The Wheel Tax is used only for sidewalk replacement, reconstructed asphalt and 
reconstructed concrete streets.  Not for rural to urban conversion of asphalt replacement to 
concrete pavement. 

 
20. Portions of projects funded by TIF and IPLF are not assessable.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



6 
 

II. SIDEWALKS  
 

A. General Information 
 

New Recon. New Recon. New Recon.

Max. Width 5' 5' 5' 5' 5' 5'

Max. Thickness 5" 5" 5" 5" 7" 7"

Assessed at (%) 100% 125% 100% 125% 100% 125%

Multiple Frontage Reduction Yes* Yes* Yes* Yes* None None

Base Assessment Rate 

(Y=Assessed     N  =Not Assessed)

Construction Items

Administrative Fees (6%)
Property Owner Notification
Concrete Sidewalk
Seed & Mulch (max. of 18" on each side of walk)
Terrace Restoration
Sawcutting
Fine Grading
Miscellaneous Asphalt
Stone Base

Unclassified Excavation
Erosion Control
Drill-in Tie Bars/Dowels/Rebar
Removal - Sidewalk
* See Calculation Guidelines ** Residential Use Properties to be Assessed as R-2

All Other Zoning**

Calculated  annually based upon the average bid prices for the sidewalk 
reconstruction, concrete paving reconstruction and asphalt paving 
reconstruction contracts.  

SIDEWALKS 
(Not including 

New 
subdivisions)

R-1 Zoning R-2 Zoning

Individual Rates  (if 
not included in current 

Rate above)

New and 
Reconstruction not 

meeting replacement 
criteria

Reconstruction 
meeting replacement 

criteria

-
Y N -
Y N

N -

-Y N

N N -

Y N -
Y N -
N

N N -
N N

N N -

-

N N -
N N -

Driveway Aprons - Removal and Replacement Y n/a -

N N -

  
B. Calculation Guidelines - Sidewalks 

 
1. Assessments will be levied according to the front foot dimensions of abutting property, 

except as noted. 
 
2. Sidewalks on right-of-ways 60 feet or more will be a minimum of 5 feet wide.  Sidewalks on 

right-of ways less than 60 feet will be a minimum of 4 feet. 
 

3. There will be no assessment for sidewalk that meets the replacement criteria as defined in the 
Sidewalk Maintenance Policy.  

 
4. Assessments will be levied when sidewalks not meeting replacement criteria are replaced at 

the property owner’s request. 
                   



7 
 

5. Service walks between the curb and sidewalk will be assessed to the property owner when 
installed on new subdivision streets. 

        
6. The extra expense of installing a sidewalk beyond the City’s standard width or in an unusual 

manner at the request of the owner will be charged to the abutting property owner. 
 
7. Public owned property, including lands under the jurisdiction of the Board of Education, 

Parks and Recreation Committee and other branches of city, state or county governments, 
churches and private schools and other exempt properties will be assessed 100% of the 
assessment rate regardless of the zoning. 

 
8. To figure credit for useful life (20 years) of sidewalk: credit = divide age of sidewalk by 20.  

If less than 1.0, multiply that number by the current assessment rate. 
 
9. For City contract installation, sidewalk assessments shall include a 6% administration fee. 
 
10. Calculation Guidelines: 

a. On multiple frontage lots zoned R-1 or R-2, the shortest side will be assessed at 100% of 
the assessment rate.  On the other sides, the first 120 feet of each side will be assessed at 
25% (R-2, 50%) of the assessment rate.  The balance of the frontage will be assessed at 
100% of the assessment rate. 

b. On inside corner lots where all sides have equal footage, the side to be considered the 
short side is the “Addressed” side. 

c. On lots having multiple frontages, there will be NO assessment for the frontage to which 
access is legally precluded or fronts on a naturally occurring access barrier such as a 
steep incline.   

d. On inside corner or multiple frontage lots, the side or sides precluded from access is not 
included in the assessment frontage determination. 

e. For work abutting only part of a parcel’s total frontage, assessments will be calculated 
based on the partial frontage.  The balance will be assessed as work is completed along 
the remaining frontage.   

f. Definition of “addressed” side:  The street with the house number. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



8 
 

 
III.  SANITARY SEWER 

A. General Information 
 

New Recon. New Recon. New Recon.

Max. Size (Diameter) 12" 12" 12" 12" 12" 12"
Max. Depth 16' 16' 16' 16' 16' 16'

Multiple Frontage 
Reduction Yes* N/A Yes* N/A Yes* N/A

(Y=Assessed     N  =Not Assessed)

Construction Items

Administrative Fees (6%)
Property Owner Notification
Sanitary area assessment
Sanitary Sewer Main
Sanitary Maintenance Holes
Drop Maintenance Holes
Maintenance Hole Castings

Private Lateral Televising
Lateral Connections
Pipe Bedding
Pipe Backfill Material
Terrace Restoration
Seed & Mulch
Pavement Restoration
Sawcutting
Asphalt removal
Concrete Removal
Sidewalk Removal
Erosion Control
* See Calculation Guidelines ** Residential Use Properties to be Assessed as R-2

0%/50% 33%/50% 0%/50% 33%/50%

N N -
N N -
N N -
N N -
N N -

Y N -
Y N -
N N -

-Y  N

4" and 6"=  $52 $55                  
> 6" = Actual Cost    Y

Y
Y
Y

N/A

Y  N -
Y  N

New Reconstruction

SANITARY 
SEWER      

(not including 
New 

Subdivisions)

R-1 Zoning R-2 Zoning

% Assessed 
(Main/Laterals) 

Current (33% main) Rate Actual Cost Actual 
Cost

33%/50%

N/A N/A

 - 

Y

Y
Y
Y

All Other Zoning**

Actual Cost

Individual Rates               
(if not included in 

current Rate above)

-

0%/50%

-

-
-
-

 N

 N
 N
 N

Sanitary Laterals (50% Rate)

-
-
-

Y

 N
 N
 N

N N

 
B. Calculation Guidelines – Sanitary Sewer 

 
1. Assessments will be levied according to the front foot dimensions of abutting property, 

except as noted.  The assessment rate for new sanitary sewers will be determined on the 
basis of actual construction cost up to and including 12” sanitary sewer main and 
maintenance holes.  The assessment rate for new construction in an existing area will be 
based upon the rates shown in the chart above.      

 
2. Area assessment, where applicable, will be levied in accordance with Section 18-116 of 

the Municipal Code of the City of Appleton. 



9 
 

       
3. Any lot or parcel within the corporate limits which has not paid a sanitary sewer 

assessment when the main was installed will, at the time the lateral permit is taken out, be 
required to pay a connection fee with the lateral permit fee.  Payment of a connection fee 
must be made in full prior to connecting.  The connection fee, equivalent to the front foot 
assessment and area assessment, will be based on the assessment rates the year the main 
was installed.  

 
4. When utilities are installed in a street where one side is within the corporate limits but 

remains undeveloped, assessments will be levied for the utilities that benefit the parcel.  
The area assessment for sanitary sewer is calculated using a nominal lot depth of 120 
feet.  The balance of the area assessment will be assessed when the property is developed 
and charged a connection fee in lieu of assessments. 

 
5. On sanitary relay, where existing laterals meet the sanitary lateral policy and are not re-

laid, the cost of reconnecting (including short sections of connecting pipe, usually within 
the trench area) is absorbed by the City and not assessed to the property owner. 

 
6. Calculation Guidelines (see chart for applicability): 

a. On multiple frontage lots zoned R-1 or R-2, the shortest side will be assessed at 100% 
of the assessment rate.  On the other sides, the first 120 feet for each side will be 
assessed at 0% of the assessment.  The balance of the frontage will be assessed at 
100% of the assessment rate.  

b. On multiple frontage lots where all sides have equal frontage, the side to be 
considered the short side is the “Addressed” side. 

c. Where sewer exists across an entire parcel frontage, but sewer construction only 
occurs along part of a parcel’s total frontage, assessments will be calculated based on 
the partial frontage.  The balance will be assessed as work is completed along the 
remaining frontage.  Where sewer exists along only a portion of the parcel frontage, 
the entire frontage will be assessed.   

d. Assessment for construction of sanitary sewer will be levied against all abutting 
property frontage regardless if laterals are present, provided that the property is not 
legally precluded from connecting to the sewer.  Amount of assessment will be 
calculated according to existing policy. 

e. Cost of sewer and maintenance hole construction deeper than 16 feet shall be borne 
by the city except where extra depth is required for development of adjacent property. 

f. No corner lot exception will be provided for combined properties that did not meet 
the corner lot criteria prior to their combination.   

g. For cul-de-sac lots, the assessable footage for each lot shall be the sum of frontages 
for all lots fully or partially abutting a cul-de-sac divided by the number of lots.   

h. Assessable footage for sewers constructed within easements shall be equal to the 
centerline length of easement falling within the property.  Assessments will be levied 
to only those properties with lateral connections to the easement sewer.   The 
easement length will be considered as “frontage” for purposes of calculating multiple-
frontage reductions (see 6a. above).  

i. Sanitary main reconstruction will be borne by the Wastewater Utility.  
 
 
 
 
 
 



10 
 

 
IV. SANITARY SEWER LATERALS 
  

A. General Definition 
 

1. For new development funded by the City, the total cost of lateral installation will be 
assessed to the property. 

 
2. The assessment rate for reconstruction of laterals and construction of new laterals in 

existing streets will be based upon the rates shown in the chart from Section III above.  
  

B. Calculation Guidelines 
 

1. Assessments for laterals will be based on the unit cost per foot as indicated in the chart in 
section III.A applied to the length of the lateral between the sanitary sewer and the 
property line.  The length of lateral assessed shall not exceed ½ the street right-of-way 
width. 
   

2. Assessments for laterals within cul-de-sacs will be based on the actual length of lateral 
installed, but shall not exceed the right-of-way radius for the cul-de-sac bulb.  

 
3. Assessments for laterals connected to sewers within easements will be based on actual 

length of lateral installed, but not to exceed ½ the right-of-way width of the street for 
which the property is addressed. 

   
4. Total Lateral Replacement Program Calculation Guidelines: 

a. For properties electing to participate: No assessments will be levied for the portion of 
private lateral replaced within the public right-of-way.  Property owners will be 
assessed 50% of the actual cost for lateral replacement on private property.   

b. For properties declining to participate: City will only replace the portion of lateral 
within the public right-of-way.  Property owners will be assessed 100% of the actual 
cost.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



11 
 

V. STORMWATER FACILITIES   
A. General Information 

New Recon. New Recon. New Recon.
Max. Size (Diameter) - - - - 15" 15"

Max. Depth - - - - 10' 10'

Corner Lot Reduction Yes* Yes* Yes* Yes* None None

(Y=Assessed     N  =Not Assessed)

Construction Items

Administrative Fees (6%)
Property Owner Notification

Local Water Quality Practices
Storm Sewer Main
Storm Maintenance Holes
Inlets
Inlet Leads
Drop Maintenance Holes
Maintenance Hole Castings
Storm Laterals

Lateral Connections
Pipe Bedding
Pipe Backfill Material
Terrace Restoration
Seed & Mulch
Pavement Restoration
Sawcutting
Asphalt removal
Concrete Removal
Sidewalk Removal
Erosion Control

** Residential Use Properties to be Assessed as R-2
+ See Section V.B.3.b. for exceptions

Individual Rates                     
(if not included in              

current Rate above)
-

Y Y -
Y Y

New Reconstruction

All Other Zoning**

STORM 
SEWER      

(not including 
New 

Subdivisions)

R-1 Zoning R-2 Zoning

% Assessed (Main/Laterals) 

Current Rate Actual 
Cost

Actual 
Cost Actual Cost$36.00

N -

-Y Y

 6" = $33.00
 8" = $44.00
10" = $47.00

Greater than 12" actual cost

-

N N -

Y Y -
Y Y -
N

N N -
N N -

N N -
N N -

Y

N

-

Y Y

-

-

      See rates Pg. 21

      See rates Pg. 21

-

-
-

-
-
-

 12" = $51.00

Y

Y Y

Y

N

Y

N

33%/50%0% / 0% + 0% / 0% + 0% / 0% + 0% / 0% +

$36.00 $36.00

Regional Stormwater Facilites (built prior to 1/1/02)

Regional Stormwater Facilities (built after 3/1/06)

33%/50%

Y Y

Y Y

Y Y
Y

* See Calculation Guidelines 

Regional Stormwater Facilities (built between 1/1/02 
and 3/1/06)

Y

Y Y

Y

N

N N

Y

     
 

 

 

 



12 
 

 B. Calculation Guidelines – Stormwater Facilities 
 
1. Stormwater facilities shall be installed as needed to serve properties contributing to the 

need for, and benefiting from, such facilities.  Storm main shall be installed to serve all 
properties on arterial streets prior to total reconstruction of the pavement. 

 
2. Assessable stormwater facilities under this section include storm sewer, mains and 

piping, maintenance holes, inlets and inlet leads.  Assessments shall also include 
overhead, property acquisition and financing costs attributable to the facilities.  

 
3. Assessments for storm sewer will be levied according to the front foot dimensions of 

abutting property. 
a. R-1, R-2, zoning  

The cost of (re) constructing or relining in existing streets will be borne by the 
Stormwater Utility. 

b. The cost of constructing or reconstructing storm sewers, mini-sewers or other 
drainage facilities in existing developed areas zoned R-1 and R-2 annexed after 
January 1, 1999 will be fully assessable to the abutting property owners. 

c. All Other Zoning 
The assessment rate for storm sewer (re) construction or relining in existing streets 
will be 33% of the actual construction cost, up to and including 15" storm main (not 
deeper than 10'), maintenance holes, inlets and inlet leads.  Credit will be given for 
the remaining useful life of a reconstructed or relined sewer based on current cost of 
construction.  For this purpose, the useful life of storm sewer will be 75 years. 

 
4. Assessments for new developments will be based on the actual construction costs of 

facilities required by the subdivision and charged on a per lot basis.  To calculate an 
equivalent lot cost for parkland, school properties or other atypical lots, use the average 
size of a new development lot that abuts the parkland, school property or atypical lot.  
Example, if a lot is 10,000 square feet and parkland, school property or atypical lot is 
100,000 square feet; the charge for that land would be equivalent to 10 lots. 

      
5. Any lot or parcel zoned other than R-1 or R-2, within the corporate limits which has not 

paid a storm sewer assessment when the main was installed will, at the time the lateral 
permit is taken out, be required to pay a connection fee with the lateral permit fee.  This 
will be effective the same date as the initial Special Assessment policy for storm sewers. 
The connection fee, equivalent to the front foot and area assessment, will be based on the 
assessment rates the year the main was installed. 

 
6.  Public owned property, including lands under the jurisdiction of the Board of Education, 

Parks and Recreation Committee and other branches of city, state or county governments, 
churches and private schools and other exempt properties will be assessed 100% of the 
assessment rate regardless of the zoning. 

 
7. Calculation Guidelines – (See chart for applicability): 

 a.   On multiple frontage lots zoned R-1 or R-2, the shortest side will be assessed at 100% 
  of the assessment rate.  On the other sides, the first 120 feet of each side will be    
       assessed at 0% of the assessment rate.  The balance of the frontage will be assessed at 
  100% of the assessment rate.  

b. On multiple frontage lots where all sides have equal frontage, the side to be 
considered the short side is the “Addressed” side. 



13 
 

c.   At the completion of the improvements, where sewer exists across an entire parcel 
frontage, but sewer construction only occurs along part of a parcel’s total frontage, 
assessments will be calculated based on the partial frontage.  The balance will be 
assessed as work is completed along the remaining frontage.  Where sewer exists 
along only a portion of the parcel frontage, the entire frontage will be assessed.   

d. Assessment for reconstruction or relining of storm sewer will be levied only when the 
 work affects the main to which the property is connected.  Amount of assessment will 
 be calculated according to the existing policy. 
e. No corner lot exception will be provided for combined properties that did not meet 
 the corner lot criteria prior to the combination. 
f. New Development - 100% of actual construction costs of facilities required by the 
 development plus area assessment. 
g. For cul-de-sac lots, the assessable footage for each lot shall be the sum of frontages 

for all lots fully or partially abutting a cul-de-sac divided by the number of lots.   
h. Assessable footage for sewers (re)constructed within Easements shall be equal to the 

centerline length of easement falling within the property.  Assessments will be levied 
to only those properties with lateral connections to the easement sewer.   The 
easement length will be considered as “frontage” for purposes of calculating multiple-
frontage reductions (see 7a. above). 

i. Rural to urban conversion shall be assessed as new. 
 
VI. STORM SEWER LATERALS  
   

A. General Information 
 

1. For new development funded by the City, the total cost of lateral installation will be 
assessed to the property. 

 
2. The assessment rate for reconstruction of laterals and construction of new laterals in 

existing developed streets will be 50% of the actual construction cost. 
 

3. Street Reconstruction: 
a. Prior to total reconstruction, at locations where existing storm sewers are being 

replaced or new storm sewers are being installed, storm laterals shall be installed to 
all properties that are not yet served. 

 
B. Calculation Guidelines 

 
1. Assessments for laterals will be based on the unit cost per foot as indicated in the chart in 

section V.A applied to the length of the lateral between the storm sewer and the property 
line.  The length of lateral assessed shall not exceed ½ the street right-of-way width. 

2.   Assessments for laterals within cul-de-sacs will be based on the actual length of lateral 
installed, but shall not exceed the right-of-way radius for the cul-de-sac bulb. 

3. The cost of installing new laterals to properties zoned R-1 or R-2 will be borne by the 
Stormwater Utility unless the property was annexed after January 1, 1999. 

4. Assessments for laterals connected to sewers within easements will be based on actual 
length of lateral installed, but not to exceed ½ the right-of-way width of the street for 
which the property is addressed.   

   
 
 
 



14 
 

VII. WATERMAINS AND SERVICES 
A. General Information 

New Recon. New Recon. New Recon.

Max. Size (Diameter) 8" 8" 12" 12" 16" 16"

Max. Depth - - - - - -

Assessed at (%) 100% 0%* 100% 0%* 100% 0%*

Multiple Frontage 
Reduction Yes* Yes* Yes* Yes* None None

(Y=Assessed     N  =Not Assessed)

Construction Items

* See Calculation Guidelines ** Residential Use Properties to be Assessed as R-2

Pipe Backfill Material
Terrace Restoration
Seed & Mulch
Pavement Restoration

Erosion Control

Sawcutting
Asphalt removal
Concrete Removal
Sidewalk Removal

Hydrant Leads

Pipe Bedding

1"- 1 1/4" Water Service ( Including connection)                                              
In New Street(s)

1 1/2" - 2" Water Service ( Including connection)                                    
In Existing Street(s)

1"- 1 1/4" Water Service ( Including connection)                                   
In Existing Street(s)
1 1/2" - 2" Water Service ( Including connection)                         
In New Street(s)

Administrative Fees (6%)
Property Owner Notification
Local Water Main
Transmission Main
Valves
Hydrants

Actual Cost 

Y

 N*

Y  N*

 N*Y

Y  N*

Y

-

-

Actual Cost

-
-

Y  N*
 N*  N*

Y N -
N N -
N N -
N N -
N N -

Y  N* -
Y  N* -
N N -

-Y  N*

-
- N*

Y

 N*

All Other Zoning**

WATER   
MAIN                   

(not including 
New 

Subdivisions)

R-1,R-2,R-3 Zoning C-1, C-2 Zoning

Current Rate Actual 
Cost 

Actual 
Cost 

Actual 
Cost 

Actual 
Cost Actual Cost 

Individual Rates  (if not 
included in current Rate 

above)

-
Y  N* -
Y  N*

New Reconstruction

Actual Cost

Actual Cost

Actual Cost

Y  N*

Y  N*

 
B. Calculation Guidelines – Water Mains and Services 

 
1. Assessments will be levied according to the front foot dimensions of abutting property, 

except as noted. The assessment rate will be determined on the basis of actual 
construction cost required by the city for development: 
a. R-1, R-2 and R-3 zoning. All costs to construct water main up to and including 8” 

main, hydrants and valves. 
b. C-1 and C-2 zoning. All costs to construct water main up to and including 12” main, 

hydrants and valves. 
c. Other zoning. All costs to construct water main up to and including 16” main, 

hydrants and valves.  



15 
 

d. Water main installed for transmission use shall not be assessed, except if no other 
main is available for service.  The property shall be assessed at the rate of the year the 
main was installed based on zoning at the time of connection.  

e. All costs to furnish and install hydrants, including leads and valves shall be assessed. 
f. In-kind water main reconstruction, including hydrants and leads, is not assessed. 
g. All additional costs to upgrade a water main, including additional valving due to a 

service and/or fire line, when requested, shall be borne by the property owner. 
h. New, and/or additional water main(s) installed for circulation and/or looping in a 

developed area shall not be assessed, except in case of B1.d. 
  

2. Permission to connect to the City water main prior to annexation must be obtained from 
the Common Council through the Utilities Committee. 

 
3. Any lot or parcel within the corporate limits which has not paid a water main assessment 

when the main was installed will, at the time the water lateral permit is taken out, be 
required to pay the connection fee with the lateral permit fee.  Payment of a connection 
fee must be made in full prior to connecting.  The connection fee, equivalent to the front 
foot water main assessment, will be based on the assessment rate the year the main was 
installed.  Payment for connection fees may be made in accordance with Section XI. 

 
4. New Service Installation.  The property owner or developer per Schedule Cz-1 (attached) 

shall pay all installation costs from the main through and including the curb shut-off. 
 

5. Replacement of Service.  All additional cost to upgrade a service (example, 1” copper to 
4” service line) shall be borne by the property owner or developer.  
 

6. Public owned property, including lands under the jurisdiction of the Board of Education, 
Parks and Recreation Committee and other branches of city & county governments, 
churches and private schools and other exempt properties will be assessed 100% of the C-
1, C-2 assessment rate regardless of the zoning.    

  
  7.   Calculation Guidelines (see chart for applicability): 
        a.   On multiple frontage lots zoned R-1, R-2 or R-3, the shortest side will be assessed at                                                                                                                                                                                             
          100% of the assessment rate.  On the other sides, the first 120 feet of each side will be 
        assessed at 0% of the assessment rate.  The balance of the frontage will be assessed  
        at 100% of the assessment rate.  

b.   No corner lot exception will be provided for combined properties that did not meet                                           
the corner lot criteria prior to their combination. 

c.  Where water main exists across an entire parcel frontage, but construction only 
occurs along part of a parcel’s total frontage, assessments will be calculated based on 
the partial frontage.  The balance will be assessed as work is completed along the 
remaining frontage.  Where water main exists along only a portion of the parcel 
frontage, the entire frontage will be assessed.   

d. On multiple frontage lots where all sides have equal frontage, the side to be 
considered the short side is the “Addressed” side. 

e. For cul-de-sac lots, the assessable footage for each lot shall be the sum of frontages 
for all lots fully or partially abutting a cul-de-sac divided by the number of lots.    

f. Assessable footage for water mains (re)constructed within Easements shall be equal 
to the centerline length of easement falling within the property.  Assessments will be 
levied to only those properties with service connections to the easement main.   The 
easement length will be considered as “frontage” for purposes of calculating multiple-
frontage reductions (see 7a. above). 



16 
 

g. Assessments for water services will be based on the unit cost per foot as indicated in 
the chart in section VII.A applied to the length of the service between the main and 
the property line.  The length of water service assessed shall not exceed ½ the street 
right-of-way width. 

h. Assessments for water services within cul-de-sacs will be based on the actual length 
of service installed, but shall not exceed the right-of-way radius for the cul-de-sac 
bulb. 

i. Assessments for laterals connected to watermain within easements will be based on 
actual length of lateral installed, but not to exceed ½ the right-of-way width of the 
street for which the property is addressed.   

 
 
VIII. STREET LIGHTING 
 

A. Calculation Guidelines 
 

1. Assessments for non-decorative streetlights will be levied according to the front foot 
dimensions of abutting property except as noted. 

 
2. Assessments will be levied at the time of and in conjunction with the initial street light 

installation. 
 

3. The assessment rate will be based on the actual cost of installation. 
 

4. The assessment rate for replacement of existing streetlights will be based upon the 
additional cost of enhanced features beyond standard street light requirements.   
Decorative lighting beyond these standards will be based on the additional cost to install 
equipment, along with the annual charge to power the decorative street lighting.  On-
going annual special assessments will be reviewed to determine the lighting charge based 
on current utility company approved rates. 

 
 

  B.  Assessment Exceptions: 
 a.   On multiple frontage lots zoned R-1, R-2 or R-3, the shortest side will be assessed at                                                                                            
  100% of the assessment rate.  On the other sides, the first 120 feet of each side will be 
  assessed at 0% of the assessment rate.  The balance of the frontage will be assessed at 
  100% of the assessment rate.  

b. On inside corner or multiple frontage lots, the side or sides precluded from access is 
not included in the assessment frontage. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
      



17 
 

 
IX. NEW SUBDIVISIONS 

A. General Information 

Funding Mechanisms

Development Agreement 
Required?

Assessed at (%)

Assessment Rates 

Construction Items

Platted     
Prior to 
1/1/04

Platted           
After 12/31/14

Y Y
Y Y
Y Y
Y Y
Y Y
Y Y
Y Y

Boulevard Trees Y Y
Y Y
Y Y

Sanitary Sewer D D
Sanitary Overbuild D D
Storm Sewer D D
Storm Overbuild D D
Water Main D D
Water Main Overbuild D D
Sanitary Laterals D D
Storm Laterals D D
Water Services D D
Rear-yard Drains D D

D D
Lot Grading D D
Private Utilities (Gas, Electric, Telephone, Cable TV) D D

D D
Seed & Mulch (Lot areas) D D
Street Lights D D
Erosion Control D D
* See Calculation Guidelines     
+ See Section IX.B.2 for exceptions

(Y=City Funded/Assessable  
D=Developer Financed)

(Y=City Funded/Escrow Draws  
D=Developer Financed)

Subdivisions Platted prior to 
1/1/04 or after 12/31/14

Subdivisions Platted between 1/1/04 
and 12/31/14

No Yes

Private Contracts / City Funds 
(Assessable)

Private Contracts /Standby Lines of 
Credit

100%100%

Seed & Mulch (Right-of-way)

Actual Costs Incurred. Actual Costs Incurred.

Grading & Graveling (Right-of-way)
D

Traffic Control Signs

D

Street Name Signs

City Administrative Fees (6%)
Area Assessment - Sanitary

D
D
D

D

D
D
D

D

Regional Stormwater Facilities
Sewer Televising
Temporary Asphalt Pavement
Concrete Pavement +

Sidewalks

NEW 
SUBDIVISION 

DEVELOPMENT

Y

Y

D

Y

Y

Y

Y

D

Y

D

D
D

D

D

D
D

D

 
B. Calculation Guidelines – New subdivisions 

 
1. The City does not provide funding for New Subdivisions platted between January 1, 2004 

and December 31, 2014 except as indicated in the chart above. Escrow accounts or 



18 
 

irrevocable lines of credit will be required of developers for all items administered or 
installed by the City. 
 

2.  For subdivisions platted prior to 1/1/04 or after 12/31/14, assessments for concrete 
pavement shall be levied in accordance with Section I.A. of this policy. 

 
3. Engineering fees for new subdivision developments shall be included in assessments.  

Included shall be preparation of plans and specifications, consultant fees, material testing 
fees, field survey, inspection and assessment preparation. 

 
4. Individual lots within but not part of a new development when funded by the city shall be 

assessed at the current city interest rate. 
 
 5.   Extraordinary sanitary sewer construction costs not to be assessed include pipes larger  
  than 12” and depths greater than 16’ when project funded by the city. 
 

6. Typical residential street lighting will consist of LED cut-off style fixture, mounted 30-
feet high on a wooden pole, spaced anywhere from 250 to 300 feet apart.  Decorative 
lighting beyond these standards will have on-going annual special assessments per 
development agreements. 

 
                  7.  The effective date for interest to begin accumulating on new subdivision developments 
 will be the date of invoice.  This includes all city utilities and street work. 
 
                  8.  Storm sewer area assessment for regional facilities built prior to 3-1-2006 shall be  
 based on the cost of storm sewer needed to serve the subdivision and the share of 
 downstream trunk main. 
 
X. SPECIAL CHARGES 
 

A. General definition 
 

1. Special charges shall accrue interest starting 30 days following the invoice date.  Interest 
shall accrue at the same rate as for special assessments.  (Board of Public Works, June 6, 
1990). 

 
XI. METHOD OF PAYMENT 
    

A. General Definition 
 

1. Lump sum payment to be paid at due date. 
 

2. One installment if the assessment is $1000 or less. 
 

3. Five equal annual installments if the assessment is greater than $1000. 
 

4. Deferred payments will bear an interest at the rate of prime plus 3.00% per annum on the 
unpaid balance. 

 
5. Separate current year special assessment bills may be combined to establish eligibility for 

the $1000 limit for installment payment options.  Finance Department must be notified 
prior to November 1. 

 



19 
 

 
 
XII. APPEAL PROCESS 
 

1. If the governing body decides to reconsider and reopen any assessment, the body may, 
after giving a public notice as required for the initial assessment, and after a public 
hearing, amend, cancel or confirm the prior assessment.  Any request for a change to the 
first assessment, must be made within 30 days of the passage of the original final 
resolution.  The Clerk shall publish a notice of any resolution changing the assessment, as 
was done with the original assessment. 

 
XIII. MISCELLANEOUS 
 

1. Deferred payment of special assessments is not permitted.  (See WI Statutes Chapter 74.) 
 
2. Any construction project where right-of-way acquisition would contribute to 25% or 

more of the assessment rate shall be brought to the Finance Committee for review and 
establishment of an appropriate assessment rate.  In establishing this rate, the Board will 
consider assessment rates for similar projects and any other information it considers 
relevant. 

 
XIV. REFERENCED ITEMS 
 

1/17/83 Street and Sanitation Committee #3 
The following policy concerning sump pump discharges adopted, “When streets are paved 
where storm sewer laterals exist, curb openings for sump pump discharges or surface 
drainage shall not be allowed.” 

 
7/06/83  Street and Sanitation Committee #6 

Most of this information has been put in Appendix IX Stormwater/Clear Water Discharges 
   

3/03/93  Street and Sanitation Committee #10 
Any driveway adjacent to a street paving project that is not used will be closed with curb and 
gutter and will have the terrace reseeded in conjunction with the street paving.  The cost of 
this work is to be included with the assessment for curb and gutter on the project. 
Any driveway aprons without improved surfaces shall be either paved with permanent 
surface or abandoned and closed in conjunction with a street paving project.  The cost of 
either option will be assessed to the property. 

 
2/02/94  Board of Public Works Report - This was adopted as part of the assessment policy. 

“Publicly owned property, including lands under the jurisdiction of the Board of Education, 
Park Board, Water Department and other branches of city, state or county governments, and 
churches and private schools be assessed 100% of the assessment rate. 

 
1/18/95  Board of Public Works #3 - The Board reaffirms its previous recommendation that:  

The special assessment policy for stormwater that recovers 75% of costs from new 
developers and 40% from existing benefiting owners be approved.  Existing is defined as that 
a building permit has been issued at the time of adoption of the policy by the Common 
Council. 

 
 
 



20 
 

1/17/96  Board of Public Works – This was adopted with the assessment policy. 
Sidewalks B.2 – The assessment rate for reconstruction of sidewalks will be 125% of the rate 
of new sidewalks. 

 
9/03/97 Municipal Services Committee – Amended Driveway Opening Policy “Any driveway 

adjacent to a street reconstruction project that is not used will be permanently paved or 
closed with curb and gutter and will have terrace reseeded in conjunction with the street 
work. 

 
3/03/99  Board of Public Works – “Resolved, that the repair and replacement of existing 

sidewalks in the green dot program be paid by the general fund after green dot has gone 
through the City once.  All hazardous sidewalks as defined by City criteria will be replaced at 
City cost.” 

 
5/15/13 Board of Public Works – Prime plus 3% will be the rate set for the 5-year payment 

option. 
  

     
XV.     Rates for Stormwater Detention Basins (Cost per ERU’s) 
 
SE Basin   75% of cost $173.25 
 
AAL Basin   75% of cost $430.20 
 
Meade Pond     $797.04 
 
Holland Pond    $345.78 
 
 
 
Ashbury Pond    $593.76 
 
Mud Creek South Pond  $815.00 (2002 basin rate) 
 
 
Cost for 2003 basins   $860.00  

Southpoint Commerce Park Pond North (K2a), Plank Road West 
 
Cost for 2004 basins   $915.00 

Southpoint Commerce Park Pond South (K2B) 
 
Cost for 2005 basins   $1,104.00 

Plank Road Northwest Pond 
                                                                                     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



21 
 

______________________________________________________________________________ 
     
     Sheet No. 1 of 1    
     Schedule No. Cz-1    
                      Amendment No. 64  
RATE FILE 
Public Service Commission of Wisconsin 
Appleton Water Department 
 

WATER LATERAL INSTALLATION CHARGE 
                     
Subdivision developers shall be responsible, where the main extension has been approved by the utility, 
for the water service lateral installation costs from the main through the curb stop and box. 
 
When the cost of a utility main extension is to be collected through assessment by the municipality, the 
actual average water lateral installation costs from the main through the curb stop and box shall be 
included in the assessment of the appropriate properties. 
 
The initial water service lateral(s), not installed as part of a subdivision development or an assessable 
utility extension, will be installed from the main through the curb stop and box by the utility, for which 
the actual cost will be charged. 
 
Billing:  Same as Schedule Mg-1. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 
EFFECTIVE:   December 30, 2010 
PSCW AUTHORIZATION:  190-WR-112 
          
J:\CLERICAL - ENG & INSP\Special Assessments\Special Assessment Policy 



Department of Utilities 
Wastewater Treatment Plant 
2006 East Newberry Street 

Appleton, WI 54915 
p: 920-832-5945 
f: 920-832-5949 

www.appleton.org/government/utilities 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Date: June 20, 2024 

To: Chairperson Brad Firkus and Members of the Finance Committee 

From: Chris Stempa, Utilities Director 

CC: Ryan Rice, Utilities Deputy Director 
 Kelli Rindt, Enterprise Fund Accounting Manager  

Subject: Finance Committee Action: Award “AWWTP Phase II Belt Filter Press 
Equipment Upgrades Project” Base Bid with Alternate Bid to Staab Construction 
in the amount of $4,627,000 with 4.65% contingency of $215,119 for a project 
total not to exceed $4,842,119 

 

 
BACKGROUND: 

On December 7, 2022, Common Council approved a contract for the Appleton Wastewater 
Treatment Plant (AWWTP) Phase I Belt Filter Press Equipment Upgrades Project to Staab 
Construction. Active onsite construction began the spring of 2023 and final completion is 
anticipated to be reached in August 2024.  The Phase I scope of work serves as the foundation 
of the overall project by adding the first two new belt filter presses (BFPs) along with new 
standalone motor control centers (MCCs) that Phase I and Phase II dewatering equipment will 
also rely upon, including a wholesale replacement of the HVAC system. 

Phase II construction involves the demolition of the three existing Ashbrook Simon Hartley Winkle 
presses.  These units will be replaced with two new Alfa Laval BFPs matching the two installed 
as part of Phase I.  The project will also address remnant hard wiring throughout V-Building that 
is associated with obsolete equipment and replacement of antiquated and/or degraded 
components outside the electrical hardwire systems. Phase II work will complete upgrades to 
outdated hard wire relays with PLC and HMI technology including additional Supervisory Control 
and Data Acquisition (SCADA) system capabilities.   

BIDS  

On Tuesday, June 18, 2024, bids were opened and reviewed from three contractors which are 
summarized within the attached award packet generated by McMahon. Each bid met the submittal 
requirements with Staab being the least cost responsible bidder regardless of the award scenario 
(Base Bid or Base Bid plus Alternative).  The Alternate Bid scope of work includes the demolition 
of the former lime conditioning system (includes lime silo, lime silo building, lime silo building 
ventilation fan, lime blower, piping, and electrical).  AWWTP staff desire to carry the Alternate Bid 
scope of work forward as part of an effort to remove remnant and/or unused process equipment.  
The combined contract amount with the Base Bid totals $4,627,000 which is within the total 
available budget ($4,842,119). 

 

 



Finance Committee Memo 
Phase II BFP Equipment Upgrades Project Contract Award to Staab Construction  
Page 2 of 2 

 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 

I am requesting an award of the Phase II Belt Filter Press Equipment Upgrades Project base bid 
with the Alternate Bid to Staab Construction in the amount of $4,627,000 with 4.65% contingency 
of $215,119 for a project total not to exceed $4,842,119. 

If you have any questions or require additional information regarding this project, please contact 
Chris Stempa at 920-832-5945.   

 

Encl: Bid Tab and Recommendation 



 

McMAHON ASSOCIATES, INC.   1445 McMAHON DRIVE  NEENAH, WI 54956   Mailing P.O. BOX 1025 NEENAH, WI 54957-1025 

PH 920.751.4200  FAX 920.751.4284   MCM@MCMGRP.COM  WWW.MCMGRP.COM 

 
 
 
 
June 18, 2024 
 
 
Chris Stempa 
City of Appleton Department of Utilities 
2006 Newberry Street 
Appleton, WI 54915 
 
Re: City of Appleton Department of Utilities 
 Wastewater Treatment Plant 
 Ph. II Belt Filter Press Equipment Upgrades Project 
 Letter Of Recommendation 
 McM. No. A0005-09-21-00225-B 
 
 
On June 18, 2024, bids were received online via QuestCDN.com for the above referenced project. Three 
(3) bids were received, ranging in price from $4,487,000.00 to $5,427,500.00 for the Base Bid and 
$73,726.00 to $140,000.00 for the Alternate Bid (bid tabulation enclosed). 
 
Based upon the bids received, we recommend awarding Contract A0005-09-21-00225-B, which includes 
the Base Bid and Alternate Bid, to the low bidder, Staab Construction Corporation, in the amount of 
$4,627,000.00.  
 
If you agree with our recommendation, please date and sign the enclosed Notices of Award, and return 
all copies to our office for incorporation into the contract documents. 
 
If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me. 
 
Respectfully,  
 
McMahon Associates, Inc. 

 
Chad T. Olsen, P.E., BCEES 
Vice President / Water & Wastewater Project Manager 
 
Enclosures: Notice of Awards (3 copies each) 
  Bid Tabulation 
 



PROJECTS \ A0005 \ 092100225 \ CONSTR \ CONTRACT \ PH. 2 \ N-AWARD 00 51 00.00 - 1 

SECTION 00 51 00.00 
 

NOTICE OF AWARD 
 
 
Dated:        
 
To:  STAAB CONSTRUCTION CORPORATION 
  1800 Laemle Avenue 
  Marshfield, WI 54449 
 
Contract No. A0005-09-21-00225-B 
 
Project:  WASTEWATER TREATMENT PLANT  
  PHASE II BELT FILTER PRESS EQUIPMENT UPGRADES PROJECT 
  For The 
  CITY OF APPLETON DEPARTMENT OF UTILITIES  
  Calumet, Outagamie & Winnebago Counties, WI  
   

 
You are notified that your Bid, dated June 18, 2024, for the above Contract has been considered.  You are 
the apparent successful Bidder and have been awarded a Contract for the Phase II Belt Filter Press 
Equipment Upgrades Project for the City of Appleton Department of Utilities, Calumet, Outagamie, & 
Winnebago Counties, Wisconsin. 
 
The Contract Price of your Contract is Four Million Six Hundred Twenty Seven Thousand and no/100 
Dollars ($4,627,000.00). This amount combines the Base Bid and Alternate Bid. 
 
You must comply with the following conditions precedent within 15-days of the date of this Notice of 
Award, that is by    . 
 
1. You must deliver to the OWNER three (3) fully executed counterparts of the Agreement including 

all the Contract Documents.  
2. You must deliver with the executed Agreement the Contract Security (bonds), as specified in the 

Instructions to Bidders, General Conditions (Paragraph 6.01) and Supplementary Conditions. 
3. You must deliver Insurance Certification complying with the General Conditions and 

Supplementary Conditions of the Contract Documents. 
 
Failure to comply with these conditions within the time specified will entitle OWNER to consider your Bid 
abandoned, to annul this Notice of Award and to declare your Bid Security forfeited. 
 
One (1) fully signed counterpart of the Agreement, with the Contract Documents attached, will be returned 
to you within 15-days after you comply with the above noted conditions. 
 
CITY OF APPLETON DEPARTMENT OF UTILITIES  
Calumet, Outagamie & Winnebago Counties, WI 
 
       
(authorized signature) 
 
       
(title) 
 
Witness:         



 

 

 

BID TABULATION 

 

Owner: City of Appleton Department of Utilities 

Project Name: WWTP Ph. II Belt Filter Press Equipment Upgrades Project 

Contract No. A0005-09-21-00225-B 

Bid Date: Tuesday, June 18, 2024 

Bid Time: Received until 1:45 p.m., opened at 2:00 p.m., local time 

Project Manager: Chad T. Olsen, P.E., BCEES 

 
Contract No. 

A0005-09-21-00225-B 

 

 

STAAB CONSTRUCTION 
CORPORATION 

1800 Laemle Avenue 
Marshfield, WI 54449 

ROHDE BROTHERS, INC. 
W5745 Woodchuck Lane / PO Box 409 

Plymouth, WI 53073 

AUGUST WINTER & SONS, INC. 
2323 North Roemer Road  

PO Box 1896 
Appleton, WI 54912-1896 

BASE BID $4,487,000.00 $4,718,000.00 $5,427,500.00 

ALTERNATE BID $140,000.00 $112,500.00 $73,726.00 

Bid Security Yes Yes Yes 

Addenda Yes Yes Yes 

 
 



Department of Utilities 
Wastewater Treatment Plant 
2006 East Newberry Street 

Appleton, WI 54915 
p: 920-832-5945 
f: 920-832-5949 

www.appleton.org/government/utilities 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Date: June 21, 2024 

To: Chairperson Brad Firkus and Members of the Finance Committee 

From: Chris Stempa, Utilities Director 

CC: Ryan Rice, Utilities Deputy Director 
 Kelli Rindt, Enterprise Fund Accounting Manager  

Subject: Finance Committee Action: Approve Change Order #8 to Staab 
Construction contract as part of the AWWTP Phase I Belt Filter Press 
Equipment Upgrades Project totaling $66,293 resulting in a decrease in 
contingency from $675,538 to $609,245 

 

 
BACKGROUND: 

On December 7, 2022, Common Council approved a contract for the Appleton 
Wastewater Treatment Plant (AWWTP) Phase I Belt Filter Press Equipment Upgrades 
Project to Staab Construction in the amount of $5,063,000 with 15% contingency of 
$759,450 for a project total not to exceed $5,822,450. The change order tasks 
summarized within Table 1 represent work added to the original contract scope of work 
(per Section IV P of the Procurement and Contract Management Policy) or deleted from, 
which alters the original contract amount.    

CHANGE ORDER #8   

Change Order #8 reflects the labor and material costs pertaining to the replacement of 
an existing non-potable water (NPW) booster pump. The booster pump is critical to 
sustaining adequate system pressures on the second floor of V-Building.  NPW is utilized 
by the BFP polymer system on the second floor to dilute neat polymer which is then fed 
to the BFPs. The change order work includes all associated demolition (e.g. existing 
piping, pump, and concrete equipment pad) and installation of new piping, pipe 
accessories, pipe insulation, electrical, centrifugal booster pump, pump pad, and painting.   

 

 

 

 

 



Finance Committee Memo 
Phase I BFP Equipment Upgrades Project Change Order #8  
Page 2 of 2 

 
Table 1: Change Order (CO) Summary 

CO# Cost Description 

CO#1 -$22,725 
Cost for filtrate pipe, credits for reusing aluminum grating, elimination of 4 plug 
valves, and drainpipe material change 

CO#2 $6,625 
Costs for Martin tensioner, temperature control module, relocation of BFP control 
panels, and credit for elimination of conveyor pan. 

CO#3 $20,253 

Costs for hoist removal, installation of seven lintels to support new HVAC ductwork, 
demo of waste pipe and flow meter, reclaimed final effluent (RFE) line extension 
and installation of nine flush connections for new BFP pumps.  Deducts provided for 
the elimination of the 1-inch diameter flush connection copper piping and electrical 
feeder panel. 

CO#4 $15,629 
Demo grinder pump, concrete base, ductile iron pipe, and electrical. 
Credit ($1,782) to forgo heater/piping removal in former truck scale room 

CO#5 $36,593 
Part 1: Provide additional grating along east side of AHU plus two (2) fall protection 
beams ($28,595).  Part 2: provide additional grating and railing on east side of Air 
Handling Unit ($7,998).  

CO#6 $17,392 

Forgo duct pressure test and provide ball valve in lieu of triple duty valve ($2,070 
credit); remove 100 feet deteriorated cast iron drainpipe and replace with PVC 
($6,365); reroute hot water piping in former scale room ($2,686); provide additional 
BFP drain pain supports ($1,563); provide 16 feet of temporary handrail on west 
side of BFP #3 ($2,325); add PVC vent to new filtrate drain lines ($6,523) 

CO#7 $10,145 

Eliminate Part 1 of CO5 (-$28,595 credit); provide additional grating and railing on 
east side of AHU ($19,663); provide additional hand rail and checkered plate at 
BFPs ($11,344); provide temporary I beam to replace existing platform support 
(conflict with new conveyor, $2,001); demo SST Vent Pipe that originates in V-
Building Generator Room ($1,926); add 120VAC power for polymer pumps and 
VFD’s from 2nd Floor Panel L-8.  Add ethernet cables between Polymer Pumps and 
VFD’s and Solids Remote I/O Panel. Includes credit for removal of control wire 
provision between Existing BFP Control Panel and Solids Remote I/O Panel (net 
total $1,407); fabricate and install SST guards for top rollers of new BFP's ($607); 
and provide additional checkered plate on west end of BFP #5 ($1,792) 

CO#8 $66,293 Replace failed Non-potable water (NPW) booster pipe.  

Total $150,205  

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

I am requesting approval of Change Order #8 to Staab Construction in the amount of 
$66,293  

If you have any questions or require additional information regarding this project, please 
contact Chris Stempa at 920-832-5945.   

 

 

 



TAX ID: 314026100
OLDE ONEIDA LLC

LOT 1
31CSM5408

TAX ID:314026500

FAHRENKRUG LAW LLC

G
RA

N
D 

CH
U

TE
 IS

LA
N

D 
PL

AT

LOT C

LOT B

LOT A

TAX ID:314028000

FAHRENKRUG LAW LLC

EDWARD WEST'S PLAT

LOT 1
BLK 1

TAX ID:314026601

WOOLEN MILLS LOFTS LLC

PARCEL B

WEST'S CANAL per

 ASSESSORS Map

 City of Appleton

TAX ID:314027601

FOX RIVER

PAPER CO LLC

G
RA

N
D 

CH
U

TE
  I

SL
AN

D 
PL

AT

LOT "S"

LOT "T"

TAX ID:314027602
FOX RIVER PAPER CO LLC

GRAND CHUTE

ISLAND PLAT

PL

PL

PL

PL

PL

PL

PL

O
LD

E 
O

N
EI

DA
 S

TR
EE

T

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 R

/W

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 R

/W

S. ISLAND STREET

30' R/W

60' R/W

40'R/W

WEST'S CANAL

(SOUTH MILL RACE)

FOX RIVER

FOX RIVER

FOX RIVER

TRAIL EASEMENT

DOC. 2060933

17

20

22

 1
/4

 S
EC

T.
 L

IN
E 

   
S 

0°
15

'4
8"

E,
   

  2
60

6.
98

'

95
1.

65
'

1,
65

5.
33

'

    N 89°44'12"E
     440.58'

GOV LOT 2
SEC. 35

CI
TY

   
   

   
   

   
   

 O
F 

   
   

   
   

AP
PL

ET
O

N

NORTH 1/4 CORNER #42117260020
COMPUTED FROM TIES
Y=560992.890
X=827738.220

CENTER #42117352020
COMPUTED FROM TIES
Y=558385.940
X=827750.200T

R

35

21 N

18 E

T
R

26
35

21

N

18
E

17+34

18
+0

0

19
+0

0

20
+0

0

21
+0

0

22
+0

0

22+44

BP: 17+33.98

EP: 22+43.51

PI: 18+78.79

PI: 19+78.81

PC: 21+43.00

PT: 21+74.49

PCC: 21+53.79

1

5

2

3

4 101

602
TLE301

TLE302

TLE303

603

605

100

601

TLE
316

101

101

101

E SOUTH ISLAND ST

E EAGLE FLATS PKWY

W EDISON AVE

SOUTH MILL RACE

FOX RIVER

S OLDE ONEIDA ST

W WATER ST
W PROSPECT AVE

S O
N

EIDA ST

AP
PR

AI
SA

L 
PL

AT
 D

AT
E 

:  
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
_

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

 4
._

__

4
4

FI
LE

 N
AM

E 
:

FI
LE

 N
AM

E 
:

PL
O

T 
DA

TE
 :

PL
O

T 
BY

 :
Je

ss
ic

a 
Sp

lit
tg

er
be

r
6/

20
/2

02
4 

9:
31

 A
M

C:
\P

W
_W

O
RK

\E
XP

-P
W

.B
EN

TL
EY

.C
O

M
_E

XP
-P

W
-0

1\
D0

11
21

22
\0

40
10

1-
RP

.D
W

G
PL

O
T 

N
AM

E 
: 

PL
O

T 
DA

TE
 :

RESERVED FOR REGISTER OF DEEDS
PROJECT NUMBER  4984-01-21-4.01
AMENDMENT NO:___

GN

PL
O

T 
SC

AL
E 

:

T-21-N

R-18-E

LOCATION MAP
NOT TO SCALE

BASIS OF EXISTING RIGHT OF WAY
ROAD
NAME PROJECT/SURVEY VOL. PG. DOC. DATE
OLDE

ONEIDA
STREET 4984-01-33 - - - 7/19/2011
OLDE

ONEIDA
STREET CSM 31 5408 - 8/2/2006

SCALE, FEET
0 30 60

SCHEDULE OF LANDS &
INTERESTS REQUIRED

OWNERS NAMES ARE SHOWN FOR REFERENCE
PURPOSES ONLY AND ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE PRIOR
TO THE TRANSFER OF LAND INTERESTS TO THE
DEPARTMENT

PARCEL PARCEL PARCEL R/W SF REQUIRED TLE

NUMBER OWNER(S) REQUIRED NEW PLE TOTAL SF
1 FAHRENKRUG LAW LLC TLE - - - 1822

2 WOOLEN MILLS LOFTS LLC FEE, TLE 479 - 479 2516

3 FOX RIVER PAPER CO LLC PLE, TLE - 218 218 272

4 FOX RIVER PAPER CO LLC TLE - - - 389

5 OLDE ONEIDA LLC FEE, TLE 134 - 134 432

UTILITY INTERESTS REQUIRED

UTILITY
# OWNER(S) PARCEL

INTEREST
REQUIRED EASEMENTS

100 AT&T 5
RELEASE OF

RIGHTS J.8957 I.20

101 WE Energies 3,4,5
RELEASE OF

RIGHTS -

PART OF THE GOVERNMENT LOT 2 OF SECTION 35, T.21N-R.17.E. CITY OF APPLETON,
OUTAGAMIE COUNTY, WISCONSIN

RELOCATION ORDER: OLDE ONEIDA ST. BRIDGE P-44-723   OUTAGAMIE COUNTY

TO PROPERLY ESTABLISH, LAY OUT, WIDEN, ENLARGE, EXTEND, CONSTRUCT, RECONSTRUCT, IMPROVE, OR MAINTAIN A PORTION OF THE HIGHWAY
DESIGNATED ABOVE, THE CITY OF APPLETON DEEMS IT NECESSARY TO RELOCATE OR CHANGE SAID HIGHWAY
AND ACQUIRE CERTAIN LANDS AND INTERESTS OR RIGHTS IN LANDS FOR THE ABOVE PROJECT.  TO EFFECT THIS CHANGE, PURSUANT TO AUTHORITY
GRANTED UNDER SECTION 84.02 (3), 84.09, AND 84.30, WISCONSIN STATUTES, THE CITY OF APPLETON HEREBY ORDERS THAT:
1. THAT PORTION OF SAID HIGHWAY AS SHOWN ON THIS PLAT IS LAID OUT AND ESTABLISHED TO THE LINES AND WIDTHS AS SO SHOWN

FOR THE ABOVE PROJECT.
2. THE LANDS OR INTERESTS OR RIGHTS IN LANDS AS SHOWN ON THIS PLAT ARE REQUIRED BY THE CITY FOR THE ABOVE PROJECT

AND SHALL BE ACQUIRED IN THE NAME OF THE CITY OF APPLETON, PURSUANT TO THE PROVISIONS OF
SECTION 84.09 (1) OR (2), WISCONSIN STATUTES.

TRANSPORTATION PROJECT PLAT NO: 4984-01-21 -4.01

SEE
DETAIL "A"

SEE
DETAIL "B"

SIGNATURE: 

PRINT NAME: 

REGISTRATION NUMBER: 

DATE: 

SIGNATURE: 

PRINT NAME: 

DATE: 

I,
FULL COMPLIANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 84.095 OF THE WISCONSIN
STATUTES AND UNDER THE DIRECTION OF 
I HAVE SURVEYED AND MAPPED THIS TRANSPORTATION PROJECT PLAT AND SUCH
PLAT CORRECTLY REPRESENTS ALL EXTERIOR BOUNDARIES OF THE SURVEYED LAND.

THIS PLAT AND RELOCATION ORDER ARE APPROVED FOR
THE

PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYOR, HEREBY CERTIFY THAT IN  NATHAN ANDEREGG

 NATHAN ANDEREGG

S-2732

CITY OF APPLETON

CITY OF APPLETON

NATHAN
A.

ANDEREGG
S-2732

GREEN BAY,
WI

L A N D  S U R V E Y O R

W I S C O N S I N

t: +1.414.221.0088 | f: +1.414.221.0537
241 N Broadway, Suite 203
Milwaukee, WI 53202
U.S.A.

www.exp.com

exp U.S. Services Inc.

STRUCTURE
P-44-0723

ACCESS RIGHTS
ACRES

CENTERLINE

CENTRAL ANGLE OR DELTA

CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP

DEGREE OF CURVE

DOCUMENT

AP

AR
AC

CSM

D

DOC

LAND CONTRACT

LENGTH OF CURVE

LONG CHORD

MONUMENT
PAGE

PROPERTY LINE

RADIUS

REFERENCE LINE
REMAINING
RIGHT-OF-WAY
SECTION

STATION
TEMPORARY LIMITED EASEMENT
VOLUME

LC

L

LCH
LCB

MON
P

PL

R

REM
R/W
SEC

STA
TLE
V

PERMANENT LIMITED EASEMENT PLE

AND OTHERS ET AL
C/L

R/L

CURVE DATA

RECORDED AS

TANGENT T

LONG CHORD BEARING

HIGHWAY EASEMENT

POWER POLE
TELEPHONE POLE
TELEPHONE PEDESTAL

CONVENTIONAL SYMBOLS AND  ABBREVIATIONS

IP
(1-INCH UNLESS NOTED)

FOUND IRON PIPE/PIN

R/W MONUMENT
R/W STANDARD

TEMPORARY LIMITED
  EASEMENT
PERMANENT LIMITED
  EASEMENT

SECTION LINE
QUARTER LINE
SIXTEENTH LINE
PROPOSED REFERENCE LINE

EXISTING CENTERLINE

PROPOSED R/W LINE
EXISTING R/W OR HE LINE
PROPERTY LINE

CORPORATE LIMITS

ACCESS RESTRICTED
 (BY PREVIOUS ACQUISITION/CONTROL)
ACCESS RESTRICTED
 (BY ACQUISTION)
ACCESS RESTRICTED
 (BY STATUTORY AUTHORITY)

SIGN

FEE (HATCH VARIES)

OFF-PREMISE SIGN
BUILDING

UNDERGROUND FACILITY
LOT & TIE LINES

SECTION CORNER SYMBOL

T
R

STATE, COUNTY,
 or TOWN lINE

EASEMENT LINE

SQUARE FEET SF

(TYPE)
(TELEPHONE,GAS,ELECTRIC,CABLE TV,FIBER OPTIC)

FO

HE

PARCEL NUMBER

UTILITY NUMBER

ACCESS POINT/
 DRIVEWAY CONNECTION

P.L.

#1-25

(SET)
(SET)

SIGN

102

92

NON
COMPENSABLE COMPENSABLE

( 100' )

Δ/DELTA

E
N

18

17

25
24

26
23

W

G

T

OH

E

TV

FO

SAN

SS

CONVENTIONAL UTILITY SYMBOLS
WATER
GAS
TELEPHONE
OVERHEAD TRANSMISSION LINES
ELECTRIC
CABLE TELEVISION
FIBER OPTIC
SANITARY SEWER
STORM SEWER
ELECTRIC TOWER

THE NOTES,CONVENTIONAL SIGNS, AND ABBREVIATIONS ARE ASSOCIATED WITH EACH
TRANSPORTATION PROJECT PLAT FOR PROJECT 4987-01-21

NOTES:
POSITIONS SHOWN ON THIS PLAT ARE WISCONSIN COORDINATE REFERENCE SYSTEM
COORDINATES (WISCRS), OUTAGAMIE COUNTY, NAD83(2011), IN U.S. SURVEY FEET.
VALUES ARE GRID COORDINATES, GRID BEARINGS, AND GRID DISTANCES. GRID DISTANCES
MAY BE USED AS GROUND DISTANCES.

ALL NEW RIGHT-OF-WAY MONUMENTS WILL BE TYPE 2 (TYPICALLY 3 4" X 24" IRON REBARS),
UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED, AND WILL BE PLACED PRIOR TO THE COMPLETION OF THE
PROJECT.

ALL RIGHT-OF-WAY LINES DEPICTED IN THE NON-ACQUISITION AREAS ARE INTENDED TO
RE-ESTABLISH EXISTING RIGHT-OF-WAY LINES AS DETERMINED FROM PREVIOUS PROJECTS,
OTHER RECORDED DOCUMENTS, OR FROM CENTERLINE OF EXISTING PAVEMENTS.

RIGHT-OF-WAY BOUNDARIES ARE DEFINED WITH COURSES OF THE PERIMETER OF THE
HIGHWAY LANDS REFERENCED TO THE U.S. PUBLIC LAND SURVEY SYSTEM OR OTHER
"SURVEYS" OF PUBLIC RECORD.

DIMENSIONING FOR THE NEW RIGHT-OF-WAY IS MEASURED ALONG AND PERPENDICULAR
TO THE NEW REFERENCE LINES.

A TEMPORARY LIMITED EASEMENT (TLE) IS A RIGHT FOR CONSTRUCTION PURPOSES, AS
DEFINED HEREIN, INCLUDING THE RIGHT TO OPERATE NECESSARY EQUIPMENT THEREON,
THE RIGHT OF INGRESS AND EGRESS, AS LONG AS REQUIRED FOR SUCH PUBLIC PURPOSE,
INCLUDING THE RIGHT TO PRESERVE, PROTECT, REMOVE, OR PLANT THEREON ANY
VEGETATION THAT THE HIGHWAY AUTHORITIES MAY DEEM DESIRABLE. ALL (TLEs) ON THIS
PLAT EXPIRE AT THE COMPLETION OF THE CONSTRUCTION PROJECT OR AS AGREED UPON
IN WRITING, FOR WHICH THIS INSTRUMENT IS GIVEN.

A PERMANENT LIMITED EASEMENT (PLE) IS A RIGHT FOR CONSTRUCTION AND
MAINTENANCE PURPOSES, AS DEFINED HEREIN, INCLUDING THE RIGHT TO OPERATE
NECESSARY EQUIPMENT THEREON AND THE RIGHT OF INGRESS AND EGRESS, AS LONG AS
REQUIRED FOR SUCH PUBLIC PURPOSE, INCLUDING THE RIGHT TO PRESERVE, PROTECT,
REMOVE, OR PLANT THEREON ANY VEGETATION THAT  THE HIGHWAY AUTHORITIES MAY
DEEM DESIRABLE, BUT WITHOUT PREJUDICE TO THE OWNER'S RIGHTS TO MAKE OR
CONSTRUCT IMPROVEMENTS ON SAID LANDS OR TO FLATTEN THE SLOPES, PROVIDING
SAID ACTIVITIES WILL NOT IMPAIR OR OTHERWISE ADVERSELY AFFECT THE HIGHWAY
FACILITIES.

PROPERTY LINES SHOWN ON THIS PLAT ARE DRAWN FROM DATA DERIVED FROM MAPS
AND DOCUMENTS OF PUBLIC RECORD AND/OR EXISTING OCCUPATIONAL LINES. THIS PLAT
MAY NOT BE A TRUE REPRESENTATION OF EXISTING  PROPERTY LINES, EXCLUDING
RIGHT-OF-WAY, AND SHOULD NOT BE USED AS A SUBSTITUTE FOR AN ACCURATE FIELD
SURVEY.

FOR THE CURRENT ACCESS/DRIVEWAY INFORMATION, CONTACT THE CITY OF APPLETON

PARCEL AND UTILITY IDENTIFICATION NUMBERS MAY NOT POINT TO ALL AREAS OF
ACQUISITION, AS NOTED ON THE TPP DETAIL PAGES.

INFORMATION FOR THE BASIS OF EXISTING HIGHWAY RIGHT-OF-WAY POINTS OF
REFERENCE AND ACCESS CONTROL ARE LISTED ON THE TPP DETAIL PAGES.

BEGIN
PROJECT
STA 17+33

END PROJECT
STA 22+43
STRUCTURE
P-44-0723

JACOB A. WOODFORD

Nathan Anderegg 6/26/24



TAX ID:314026601

WOOLEN MILLS LOFTS LLC

TAX ID:314027601

FOX RIVER

PAPER CO LLC

LOT "T"

PL

PL

PL

TRAIL EASEMENT

22

TLE304

TLE306

PRW100

TLE308

PL
E

10
2

TLE309

TLE310

TL
E3

11

TL
E3

12

605

4

101

2

101

3

21
+0

0

PLE
107

101

PL

O
LD

E 
O

N
EI

DA
 S

TR
EE

T

100 602

TLE313

TLE314

TL
E3

15

PR
W

10
3

PRW
104

PRW
105

5
19

+0
0

PR
W

10
6

606

101

AP
PR

AI
SA

L 
PL

AT
 D

AT
E 

:  
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
_

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

 4
._

__

4
4

FI
LE

 N
AM

E 
:

FI
LE

 N
AM

E 
:

PL
O

T 
DA

TE
 :

PL
O

T 
BY

 :
Je

ss
ic

a 
Sp

lit
tg

er
be

r
6/

20
/2

02
4 

9:
31

 A
M

C:
\P

W
_W

O
RK

\E
XP

-P
W

.B
EN

TL
EY

.C
O

M
_E

XP
-P

W
-0

1\
D0

11
21

22
\0

40
10

1-
RP

.D
W

G
PL

O
T 

N
AM

E 
: 

PL
O

T 
DA

TE
 :

RESERVED FOR REGISTER OF DEEDS
PROJECT NUMBER  4984-01-21-4.01
AMENDMENT NO:___

PL
O

T 
SC

AL
E 

:

RELOCATION ORDER: OLDE ONEIDA ST. BRIDGE P-44-723   CITY OF APPLETON  OUTAGAMIE COUTY

TRANSPORTATION PROJECT PLAT NO: 4984-01-21 -4.01 EXTENSION

CENTER LINE ALIGNMENT

BP= STATION 17+33.98
Y 560043.273
X 828183.171

       BEARING N10° 21' 12"W DISTANCE 144.81'

PI=  STATION 18+78.79
  Y 560185.721
   X 828157.147
       BEARING N11° 29' 57"W DISTANCE 100.02'

PI=  STATION 19+78.81
     Y 560283.734

X 828137.207
BEARING N10° 21' 12"W  DISTANCE 164.19

ARC
 PC= STATION 21+43.00

Y 560445.248
X 828107.700

 CC= N 560430.871    E 828029.002
 PI=  STATION 21+48.40

 Y 560450.566
 X 828106.728

TAN               5.41
               DB                N10° 21' 12"W
              DA                N18° 05' 06"W
               LCHORD DIST       10.79    BEARING N14° 13' 09"W
                EXTERNAL DIST     0.18
               MID ORD           0.18
                RADIUS            80.00
               DEG               71° 37' 11"
                DELTA             07° 43' 54"
               LENGTH            10.80
 PT= STATION 21+53.79

Y 560455.705
X 828105.050

ARC
  PC= STATION 21+53.79

Y 560455.705
X 828105.050

  CC= N 560362.577    E 827819.871
  PI= STATION 21+64.14

Y 560465.545
X 828101.837

TAN               10.35
                DB                N18° 05' 06"W
                DA                N22° 02' 14"W
                LCHORD DIST       20.69    BEARING N20° 03' 40"W
                EXTERNAL DIST     0.18
                MID ORD           0.18
                RADIUS            300.00
                DEG               19° 05' 55"
                DELTA             03° 57' 09"
                LENGTH            20.69
   PT= STATION 21+74.49

Y 560475.140
X 828097.953

       BEARING N22° 02' 14"W  DISTANCE 69.02
  END= STATION 22+43.51
               Y 560539.121

    X 828072.054

DETAIL "A"
NOT TO SCALE

DETAIL "B"
NOT TO SCALE

PAGE 2 OF 2
FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

REFER TO SHEET 1 OF 2

EXT.

GN

SCALE, FEET
0 30 60

GN

SCALE, FEET
0 30 60



 

 

MEMORANDUM  

Date: July 8, 2024 
To: Finance Committee, Common Council 
From: Corey Popp, I.T. Director 
   Pete Neuberger, Deputy Director of Public Works 
Subject: Request to Amend 2024 Budget by $110,904 
 

 

The 2022 and 2023 budgets included $79,428 and $85,000 respectively for the Public Safety 
Camera Program.  Of these amounts, $42,942 and $67,962 remain unspent while I.T. 
completed a proof-of-concept with new cloud-based cameras.  DPW and I.T. are prepared to 
move forward with the CIP at this time and are requesting that a 2024 budget amendment is 
approved as follows:  

 Public Safety Camera Program + $110,904 
 Fund Balance Applied   + $110,904 
 
 



Department of Parks & Recreation 
1819 East Witzke Blvd. 

Appleton, WI 54911  
p: 920-832-3919 
f: 920-993-3103 

www.appleton.org 
 
 
 
 
 
 

TO:  Finance Committee 
 

FROM:  Dean R. Gazza 
 

DATE:  July 8, 2024 
 

RE: Action:  Award the City of Appleton’s "2021 Park Pavilions Roof Replacement Project" 
contract to Schulze Exteriors, LLC. in the amount of $45,775.00 with a contingency of 
7,000 for a project total not to exceed $52,775.00. 

 

2024 Capital Improvement Plan includes $175,000 to replace roofs on City Park Pavilion, AMP Ampitheater, and 
AMP Pavilion. The amount of $5,000 has been utilized for design leaving a balance of $170,000 for construction. 
The existing roofs are at the end of their useful life and are in need of replacement. Our annual roof inspection 
program identifies roofing in need of replacement and allocates resources to allow for proactive replacement to 
protect and preserve the facility’s asset. 

 

The bids were received as follows: 

 

Schulze Exteriors, LLC.  (low bid)  $45,775.00 

D&H Royale Construction, LLC.  $56,576.03 

  

Our consulting engineer has written the City of Appleton a formal letter of recommendation to award the contract 
to Schulze Exteriors LLC. The Parks, Recreation, and Facilities Management Department has also reviewed the 
bids and is in agreement with the engineer's recommendation. Therefore, we recommend awarding the contract 
to Schulze Exteriors, LLC. in the amount of $45,775.00 plus a contingency of $7,000 only to be utilized as 
needed. 

 

Please contact me at 832-5572 or at dean.gazza@appleton.org with any questions. 

http://www.appleton.org/departmentname


AUDIT AGREEMENT FOR PAYMENT FOR LANDS OR INTERESTS IN
LANDS ACQUIRED FROM PUBLIC UTILITY

Wisconsin Department of Transportation
  DT1541     4/2023     s.84.09(1) Wis. Stats. 

This Agreement is made and entered into by and between the Wisconsin Department of Transportation, hereinafter designated as
the "DEPARTMENT," and , a public utility company, a quasi utility or cooperative hereinafter designated as theCity of Appleton
"COMPANY," for the payment for certain lands or interests in lands acquired by the Wisconsin Department of Transportation from
the COMPANY in connection with a Wisconsin transportation improvement designated:

 
Project Description Project ID(s)  

Title:
Limits:

Highway:
County:

APPLETON - DE PERE
BALLARD RD (CTH E) INTCHG
IH 41
OUTAGAMIE

Design:
Construction:
Right of Way:

UTL No.:
Utility:

1130-63-01
1130-65-76
1130-63-21
516
1130-65-41

Facility Type: Water  
 
Said parcel is included in the DEPARTMENT's Order and map filed with the County Highway Committee and County Clerk as
required by Section 84.09(1), Wisconsin Statutes.

WITNESSETH: For and in consideration of the conveyance by separate instrument to the State of Wisconsin of certain lands or
interests or rights in said lands in which the COMPANY holds a real property interest, the DEPARTMENT will pay to the
COMPANY an amount equal to the net cost incurred by the COMPANY for the actual removal, relocation, alteration, or other
rearrangement of the COMPANY facilities situated on the said lands required to restore equivalent function as necessary, in kind if
feasible, of the affected segment of COMPANY facility.

The work covered by the Agreement is set forth in the Exhibit hereto attached and made a part hereof. The Exhibit consists of a
statement of the work and a proposed schedule for its accomplishment and coordination if necessary with the companion
transportation work, an estimate of costs, plans and special provisions, if any.

The work shall be performed under normal COMPANY practices and the costs thereof computed and determined in accordance
with the work order accounting procedure prescribed or approved for the COMPANY by the regulatory agency having jurisdiction,
including applicable provisions of the Code of Federal Regulations 23, Part 645, Subpart A - Utility Relocations, Adjustments, and
Reimbursement. It is further understood, however, that:

1. All salvage shall be credited to the project in the manner prescribed under the COMPANY's accounting procedure for work
undertaken at the expense and volition of the COMPANY. When recovered materials are to be disposed of by sale or as scrap,
the COMPANY shall either have filed with the DEPARTMENT an acceptable statement outlining the COMPANY's current
standard practice and procedure for disposal of such material or shall give written notice to the DEPARTMENT of the location
and time said recovered materials will be available for inspection.

2. A credit shall be given representative of the amount of depreciation accrual, if any, assignable to the facilities subject to
replacement. Such credit shall be calculated for all facilities covered by the Code of Federal Regulations 23, Section
645.117(h). The amount of the credit shall be based upon the original installed cost, the age of the facility and the applicable
depreciation rates, but may also consider the average service lives certified by the regulatory agency having jurisdiction and
the expected remaining service lives of the existing materials.

3. Work under this Agreement shall not start until the COMPANY has received written notice from the DEPARTMENT to proceed
with the work. The COMPANY shall give prior notice to the appropriate Regional Transportation Office of the DEPARTMENT
when it proposes to commence its construction operations and shall give similar notification when operations are resumed
subsequent to suspension of operations. Any significant change in the extent or scope of the work under this agreement must
be covered by a written change order or an extra work order. It is expressly understood and agreed that any work by the
COMPANY prior to authorization by the DEPARTMENT shall be at the COMPANY's sole expense.

 The COMPANY shall not subcontract any portion of the work included under this Agreement without the prior approval of the
DEPARTMENT except for work of relatively minor cost or nature. Any existing continuing contract, under which the COMPANY
now has certain work regularly performed, will be considered to conform to the requirements of this section, provided the
contract is submitted for the DEPARTMENT's prior approval.

 The COMPANY shall keep and make available to the DEPARTMENT detailed payrolls for office and field personnel,
equipment use records, materials used, and salvage records including the condition and disposition of the removed and
salvaged materials, as well as payments to any utility subcontractor if the work is performed in that manner.

4. Upon completion of the work contemplated under this Agreement, the COMPANY will submit invoices to the DEPARTMENT
setting forth the actual and related indirect cost in substantially the same detail and order indicated in the estimate attached to
this Agreement. Each copy of such invoice shall identify the location where the supporting records for the costs included in the
billing may be reviewed as well as the name of the COMPANY custodian of such records. Invoices shall be submitted within
one year of the completion of the companion highway construction project.

 The COMPANY agrees to permit audit of said invoices by the DEPARTMENT and by the Federal Highway Administration, if
necessary, and to offer prompt support for any item cited for review or be deemed to concur in the deletion or correction
thereof. The supportable net amount of the invoice verified by audit as being in compliance with the provisions of this
Agreement shall be paid by the DEPARTMENT and will be accepted as full compensation for the rights or interests in the lands
conveyed, including all damages, costs and expenses incurred by the COMPANY and arising from or necessitated by the said
conveyance.



 The COMPANY shall comply with the Buy America requirements specified under 23 U.S.C. Section 313, 23 CFR 635.410 and
IIJA Pub. L. No. 117-58 when any part of this highway improvement project involves funding by the Federal Aid Highway
Program. To complete processing of invoices submitted, the COMPANY shall provide to the DEPARTMENT a signed DT2249,

.Utility’s Certificate of Buy America Compliance

5. In Connection with the performance of work under this contract, the COMPANY agrees not to discriminate against any
employee or applicant for employment because of age, race, religion, color, handicap, sex, physical condition, developmental
disability as defined in s.51.01(5) Wisconsin Statutes, sexual orientation as defined s.111.32(13m) Wisconsin Statutes or
national origin. This provision shall include, but not be limited to, the following: employment, upgrading, demotion, or transfer;
recruitment or recruitment advertising; layoff or termination; rates of pay or other forms of compensation; and selection for
training, including apprenticeship. Except with respect to sexual orientation, the COMPANY further agrees to take affirmative
action to ensure equal employment opportunities. The COMPANY agrees to post in conspicuous places, available for
employees and applicants for employment, notices to be provided by the contracting officer setting forth the provisions of the
nondiscrimination clause.

6. The execution of this Agreement by the DEPARTMENT shall not relieve the COMPANY from compliance with applicable
Federal and State laws, Wisconsin Administrative Codes, and local laws or ordinances which may affect the performance of
the work covered herein, and shall not be construed to supersede any other governmental agency requirements for plan
approval or authority to undertake the utility alteration work.

 This Agreement does not supplant any permit required under Section 84.08, 86.07(2), or 86.16, Wisconsin Statutes. No
COMPANY work affecting highway lands shall be undertaken without any required separate permit, which may be processed
and approved concurrently with this Agreement.

7. It is further agreed that any legal action taken by the COMPANY because of dispute arising through this transaction shall be for
monetary considerations only, and shall not be for the revocation of the conveyance for the lands or rights or interests therein.

8. The Agreement is not binding upon the parties hereto until this document has been fully executed by the COMPANY and the
DEPARTMENT.

IN WITNESS, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed by their proper officers and representatives on the year and
the day below written.

WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION  COMPANY

  

City of Appleton
  (Company Name)

(Division Administrator)                                                 (Date)  (Authorized Signature) (Date)

     
(Print Name)  (Title)

     
  (Print Name)

  (Authorized Signature) (Date)

     
  (Title)

     
  (Print Name)





AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY OF APPLETON, WIS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
I 41

AutoCAD SHX Text
BALLARD RD TO E/O BALLARD RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRG. NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE:  00/00/00

AutoCAD SHX Text
DWN:   XXX

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/4 SEC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
U47

AutoCAD SHX Text
CKD:

AutoCAD SHX Text
APP'D:

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGINEERING DIVISION

AutoCAD SHX Text
IN

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAGE NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATER

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
BALLARD RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' WATER MAIN EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUARDIAN LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY

AutoCAD SHX Text
24" W.M. (DIP 2008)

AutoCAD SHX Text
24" W.M. (DIP 2008)

AutoCAD SHX Text
24" W.M. (DIP 2008)

AutoCAD SHX Text
CON

AutoCAD SHX Text
CON

AutoCAD SHX Text
CON

AutoCAD SHX Text
CON

AutoCAD SHX Text
CON

AutoCAD SHX Text
CON

AutoCAD SHX Text
CON

AutoCAD SHX Text
CON

AutoCAD SHX Text
CSW

AutoCAD SHX Text
CSW

AutoCAD SHX Text
CSW

AutoCAD SHX Text
CON

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASP

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASP

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASP

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASP

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASP

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASP

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASP

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASP

AutoCAD SHX Text
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CON PAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASP

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASP

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROW EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROW EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROW EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROW EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP NEW DOT ROW

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP NEW DOT ROW

AutoCAD SHX Text
xxx' 24" WATER MAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAMP EAA

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP 10' WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX RAMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP RAMP "EA"

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP RAMP "CD"

AutoCAD SHX Text
10.0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
730

AutoCAD SHX Text
750

AutoCAD SHX Text
857+00

AutoCAD SHX Text
859+00

AutoCAD SHX Text
861+00

AutoCAD SHX Text
ESTIMATE OF QUANTITIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
730

AutoCAD SHX Text
750

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAPHIC SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOCATED BY THE UTILITY COMPANIES.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEFORE CONSTRUCTION THE CONTRACTOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHALL HAVE THE UTILITIES AND LATERALS

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
740

AutoCAD SHX Text
740

AutoCAD SHX Text
856+00

AutoCAD SHX Text
858+00

AutoCAD SHX Text
860+00

dotgtv
PDS

dotgtv
PDS
Stage 1Utility ID 1130-65-41Construction ID 1130-65-76

dotgtv
Polylength Measurement
509 ft

dotgtv
PDS
Discontinue in place. Slurry filled and capped

dotgtv
PDS
Existing to remain in place, not in conflict with 1130-65-76 ID



AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY OF APPLETON, WIS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
I 41

AutoCAD SHX Text
BALLARD RD TO E/O BALLARD RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRG. NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE:  00/00/00

AutoCAD SHX Text
DWN:   XXX

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/4 SEC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
U47

AutoCAD SHX Text
CKD:

AutoCAD SHX Text
APP'D:

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGINEERING DIVISION

AutoCAD SHX Text
IN

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAGE NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATER

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING ASPHALT

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROW

AutoCAD SHX Text
U.S.H. "41"

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUARDIAN LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY

AutoCAD SHX Text
2300

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' WATER MAIN EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
5"

AutoCAD SHX Text
5"

AutoCAD SHX Text
6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING ASPHALT

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E. CAPITOL DR.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING ASPHALT

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUARDIAN LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY

AutoCAD SHX Text
2300

AutoCAD SHX Text
5"

AutoCAD SHX Text
5"

AutoCAD SHX Text
5"

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E. CAPITOL DR.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
24" W.M. (DIP 2008)

AutoCAD SHX Text
24" W.M. (PVC 2003)

AutoCAD SHX Text
24" W.M. (PVC 2003)

AutoCAD SHX Text
CON

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASP

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASP

AutoCAD SHX Text
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASP

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASP

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASP

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASP

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUARDRAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUARDRAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUARDRAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
LARGE SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASP

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASP

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASP

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASP

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASP

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROW EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROW EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROW EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROW EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROW EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
24" W.M. (PVC 2003)

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHOULDER

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHOULDER

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHOULDER

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHOULDER

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP RAMP "EA"

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP RAMP "CD"

AutoCAD SHX Text
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
24"  WATER MAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
xxx' 24" WATER MAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
I 41 NB

AutoCAD SHX Text
861+00

AutoCAD SHX Text
730

AutoCAD SHX Text
750

AutoCAD SHX Text
863+00

AutoCAD SHX Text
865+00

AutoCAD SHX Text
867+00

AutoCAD SHX Text
869+00

AutoCAD SHX Text
ESTIMATE OF QUANTITIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
730

AutoCAD SHX Text
750

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAPHIC SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOCATED BY THE UTILITY COMPANIES.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEFORE CONSTRUCTION THE CONTRACTOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHALL HAVE THE UTILITIES AND LATERALS

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
740

AutoCAD SHX Text
740

AutoCAD SHX Text
862+00

AutoCAD SHX Text
864+00

AutoCAD SHX Text
866+00

AutoCAD SHX Text
868+00

dotgtv
PDS

dotgtv
Typewritten Text

dotgtv
Polylength Measurement
491 ft

dotgtv
PDS
Stage 1Utility ID 1130-65-41Construction ID 1130-65-76

dotgtv
PDS
Stage 2Utility ID 1130-65-42Construction ID 1130-65-72

dotgtv
PDS
NOT INCLUDED IN THIS AGREEMENT

dotgtv
PDS
Discontinue in place. Slurry filled and capped

dotgtv
PDS
Existing to remain in place, not in conflict with 1130-65-76 ID.



RI
PR

AP

RIPRAP

WVWV

WVWV
WVWV

W

W

W

W

W

W

WVWV

W

W

W
W

W W W W W W

1027'

WISDOT/CADDS SHEET 42

EHWY: COUNTY:
C:\BOXDRV\BOX\DTSD-PROJECTS-PUBLIC\DTSD-PROJECTS-MEGAMAJOR\NER-I41-MAJOR-PUBLIC\11306301\1130-65-XX (MEADE - HOLLAND)\UTILITIES\AGREEMENTS\1130-65-76\CITY OF APPLETON WATER-\11306576 COMP 516616.DWGFILE NAME : 6/19/2024 11:54 AMPLOT DATE : PLOT BY : VICKMAN, GARRETT T

2

PROJECT NO:
PLOT NAME :  

2

SHEET 
PLOT SCALE : 1" = 80'

1130-65-76 IH-41 OUTAGAMIE City of Appleton-Water Compensation Determination-Ballard Rd/CTH E

LAYOUT NAME - 02

PROP R/W

EX R/W

Existing facility to remain and is not in conflict
with 1130-65-76 ID.

BA
LL

AR
D 

RD
/ C

TH
 E

Buried Facilities
Compensation Ratio=% of work paid for by WisDOT=Total Lengh in compensable
areas/(Total compensable length+the affected length in existing right of way).

Buried Comp Ratio=1027'/(1027'+0')=100%
Hydrants and Water Valves within acquisition area
are 100% Compensable

Existing facility to remain and is not in conflict
with 1130-65-76 ID.



 

MEMORANDUM  

Date: July 10, 2024  
To:  Community Development Committee and City Plan Commission   
From: Lindsey Smith, Principal Planner  
Subject:  Request to Award Contract to SmithGroup for Comprehensive Plan Update 

and Subarea Planning   
 
Background & Analysis:  On April 3, 2024, the Common Council allocated $400,000 of American 
Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) funding for Comprehensive Plan Update and Subarea Planning. The 
Comprehensive Plan Update will emphasize on the housing and land use elements within the plan. 
The plan will be restructured to a user-friendly format. City staff identified three areas of interest for 
the subarea planning. The three areas consist of S. Oneida Street, W. Wisconsin Avenue, and 
Northland Avenue/Richmond Street. The subarea planning will build off the Comprehensive Plan 
update and identify transformative sites within the subareas. The City issued a Request for 
Proposals (RFP) to complete and coordinate services for Comprehensive Plan Update and Subarea 
Planning on April 12, 2024 (attached). Proposals were solicited in accordance with the City’s 

Procurement and Contract Management Policy and ARPA regulations. The City received eight 
proposals for the RFP.  

The eight proposals were evaluated by a Community Development Department team consisting of 
myself, Kara Homan, Director; David Kress, Deputy Director; and Olivia Galyon; Community 
Development Specialist to shortlist four proposals to interviews.  

The four proposals were evaluated and interviewed by the evaluation team consisting of myself, 
Kara Homan, Director of Community Development; David Kress, Deputy Director of Community 
Development; Jake Woodford, Mayor; Dennis Fenton, Alderperson and Plan Commission Member; 
Dani Block, Director of Public Works; and Tom Flick, Deputy Director of Parks Department. The 
evaluation consisted of internal technical review of their proposal and interviews.  

After internal review and determination of the firm’s qualifications and ability to perform the desired 

work, the evaluation team selected SmithGroup in the amount of $359,000, with a contingency of 
$16,000, for a project total not to exceed $375,000.  

Per the City’s organizational structure and procurement policies, contracts for services in excess of 

$25,000 by the Community Development Department fall under the jurisdiction of the Community 
Development Committee (CDC) for review and recommendation to Common Council for final 
award. Some of the content and recommendations of this project may fall under the statutory 
jurisdiction of the City’s Plan Commission. This item is being included as an information item for 

Plan Commission to bring this project to their attention.  

 



 

Staff Recommendation:  In accordance with City policy, staff recommends approval to award a 
contract to SmithGroup in an amount of $359,000, with a contingency of $16,000, for a project total 
not to exceed $375,000 to perform the scope of services outlined in the attached SmithGroup 
proposal.  



 
Community & Economic Development 

100 N. Appleton Street 
Appleton, WI 54911  

p: 920.832.6468 
f: 920.832.5994 

www.appleton.org/government/community-and-
economic-development

 

April 12, 2024 

 
Re: Request For Proposals – City of Appleton’s Comprehensive Plan Update and 

Subarea Planning 
 
 

Dear Interested Party,  
 

City of Appleton’s Department of Community and Economic Development is seeking 

proposals for consulting services related to the City of Appleton’s Comprehensive Plan 

Update and Subarea Planning. 
 

The City of Appleton is located in the Fox River Valley of northeastern Wisconsin and has 
a population of approximately 76,000.  Appleton is located at the crossroads of Interstate 
41 and U.S. Highway 10 and is 90 miles north of Milwaukee and 30 miles southwest of 
Green Bay.  More information about the City of Appleton is available on our website at: 
www.appleton.org. 

 
The City of Appleton identified the need to update the Comprehensive Plan with an 
emphasis within land use and housing elements, build upon the misalignment of vision 
and planning identified in Housing Development Policy Guide, and utilize housing 
demand and affordability identified in College North Neighborhood Plan. The City of 
Appleton Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030 was adopted in 2010 and updated in 2017. 
Since 2017, various national, regional, and local priorities have undergone shifts in 
response to the prevailing circumstances. 

 
The City of Appleton also recognized the need to build upon the Wisconsin Avenue, 
Richmond Street, and South Oneida Street Corridor Plans in the Comprehensive Plan.  
The subarea plans are located within the existing built environment in the City. 
Redeveloping or enhancing these subareas could potentially offer economic 
diversification opportunities beneficial to the neighborhood. 

 
The details for this project are contained in the following Request for Proposals (RFP). 
The information can also be found on our website at the following link: 
https://www.appleton.org/business/request-for-proposal-1787.  
 
 
 

http://www.appleton.org/
https://www.appleton.org/home/showpublisheddocument/26457
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/56b0cf4d5dc6de0498892f49/t/6303b99c781f1769c637f7ba/1661188511375/CollegeNorthNeighborhoodPlan_July2022.pdf
https://www.appleton.org/business/request-for-proposal-1787


 
 
If you have any issues locating documents or community information, please do not 
hesitate to contact me.  Following is the tentative schedule for submission of proposals, 
evaluation, and selection of the consultant firm to complete this work.  

 
DATE  EVENT 
April 12, 2024 Issue Request for Proposals 
April 22, 2024 Question Period End Date – Submit questions to Lindsey Smith 
April 26, 2024  Addendum for Question Period Posted on City of Appleton Website 
May 10, 2024  RFPs due on or before 4:00 PM CST 
May 2024   Internal review of RFPs 
May 22, 2024 Interviews 
June 19, 2024 City Council Approval of Contract 
July 1, 2024  Enter into contract for services with selected consultant – Contract Start 

Date / Project Kickoff 
June 2026  Prepare and submit final deliverables 

 
Thank you for your consideration.  
 
Sincerely,  

 
Lindsey Smith 
Principal Planner 

 
 



 
Community & Economic Development 

100 N. Appleton Street 
Appleton, WI 54911  

p: 920.832.6468 
f: 920.832.5994 

www.appleton.org/government/community-and-
economic-development 

 

 
CITY OF APPLETON 

 
Request for Proposals 

for 
Comprehensive Plan Update and Subarea 

Planning 
 
 

Issued by: 
City of Appleton, WI 

April 12, 2024 
 

Proposals must be received no later than: 
4:00 PM CST, Friday, May 10, 2024 

 
Submit Proposals and Questions to: 

Lindsey Smith 
Principal Planner 

 
By mail: 

100 N. Appleton Street 
Appleton, WI 54911 

 
Or electronically: 

lindsey.smith@appleton.org 
 
 

For further information regarding this request contact: 
Lindsey Smith, Principal Planner 

lindsey.smith@appleton.org 
920-832-3943 

 
 
 
 
 

mailto:lindsey.smith@appleton.org


 
1.0  GENERAL INFORMATION 

 
1.1 Introduction 

The purpose of this document is to provide interested, qualified parties with the 
information to enable them to prepare and submit a proposal for a consulting services 
contract. The selected consultant will complete and coordinate services related to the 
City of Appleton’s Comprehensive Plan Update and Subarea Planning. The City of 
Appleton is utilizing funding from the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) to complete 
this project. 
 

1.2 Background 
The City of Appleton is located in the Fox River Valley of northeastern Wisconsin and 
has a population of approximately 76,000. Appleton is located at the crossroads of 
Interstate 41 and U.S. Highway 10 and is 90 miles north of Milwaukee and 30 miles 
southwest of Green Bay. More information about the City is available on our website at: 
www.appleton.org. 

 
The City of Appleton Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030 was originally adopted in 2010. 
In 2017, a 5-year update was adopted which included updates to the Parks & Recreation 
Master Plan (Chapter 18), full re-write of the Downtown Plan (Chapter 14), various text 
updates within Chapters 1-12, and future land use map amendments for specific 
properties. A copy of the City of Appleton’s Comprehensive Plan can be viewed at the 
City website: http://www.envisionappleton.org/documents as well as subsequent 
planning documents: http://www.envisionappleton.org/ 
 
Since the completion of the Comprehensive Plan Update in 2017, the City has 
implemented several of the recommended policies that supported an additional $3 
billion in tax increment with the development of over 900 new residential units and 
various industrial and commercial projects. The City executed recommendations in the 
housing and land use chapter by allowing accessory dwelling units, permitting zero lot 
line duplex, reducing the minimum dwelling square footage per unit, adding ground floor 
residential as a permitted use in the Central Business District except along College 
Avenue, and creating a mixed use zoning district, C-1 Neighborhood Mixed Use District. 
The City recently created Tax Increment District #13 and approved the expansion of 
Southpoint Commerce Park to provide ready to build lots to retain and attract business 
and industry uses in the City.  In addition, several new mixed-use spaces have opened 
nearby downtown such as Appleton Park Central, 320 East College LLC, RiverHeath, 
and Urbane 115.  Several major projects currently in progress will impact the City in 
general, as they will influence future mobility, attraction of conventions and visitors and 
residential density. These include, but are not limited to: a rehabilitation of the library, 
the continued redevelopment of numerous downtown sites, West College Avenue 
Corridor Planning, and Complete Streets Study. Appleton overall continues to see 
increasing demand for new housing units and a solid commercial and industrial base. A 
copy of the City’s Annual Growth Reports can be found at the City website: 
https://www.appleton.org/government/community-and-economic-development/publications 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.appleton.org/
http://www.envisionappleton.org/documents
http://www.envisionappleton.org/
https://www.appleton.org/government/community-and-economic-development/publications


 
The updates to the Comprehensive Plan should account for progress made over the 
past five years, incorporate current data and trends, introduce new recommendations, 
as needed with an emphasis within land use and housing elements, build upon the 
misalignment of vision and planning identified in Housing Development Policy Guide, 
utilize housing demand and affordability identified in College North Neighborhood Plan, 
and restructure to user friendly and web-friendly dashboard or infographic style format 
in compliance with Wis. Stats. 66.1001.  
 
The subarea planning will incorporate the newly created vision and goals of the 
Comprehensive Plan, and build upon the Wisconsin Avenue (Chapter 15), Richmond 
Street (Chapter 16), and South Oneida Street (Chapter 17) Corridor Plans in 
Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030. The subarea planning will expand the geographical 
scope of the existing corridor plans, identify and respond to current conditions and 
issues, provide an analysis, identify transformative sites with illustration of specific site 
recommendations, implementation plans and strategies to deliberately shape and 
stimulate development near Wisconsin Avenue, Northland Avenue and Richmond 
Street area, and S. Onedia Street. The plan will be used as a guide by the City and 
other stakeholders to promote future development that facilitates connections to the 
City, adjacent neighborhoods, and existing businesses.   

 
1.3 Funding 

This project is being supported, by federal award number 21.027 - Coronavirus State 
and Local Fiscal Recovery (CSLFRF), which has been granted to the Community and 
Economic Development Department by the U.S. Department of the Treasury. Funds 
from the American Rescue Plan Act must be expended by the end of 2026. Firms should 
demonstrate their ability to comply with relevant ARPA requirements and to carry out 
and complete this project by June 30, 2026. Section 4.2 provides information and 
documents necessary to remain in compliance with federal requirements related to 
ARPA funding (see attachment). 
 

1.4 Scope 
The City is seeking to work with a firm to (A) Update the Comprehensive Plan and (B) 
Engage in Subarea Planning.  

A. Update to the Comprehensive Plan Scope of Work must include:  
1. Analysis of the City’s existing comprehensive plan and other relevant long 

range plans for the City.  
2. Compile current demographic, economic, and forecasting data for the 

following:  
a. Issues and opportunities (Chapter 4) 
b. Housing and neighborhoods (Chapter 5) 
c. Land use (Chapter 10) 

3. Compile applicable data that may be relevant for other chapters.  
4. Creation of public participation plan that will assist in identifying issues 

and opportunities to create a vision for the City. Utilize East Central 
Wisconsin Regional Plan Commission Equitable Engagement Toolkit to 
create the public participation plan for more meaningful and purposeful 
engagement ensuring the representation of all populations.  

5. Incorporate the vision into innovative goals, objectives and policies, and 
subsequent sections of the Comprehensive Plan.  

6. Restructure the plan and document to user friendly and web-friendly 
dashboard or infographic style format.  

 
 

https://www.appleton.org/home/showpublisheddocument/26457
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/56b0cf4d5dc6de0498892f49/t/6303b99c781f1769c637f7ba/1661188511375/CollegeNorthNeighborhoodPlan_July2022.pdf
https://www.ecwrpc.org/programs/transportation/community-engagement/?aid=9070&sa=0
https://www.ecwrpc.org/programs/transportation/community-engagement/?aid=9070&sa=0


 
7. Final Deliverables: 

a. Written report, 
b. Executive summary / overview presentation of findings. 
c. All documents to be provided to City in original, editable format 

(e.g. .docx, .ppt, .gpx, .skp, .ai, .shp, .gdb, etc.) in addition to .pdf 
format. 

 
B. Subarea Planning Scope of Work must include:  

1. Planning Areas. The City has delineated the focus areas for each of the three 
subareas below. The planning for subareas is not constrained strictly to the 
boundaries outline on the maps, they can be expanded based on research 
and best practices. The maps are located in Section 4.0.   

a. Wisconsin Avenue  
b. Northland Avenue and Richmond Street 
c. S. Oneida Street 

2. Analysis of the City’s existing comprehensive plan and other relevant long-
range plans for the City relevant to the planning areas.  

3. Compile current demographic, economic, land use, housing, commercial 
business market, and forecasting data within the planning area.  

4. Creation of a public participation plan that will further refine and support the 
vision of the City by creating a shared vision and goals for the planning area.  

5. Conduct a redevelopment feasibility analysis within the planning area to 
identify transformative sites. Create illustration of specific site 
recommendations.  

6. Development of implementation plan with measurable benchmarks and party 
responsible for implementing.  

7. Structure the plan to be user-friendly and web-friendly dashboard or 
infographic style format.  

8. Final Deliverables: 
a. Written report, 
b. Executive summary / overview presentation of findings, 
c. All documents to be provided to City in original, editable format (e.g. 

.docx, .ppt, .gpx, .skp, .ai, .shp, .gdb, etc.) in addition to .pdf format. 
 

The firm may propose additional tasks and/or a revised scope based on experience with 
similar projects in similar cities. Sub-tasks, such as conference calls, draft reviews, etc. 
shall be considered part of the proposed scope but will not be detailed in this RFP. City 
staff will assist with supplying project information, stakeholder contacts, relevant policies, 
public engagement efforts, and providing other City-specific information related to the 
project.  

 
 
2.0 PREPARING AND SUBMITTING THE QUOTE 
 
The City of Appleton seeks, by way of this RFP, to obtain services in a manner that maximizes 
the quality of services while also maximizing value to the City. Firms must be able to show they 
are capable of performing the services requested and are able to complete the project within the 
timeline established by ARPA requirements and this scope.  
 
 
 
 
 



2.1 Proposal Content & Organization 
A. Title Page 
Proposal title, the name of the firm, Unique Entity Identifier 
(https://sam.gov/content/home), address, telephone numbers, name of contact person, 
the date, and other relevant company information. Also include a list and contact 
information for any sub-consultants and the work they will perform.  
B. Proposal Narrative 

1. Provide description of the proposed project and your familiarity with the City 
of Appleton.  

2. Describe your firm’s experience in similar areas of expertise. Include a 
minimum of three examples for which your firm executed similar projects and 
client reference contact information.  

3. Description of firm’s organizational structure for the consulting team, along 
with their availability and experience to support the project.  

4. Provide your project approach, detailed work plan that address the scope of 
services, and description of public participation events.  Describe anticipated 
interaction with City Staff. Provide project timeline indicating 
phases/milestones of the project.  

C. On a separate page, provide a total cost of the proposed project approach and 
separate project cost for (A) Update to Comprehensive Plan and (B) Subarea 
Planning. Total project cost should include all expenses associated with the plan, 
include travel and incidental costs. Provide the billing rate and anticipated hours for 
staff involved with the project.  
 

2.2 Selection Process and Criteria 
Proposals will be evaluated and scored by the project selection team using the following 
criteria: 

A. Project Approach and Scope 
1. Project and Community Understanding 
2. Experience and Project Examples 
3. Key Project Staff  
4. Proposal Quality and Timeline 
5. Project Cost 

B. Selection Process will involve the following steps:  
1. Project selection team will review proposals based on the scoring criteria 

above and rank submittals.  
2. The top firms will present their proposal to the project selection team. The 

team will select a firm to advance in the selection process.  
3. The selected firm will work with the City to develop a final scope and project 

cost.  
4. Contract will be brought before City Council for approval.  

 
2.3 Submittal  
Consultants may send completed proposal via email or delivery by hard copy on or before 
4:00 PM CST, Friday, May 10, 2024, to: 
 

 Lindsey Smith  
 Principal Planner 
 City of Appleton 
 100 N. Appleton Street 
 Appleton, WI 54911-4799 
 lindsey.smith@appleton.org 
 
 Submittals received after Friday, May 10, 2024, at 4:00 PM CST will not be accepted. 

https://sam.gov/content/home
mailto:lindsey.smith@appleton.org


 
2.4 Liability  

The City of Appleton is not liable for any cost incurred by proposers in replying to this 
request. 

 
2.5 Contract Terms 

The successful consultant will be required to sign a City of Appleton Consultant Services 
Contract and meet the insurance requirements attached to this RFP. 
 
 

3.0  PROJECT CALENDAR 
Listed below are the estimated dates of actions related to this request. In the event the City of 
Appleton finds it necessary to change any of the specific dates, it will do so. 

 
DATE  EVENT 
April 12, 2024 Issue Request for Proposals 
April 22, 2024 Question Period End Date – Submit questions to Lindsey Smith 
April 26, 2024     Addendum for Question Period Posted on City of Appleton Website 
May 10, 2024 RFPs due on or before 4:00 PM CST 
May 2024  Internal review of RFPs 
May 22, 2024 Interviews 
June 19, 2024  City Council Approval of Contract 
July 1, 2024 Enter into contract for services with selected consultant – Contract 

Start Date / Project Kickoff 
June 2026 Prepare and submit final deliverables 
 

 
4.0 ATTACHMENTS 

 
4.1 Subarea Maps 
4.2 ARPA Uniform Guidance and Clauses 
4.3 Insurance Requirements 

 
 



N
A
lv
in
S
t N
C
la
rk

S
t

N
H
a
rrim

a
n
S
t

N
S
u
p
e
ri
o
r
S
t

E Alice St

N
La
w
e
S
t

W Parkway Blvd

E Grant St

E Glendale Av

Erb Park and
Pool

N
La
w
e
S
t

E Summer St

N
S
u
p
e
ri
o
r
S
t

N
F
a
ir
S
t

N
D
ivisio

n
S
t

W Atlantic St

N
B
a
te
m
a
n
S
t

N
A
lvin

S
t

N
A
p
p
le
to
n
S
t

N
D
re
w
S
t

E Roosevelt St
N
S
ta
te

S
t

N
C
la
rk

S
t

N
C
la
rk

S
t

N
U
n
io
n
S
t

N
D
u
rk
e
e
S
t

N
H
a
rrim

a
n
S
t

N
H
a
rrim

a
n
S
t

N
E
rb

S
t

E Randall St

W Commercial St

N
Lo
cu
st
S
t

N
Lo
cu
st
S
t

W Summer St

E Circle St

W Spring St

E Brewster St

E Hancock St E Hancock St

E Spring St

N
R
ich

m
o
n
d
S
t

N
R
ich

m
o
n
d
S
t

W Wisconsin Av E Wisconsin Av

47

96

Zion Lutheran

Kaleidoscope
Academy

Fire Station 1

First English
Lutheran
Church

ThedaCare
Regional
Medical

Center-Appleton

N
M
e
a
d
e
S
t

N
R
a
n
k
in
S
t

N
M
e
a
d
e
S
t

Appvion

¯

Wisconsin Ave. (Richmond St. - Meade St.)
N
Ly
n
n
d
a
l e
D
r

W College Av 125

S
O
n
e
id
a
S
t

E
John

St

N
R
ic
h
m
o
n
d
S
t

E Wisconsin Av

Hwy 41

OO

Appleton



N
Su

m
m
it
S
t

Hillock Ct

Hillock Ct

N
M
a
so
n
S
t

W Service Rd

N
La
ur
ie
St

W
E
d
m
und Dr

W Homestead Dr N
B
e
n
n
e
tt
S
t

W Whittier Dr

W Ridgeview Dr

N
Li
sa

St

W Weiland La

OO
OO

Northland Mall

N
S
u
m
m
it
S
tN

M
a
so
n
S
t

N
B
e
n
n
e
tt
S
t

N
E
lin
o
r
S
t

W Browning St

W Lindbergh St

W Marquette St

W Frances St

W Roberts Av

Summit Park

Highlands Elem
School

N
D
i v
is
io
n
S
t

N
Lo
c u
st
S
t

W Highland Park

Ave W Florida Av

Highland Park Av

W Weiland Av W Weiland Av

Rork Alley

47

47

OO
OO

N
D
iv
is
io
n
S
t

N
A
lv
in
S
t N

C
la
rk

S
t

N
H
a
rr
im
a
n
S
t

N
L o
cu
st
S
t

N
E
rb

S
t

W Pershing St

W Lindbergh St

W Frances St

W Glendale Av47

St Pius Catholic
Church

St Francis
Xavier Elem
School

¯

Northland Ave. / Richmond St.
N
Ly
n
n
d
a
l e
D
r

W College Av 125

41

41

N
R
ic
h
m
o
n
d
S
t

E Wisconsin Av

Hwy 41

OO

E

Appleton



Hearthstone
Museum

Paper Discover
Center

W Seymour St

W
Fo
ste
r S
t

W Verbrick St

S
A
d
a
m
s
S
t

W River Rd

S
P
e
a
b
o
d
y
S
t

S
B
o
u
te
n
S
t

S
S
a
n
d
e
r s
S
t

S
W
illk

ie
S
t

Riverview
Gardens

S
A
d
a
m
s
S
t W

Fo
ste
r S
t

W Calumet St

Foster Elem
School

E South River St

Trail

W Seymour St

F
o
ste

r
C
t

E Harrison St

S
La
w
e
S
t

S
Ja
ck
s o
n
S
t

S
M
a
d
is o

n
S
t

E Fremont St

E Lincoln St

W Foster St

E Mc Kinley St

Priv a te R
d

Private
R
d

S
O
n
e
id
a
S
t

Jaycee Park

St Elizabeth's
Hospital

Sacred Heart

Riverview
Lutheran
Church and
School

S
Je
ffe

rso
n
S
t

Ramlen Ct S
La
w
e
S
t

E Carroll St

E Coolidge Av

S
O
n
e
id
a
S
t

E Calumet St

W
Cal

ume
t St

S
C
a
rp
e
n
te
r
S
t

S
R
itg

e
r
S
t

E Harrison St

E Goodall St

E Dennison St

E Mc Kinley St

E Murray Av

E Coolidge Av James Madison
Middle School¯

Oneida St.

W College Av

47

125

S
O
n
e
id
a
S
t

E
John

St

Hw

y
4
4
1

E Wisconsin Av

441

441

441

Appleton



4.2 ARPA Uniform Guidance and Clauses 

Funding 

This project is being supported, either wholly or partially, by federal award number 21.027 - 

Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery (CSLFRF), which has been granted to the City of 

Appleton by the U.S. Department of the Treasury. 

 

ARPA Funding 

On March 11, 2021, President Biden signed the U.S. Senate-amended H.R. 1319 (P.L. 117-2) 

known as the American Rescue Plan Act (hereinafter “ARPA”) and on May 10, 2021, the U.S. 

Department of the Treasury (“Treasury”) issued the Interim Final Rule (“IFR”) to implement 

ARPA in Title 31, Part 35 of the Code of Federal Regulations (“CFR”) describing eligible and 

ineligible uses of funds (as well as other program provisions). Under ARPA Section 603 (c)(1)(A) 

and (3) and IFR 31 CFR 35.6(b)(7) THE CITY OF APPLETON may use Coronavirus State and 

Local Fiscal Recovery Fund (“CSLFRF”) Funds to award grants to organizations that are 

responding to the negative impact of the COVID-19 public health emergency. 

In May 2021, the Treasury published the interim final rule (“IFR”) describing eligible and 

ineligible uses of CSLFRF, as well as other program requirements. On January 6, 2022, the 

Treasury adopted the final rule implementing the CSLFRF program. The final rule became 

effective on April 1, 2022. Prior to the final rule effective date, the IFR remained in effect; funds 

used consistently with the IFR while it was in effect were in compliance with the CSLFRF 

program. 

The Treasury has adopted guidance regarding the use of ARPA funds to respond to the COVID-

19 public health emergency and its economic impacts through four categories: 

• To respond to the public health emergency or its negative economic impacts, including 

assistance to households, small business, and nonprofits, or aid to impacted industries such 

as tourism, travel, and hospitality; 

• To respond to workers performing essential work during the COVID-19 public health 

emergency by providing premium pay to eligible workers; 

• For the provision of government services to the extent of the reduction in revenue due to 

the COVID-19 public health emergency relative to revenues collected in the most recent 

full fiscal year prior to the emergency; and 

• To make necessary investments in water, sewer, and broadband infrastructure. 

The Contractor hereby agrees to use funds in the manner set forth by this Contract, its Exhibits, 

Treasury Final Rule, and applicable provisions of the Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost 

Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (the Uniform Guidance, 2 CFR Part 200).   

 
 
 
 
 



 

 

Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for 

Federal Awards 

 

 

Uniform 

Guidance 

Section Uniform Guidance Section Title 

§ 200.214 Suspension and debarment.  

§ 200.215 Never contract with the enemy.  

§ 200.216 Prohibition of certain telecommunications and video surveillance services 

or equipment.  

§ 200.304 Bonds  

§ 200.305 Federal payment.  

§ 200.310 Insurance coverage.  

§ 200.311 Real property.  

§ 200.312 Federally owned and exempt property.  

§ 200.313 Equipment.  

§ 200.314 Supplies.  

§ 200.315 Intangible property.  

§ 200.316 Property trust relationship.  

§ 200.318 General procurement standards.  

§ 200.319 Competition.  

§ 200.320 Methods of procurement to be followed.  

§ 200.321 Contracting with small and minority businesses, women's business 

enterprises, and labor surplus area firms.  

§ 200.322 Domestic preferences for procurements.  

§ 200.323 Procurement of recovered materials.  

§ 200.324 Contract cost and price.  

§ 200.325 Federal awarding agency or pass-through entity review.  

§ 200.326 Bonding requirements.  

§ 200.327 Contract provisions.  

§ 200.330 Reporting on real property.  

§ 200.334 Retention requirements for records.  

§ 200.335 Requests for transfer of records.  

§ 200.336 Methods for collection, transmission, and storage of information.  

§ 200.337 Access to records.  

§ 200.339 Remedies for noncompliance.  

§ 200.340 Termination.  

§ 200.341 Notification of Termination Requirement  

§ 200.342 Opportunities to object hearings and appeals.  

§ 200.343 Effects of suspension and termination.  

§ 200.346 Collection of amounts due. 

https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-C/section-200.214
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-C/section-200.215
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-C/section-200.216
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/section-200.304
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/section-200.305
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/section-200.310
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/subject-group-ECFR8feb98c2e3e5ad2/section-200.311
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/subject-group-ECFR8feb98c2e3e5ad2/section-200.312
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/subject-group-ECFR8feb98c2e3e5ad2/section-200.313
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/subject-group-ECFR8feb98c2e3e5ad2/section-200.314
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/subject-group-ECFR8feb98c2e3e5ad2/section-200.315
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/subject-group-ECFR8feb98c2e3e5ad2/section-200.316
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/subject-group-ECFR45ddd4419ad436d/section-200.318
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/subject-group-ECFR45ddd4419ad436d/section-200.319
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/subject-group-ECFR45ddd4419ad436d/section-200.320
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/subject-group-ECFR45ddd4419ad436d/section-200.321
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/subject-group-ECFR45ddd4419ad436d/section-200.322
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/subject-group-ECFR45ddd4419ad436d/section-200.323
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/subject-group-ECFR45ddd4419ad436d/section-200.324
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/subject-group-ECFR45ddd4419ad436d/section-200.325
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/subject-group-ECFR45ddd4419ad436d/section-200.326
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/subject-group-ECFR45ddd4419ad436d/section-200.327
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/subject-group-ECFR36520e4111dce32/section-200.330
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/subject-group-ECFR4acc10e7e3b676f/section-200.334
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/subject-group-ECFR4acc10e7e3b676f/section-200.335
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/subject-group-ECFR4acc10e7e3b676f/section-200.336
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/subject-group-ECFR4acc10e7e3b676f/section-200.337
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/subject-group-ECFR86b76dde0e1e9dc/section-200.339
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/subject-group-ECFR86b76dde0e1e9dc/section-200.340
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/subject-group-ECFR86b76dde0e1e9dc/section-200.341
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/subject-group-ECFR86b76dde0e1e9dc/section-200.342
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/subject-group-ECFR86b76dde0e1e9dc/section-200.343
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/subject-group-ECFR1b58ad86a04a1d3/section-200.346


 

Contract Addendum 

The contract or purchase order to which this addendum is attached is made using federal assistance 

provided to the Community and Economic Development Department by the US Department of 

Treasury under the American Rescue Plan Act (“ARPA”), Sections 602(b) and 603(b) of the Social 

Security Act, Pub. L. No. 117-2 (March 11, 2021). 

The following terms and conditions apply to you, the contractor or vendor, as a contractor of the 

Community and Economic Development Department, according to the City of Appleton Award 

Terms and Conditions signed on January 6, 2022 by ARPA and its implementing regulations; and 

as established by the Treasury Department. 

1. Equal Opportunity. 2 CFR Appendix-II-to-Part-200(C). Contractor shall comply with 

Executive Order 11246, “Equal Employment Opportunity,” as amended by EO 11375, 

“Amending Executive Order 11246 Relating to Equal Employment Opportunity,” and as 

supplemented by regulations at 41 CFR part 60, “Office of Federal Contract Compliance 

Programs, Equal Employment Opportunity, Department of Labor.” 

2. Minority and Women Business Enterprises (if applicable to this Contract: 2 CFR 

200.321. The contractor hereby agrees to comply with the following when applicable: The 

requirements of Executive Orders 11625 and 12432 (concerning Minority Business 

Enterprise), and 12138 (concerning Women's Business Enterprise), when applicable. 

Accordingly, the Contractor hereby agrees to take affirmative steps to assure that women 

and minority businesses are utilized when possible as sources of supplies, equipment, 

construction, and services. Affirmative steps shall include the following: 

a. Including qualified women’s business enterprises and small and minority 

businesses on solicitation lists; 

b. Assuring that women’s enterprises and small and minority businesses are solicited 

whenever they are potential sources; 

c. When economically feasible, dividing total requirements into smaller tasks or 

quantities so as to permit maximum participation by small and minority business, 

 

Uniform 

Guidance 

Section Uniform Guidance Section Title 

Appendix II Contract Provisions for Non-Federal Entity Contracts Under Federal 

Awards  

Executive Order 

13043, 62 FR 

19217 (Apr. 18, 

1997) 

Increasing Seat Belt Use in the United States 

Executive Order 

13513, 74 FR 

51225 (Oct. 6, 

2009) 

Reducing Text Messaging While Driving. 

https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/appendix-Appendix%20II%20to%20Part%20200


and women’s business enterprises; 

d. Where the requirement permits, establishing delivery schedules which will 

encourage participation by women’s business enterprises and small and minority 

business; 

e. Using the services and assistance of the Small Business Administration, and the 

U.S. Office of Minority Business Development Agency of the Department of 

Commerce; and 

f. If any subcontracts are to be let, requiring the prime Contractor to take the 

affirmative steps in a through e above. 

For the purposes of these requirements, a Minority Business Enterprise (MBE) is defined 

as an enterprise that is at least 51% owned and controlled in its daily operation by members 

of the following groups: Black, Hispanic, Asian or Pacific Islander, American Indian, or 

Alaskan Natives. A Women Business Enterprise (WBE) is defined as an enterprise that is 

at least 51% owned and controlled in its daily operation by women. The State of Wisconsin 

maintains an online directory of W/MBE businesses, which can be accessed at: 

http://www.Countyofmadison.com/dcr/aaTBDir.cfm. 

3. Suspension and Debarment. (applies to all purchases.)  2 CFR Appendix-II-to-Part-

200(H) 

a. This contract is a covered transaction for the purposes of 2 CFR pt. 180 and 2 CFR 

pt. 3000. As such, the Contractor is required to verify that none of Contractor’s 

principals (defined at 2 CFR § 180.995) or its affiliates (defined at 2 CFR § 

180.905) are excluded (defined at 2 CFR § 180.940) or disqualified (defined at 2 

CFR § 180.935). 

b. The Contractor must comply with 2 CFR pt. 180, subpart C and 2 CFR pt. 3000, 

subpart C, and must include a requirement to comply with these regulations in any 

lower tier covered transaction it enters into. 

c. This certification is a material representation of fact relied upon by the Community 

and Economic Development Department. If it is later determined that the contractor 

did not comply with 2 CFR pt. 180, subpart C and 2 CFR pt. 3000, subpart C, in 

addition to remedies available to the City of Appleton, the Federal Government may 

pursue available remedies, including but not limited to suspension and/or 

debarment. 

d. The Contractor agrees to comply with the requirements of 2 CFR pt. 180, subpart 

C and 2 CFR pt. 3000, subpart C while this offer is valid and throughout the period 

of any contract that may arise from this offer. The Contractor further agrees to 

include a provision requiring such compliance in its lower tier covered transactions. 

4. Byrd Anti-Lobbying Amendment, 31 U.S.C. § 1352, as amended. (Applies to all 

purchases.) 2 CFR Appendix-II-to-Part-200(I). Contractor certifies that it will not and 

has not used Federal appropriated funds to pay any person or organization for influencing 

or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, 

officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection 

with obtaining any Federal contract, grant, or any other award covered by 31 U.S.C. § 

http://www.cityofmadison.com/dcr/aaTBDir.cfm


1352. The contractor shall also disclose any lobbying with non-Federal funds that takes 

place in connection with obtaining any Federal award. Such disclosures are forwarded from 

tier to tier up to the recipient who in turn will forward the certification(s) to the awarding 

agency. 

*Purchases over $100,000 - Contractors must sign the certification on the last page of 

this addendum* 

5. Access to Records. (applies to all purchases.) 2 CFR Appendix-II-to-Part-200(I) 

a. The Contractor agrees to provide the Community and Economic Development 

Department, the City of Appleton, the U.S. Department of Treasury, the 

Comptroller General of the United States, or any of their authorized representatives 

access to any books, documents, papers, and records of the Contractor which are 

directly pertinent to this contract for the purposes of making audits, examinations, 

excerpts, and transcriptions. The Contractor agrees to permit any of the foregoing 

parties to reproduce by any means or to copy excerpts and transcriptions as 

reasonably needed and agrees to cooperate with all such requests. 

b. The Contractor agrees to provide the Treasury Department, or authorized 

representatives, access to construction or other work sites pertaining to the work 

being completed under the contract. 

c. No language in this contract is intended to prohibit audits or internal reviews by the 

Treasury Department or the Comptroller General of the United States. 

6. Rights to Inventions Made Under a Contract or Agreement. 2 CFR Appendix-II-to-

Part-200(F). Contracts or agreements for the performance of experimental, 

developmental, or research work shall provide for the rights of the Federal Government 

and the recipient in any resulting invention in accordance with 37 CFR part 401, “Rights 

to Inventions Made by Nonprofit Organizations and Small Business Firms Under 

Government Grants, Contracts and Cooperative Agreements,” and any applicable 

implementing regulations. 

7. Clean Air Act & Federal Water Pollution Control Act (applies to purchases of more 

than $150,000.) 2 CFR Appendix-II-to-Part-200(G) 

a. The Contractor agrees to comply with all applicable standards, orders or regulations 

issued pursuant to the Clean Air Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 7401 et seq. 

b. The Contractor agrees to comply with all applicable standards, orders, or 

regulations issued pursuant to the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended, 

33 U.S.C. 1251 et seq. 

c. The Contractor agrees to report each violation of the Clean Air Act and the Water 

Pollution Control Act to the Community and Economic Development Department 

and understands and agrees that the City of Appleton will, in turn, report each 

violation as required to assure notification to the Federal Emergency Management 

Agency, and the appropriate Environmental Protection Agency Regional Office. 

d. The contractor agrees to include these requirements in each subcontract exceeding 

$150,000 financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance. 



8. Prohibition on certain telecommunications and video surveillance services or 

equipment (Huawei and ZTE). § 200.216 

Contractor is prohibited from obligating or expending loan or grant funds to: 

a. Procure or obtain; 

b. Extend or renew a contract to procure or obtain; or 

c. Enter into a contract (or extend or renew a contract) to procure or obtain equipment, 

services, or systems that uses covered telecommunications equipment or services 

as a substantial or essential component of any system, or as critical technology as 

part of any system.  

i. For the purpose of public safety, security of government facilities, physical 

security surveillance of critical infrastructure, and other national security 

purposes, video surveillance and telecommunications equipment produced 

by Hytera Communications Corporation, Hangzhou Hikvision Digital 

Technology Company, or Dahua Technology Company (or any subsidiary 

or affiliate of such entities). 

ii. Telecommunications or video surveillance services provided by such 

entities or using such equipment. 

iii. Telecommunications or video surveillance equipment or services produced 

or provided by an entity that the Secretary of Defense, in consultation with 

the Director of the National Intelligence or the Director of the Federal 

Bureau of Investigation, reasonably believes to be an entity owned or 

controlled by, or otherwise connected to, the government of a covered 

foreign country. 

9. Buy USA - Domestic Preference for certain procurements using federal funds. § 

200.322:  

Contractor should, to the greatest extent practicable under a Federal award, provide a 

preference for the purchase, acquisition, or use of goods, products, or materials produced 

in the United States (including but not limited to iron, aluminum, steel, cement, and other 

manufactured products). The requirements of this section must be included in all subawards 

including all contracts and purchase orders for work or products under this award. For 

purposes of this section: 

a. “Produced in the United States” means, for iron and steel products, that all 

manufacturing processes, from the initial melting stage through the application of 

coatings, occurred in the United States. 

b. “Manufactured products” means items and construction materials composed in 

whole or in part of non-ferrous metals such as aluminum; plastics and polymer-

based products such as polyvinyl chloride pipe; aggregates such as concrete; glass, 

including optical fiber; and lumber. 

10. Procurement of Recovered Materials: (applies only if the work involves the use of 

materials). § 200.323 

a. In the performance of this contract, the Contractor shall make maximum use of 



products containing recovered materials that are EPA-designated items unless the 

product cannot be acquired: 

i. Competitively within a timeframe providing for compliance with the contract 

performance schedule; 

ii. Meeting contract performance requirements; or 

iii. At a reasonable price. 

b. Information about this requirement, along with the list of EPA- designated items, 

is available at EPA’s Comprehensive Procurement Guidelines web site, 

https://www.epa.gov/smm/comprehensive- procurement-guideline-cpg-program. 

c. The Contractor also agrees to comply with all other applicable requirements of 

Section 6002 of the Solid Waste Disposal Act. 

11. Increasing Seat Belt Use in the United States. Pursuant to Executive Order 13043, 62 

FR 19217 (Apr. 18, 1997), Contractor is encouraged to adopt and enforce on-the-job seat 

belt policies and programs for your employees when operating company-owned, rented or 

personally owned vehicles. 

12. Reducing Text Messaging While Driving. Pursuant to Executive Order 13513, 74 FR 

51225 (Oct. 6, 2009), Contractor is encouraged to adopt and enforce policies that ban text 

messaging while driving and establish workplace safety policies to decrease accidents 

caused by distracted drivers. 

13. Termination:  This Agreement will commence on Effective Date and will continue until 

terminated as follows: 

 (a) Either Party may terminate the Agreement upon notice to the other Party in the event 

of a breach by the other Party of any of its obligations hereunder if such breach continues 

uncured for a period of five (5) days after notice of such breach to the other Party; 

 (b) Either Party may terminate this Agreement upon notice to the other Party if the other 

Party is adjudicated bankrupt, files a voluntary petition of bankruptcy, makes a general 

assignment for the benefit of creditors, is unable to meet its obligations in the normal course 

of business as they fall due or if a receiver is appointed on account of insolvency; 

 (c) Either Party may terminate this Agreement for its convenience upon thirty (30) days’ 

notice to the other if there is no outstanding Project Assignment. The Company may 

terminate this Agreement for its convenience if the Contractor has not commenced work 

under an outstanding Project Assignment. In addition, if the Contractor has commenced 

work under a Project Assignment, the Company may terminate an outstanding Project 

Assignment by paying Contractor a termination fee of ten percent (10%) of the unpaid fee 

for Services which have been performed under such Project Assignment. 

 (d) If funds are not appropriated from which the Company can fulfill these obligations, 

this Agreement for services will automatically terminate. In the event of such termination, 

reimbursement will be for work completed and approved by Company before the effective 

date of such termination. Neither the Company nor the Contractor shall make any 

commitment for services beyond the period of which funds have been appropriated. 

https://www.epa.gov/smm/comprehensive-%20procurement-guideline-cpg-program
https://www.epa.gov/smm/comprehensive-%20procurement-guideline-cpg-program


(e) Upon the termination of this Agreement for any reason, each Party will be released from 

all obligations and liabilities to the other occurring or arising after the date of such 

termination, except that any termination will not relieve Contractor or Company of their 

obligations under Paragraph 6 ("Taxes and Benefits"), Paragraph 7 ("Intellectual 

Property"), Paragraph 8 ("Confidentiality") Paragraph 10 ("General") and Paragraph 11 

(“Federally Mandated Contract Provisions”), nor will any such termination relieve 

Contractor or Company from any liability arising from any breach of this Agreement. Upon 

the termination of this Agreement for any reason, Contractor will immediately return to 

Company any Company property or information (including Confidential Information) that 

is in Contractor's possession or control. 

 



IR 2.1 – Small Exposure 
Page | 1 

IR 2.1 SMALL EXPOSURE JOBS 
City of Appleton 

Insurance Requirements 
 

Project: _____________________________________________ 
 

The contract or purchase order is not considered approved and the Contractor shall not commence 
work until proof of the required insurance has been provided to the applicable department for the 
City of Appleton. 
 
It is hereby agreed and understood that the insurance required by the City of Appleton is primary 
coverage and that any insurance or self‐insurance maintained by the City of Appleton, its officers, 
council members, agents, employees or authorized volunteers will not contribute to a loss.  All 
insurance shall be in full force prior to commencing work and remain in force until the entire job 
is  completed  and  the  length  of  time  that  is  specified,  if  any,  in  the  contract  or  listed  below 
whichever is longer. 
 
1.  INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CONTRACTOR 
 

Commercial  General  Liability  coverage  at  least  as  broad  as  Insurance  Services  Office 
Commercial General  Liability  Form,  including coverage  for Products  Liability, Completed 
Operations, Contractual Liability, and Explosion, Collapse, Underground coverage with the 
following minimum limits and coverage: 

 
• Each Occurrence limit  ............................................................................... $1,000,000 
• Personal and Advertising Injury limit  ........................................................ $1,000,000 
• General aggregate limit (other than products/completed operations)  

  per project  ........................................................................................... $2,000,000 
• products/completed operations aggregate............................................... $2,000,000 
• Fire Damage limit — any one fire ................................................................... $50,000 
• Medical Expense limit — any one person  ........................................................ $5,000 
• Products/Completed  Operations  coverage  must  be  carried  for  two  years  after 

acceptance of completed work. 
 

Automobile  Liability  coverage  at  least  as  broad  as  Insurance  Services  Office  Business 
Automobile Form, with minimum limits of $1,000,000 combined single limit per accident 
for bodily injury and property damage, provided on a Symbol #1 – “Any Auto” basis. 

 
Workers’  Compensation  as  required  by  the  State  of Wisconsin,  and  employers  liability 
insurance  with  sufficient  limits  to  meet  underlying  umbrella  liability  insurance 
requirements.    If applicable for the work coverage must include Maritime (Jones Act) or 
Longshoremen’s and Harbor Workers Act coverage. 

 



IR 2.1 – Small Exposure 
Page | 2 

Builder’s Risk/Installation Floater/Contractor’s Equipment or Property  (If applicable): 
The Contractor is responsible for loss and coverage for these exposures.  City of Appleton 
will  not  assume  responsibility  for  loss,  including  loss  of  use,  for  damage  to  property, 
materials, tools, equipment, and items of a similar nature which are being either used in 
the work  being  performed  by  the  contractor  or  its  subcontractors  or  are  to  be  built, 
installed, or erected by the contractor or its subcontractors. 

 
2.  APPLICABLE TO CONTRACTORS/SUBCONTRACTORS  
 

• Builder’s  Risk/Installation  Floater/Contractor’s  Equipment  or  Property:    The 
Contractor  is  responsible  for  loss  and  coverage  for  these  exposures.    The  City  of 
Appleton will not assume responsibility for loss, including loss of use, or damage to 
property, materials, tools, equipment and items of a similar nature which are being 
used in the work being performed by the Contractor or its subcontractors or are to be 
built, installed or erected by the Contractor or subcontractors. 

 
•  Primary and Non‐Contributory requirement: All insurance must be primary and non‐

contributory to any insurance or self‐insurance carried by City of Appleton. 
 
  •  Acceptability of Insurers:  Insurance is to be placed with insurers who have an A.M. Best 

rating of no less than A‐ and a Financial Size Category of no less than Class VI, and who 
are authorized as an admitted insurance company in the State of Wisconsin. 

 
  •  Additional  Insured  Requirements:    The  following  must  be  named  as  additional 

insureds on all liability policies for liability arising out of project work: City of Appleton, 
and its officers, council members, agents, employees and authorized volunteers.  On 
the Commercial General Liability Policy, the additional insured coverage must be ISO 
form CG 20 10 07 04 and also include Products – Completed Operations equivalent to 
ISO  form  CG  20  37  07  04  or  their  equivalents  for  a  minimum  of  2  years  after 
acceptance of work.  This does not apply to Workers Compensation policies. 

 
  •  Certificates of Insurance acceptable to the City of Appleton shall be submitted prior to 

commencement of the work to the applicable department.  In addition form CG 20 10 
07 04 for ongoing work exposure and form CG 20 37 07 04 for products‐completed 
operations exposure must also be provided or its equivalent.   These certificates shall 
contain a provision that coverage afforded under the policies will not be canceled or 
non‐renewed until at least 30 days’ prior written notice has been given to the City of 
Appleton. 

 
3.  INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR SUBCONTRACTOR 
 

All sub‐contractors shall be required to obtain Commercial General Liability, Automobile 
Liability, Worker’s Compensation, Employer’s Liability and if applicable, Watercraft Liability, 



IR 2.1 – Small Exposure 
Page | 3 

Aircraft Liability and Unmanned Aircraft Liability insurance.  This insurance shall be as broad 
as and with the same coverage limit as those required of the Contractor. 

 
The following additional coverages are  required where the corresponding box  is checked.    In 
addition, Contractor shall be responsible for consulting with its insurance carrier to determine 
whether any of the other following coverages should be carried based upon the specific project: 

 

☐  Bond Requirements 
•  Bid  Bond:  The  Contractor’s  Bid  Bond  equal  to  5%  of  the  contract  shall 

accompany the bid for the project.  
•  Payment and Performance Bond:  If awarded the contract, the Contractor will 

provide to the Owner a Payment and Performance Bond in the amount of the 
contract price, covering faithful performance of the contract and payment of 
obligations  arising  thereunder,  as  stipulated  in  bidding  requirements,  or 
specifically  required  in  the contract documents on the date of  the contract’s 
execution. 

•  Acceptability of Bonding Company:  The Bid, Payment and Performance Bonds 
shall be placed with a bonding company with an A.M. Best rating of no less than 
A‐ and a Financial Size Category of no less than Class VI. 

• License and Permit Bond:  The Contractor will provide to the City a License and 
Permit Bond in the amount stipulated in Appleton’s Municipal Code. 

 

☐  Property Insurance Coverage (Builder’s Risk) to be provided by the Contractor  
•  The property  insurance must  include engineering or architect  fees and must 

equal the bid amount, plus any change orders.  
•  Coverage includes property on the work site/s, property in transit and property 

stored off the work site/s.  
•  Coverage will be on a Replacement Cost basis.   
•  The City of Appleton, consultants, architects, architect consultants, engineers, 

engineer consultants, contractors and subcontractors will be added as named 
insureds to the policy.   

•  Coverage must include collapse and be written on a “special perils” or “all risk” 
perils basis.   

•  Coverage  must  include  water  damage  (including,  but  not  limited  to,  flood, 
surface water, hydrostatic pressure) and earth movement.   

•  Coverage must include testing and start up.   
•  Coverage must include boiler and machinery if the exposure exists.   
•  Coverage must include engineers’ and architects’ fees.   
•  Coverage must include building ordinance or law coverage with a limit of 5% of 

the contract amount.   
•  The policy must cover/allow partial utilization by owner.   
•  Coverage must include a “waiver of subrogation” against any named insureds 

or additional insureds.   
•  Contractor is responsible for all deductibles and coinsurance penalties. 



IR 2.1 – Small Exposure 
Page | 4 

 

☐  Pollution  Liability  –  Contractors;  Motor  Vehicle/Automobile;  Professional; 
Environmental Consultants/Engineers 
•  Definition of “Covered Operations” in the policy must include the type of 

work being done for the City of Appleton 
•  Limits of Liability:  

◦  $500,000 each loss for bodily injury, property damage, environmental 
damage 

◦  $1,000,000 Aggregate for bodily injury, property damage, 
environmental damage (environmental damage includes pollution 
and clean‐up costs) 

•  Deductible must be paid by the Contractor, consultants/engineers 
•  The City of Appleton, its Council members and employees must be Additional 

Insureds 
  •  The policy must also cover subcontractors 

• Specify if “Wrongful Delivery” is covered 
•  Must cover motor vehicle loading and unloading and show on Certificate of 

Insurance 
  •  Certificate of Insurance must state: 

◦   If the policy is an Occurrence or a Claims Made Form 
◦  If the defense costs reduce the limit of liability 
◦  If the policy covers motor vehicle loading and unloading claims 
◦  If there is an underground storage tank or a super fund exclusion 
◦  If there is a Contractual Liability Exclusion 
◦  If Bodily Injury includes mental anguish and emotional distress  

 

☐  Aircraft  Liability  insurance with  a  limit  of  $3,000,000  per  occurrence  for  bodily 
injury  and  property  damage  including  passenger  liability  and  slung  cargo  if  the 
project includes the use or operation of any aircraft or helicopter. 

 

☐  Unmanned Aircraft Liability insurance with a limit of $1,000,000 per occurrence for 

bodily injury, property damage liability, and invasion of privacy liability if the project 

includes the use of or operation of any unmanned aircraft (drones). 

 

☐  Watercraft Liability insurance with a limit of $1,000,000 per occurrence for bodily 
injury and property damage if the project includes the use of and/or operation of 
any watercraft.  

 

  ☐  Cyber Liability and Technology Errors and Omissions Insurance per occurrence 
limit of $500,000. 

 

  ☐  Commercial Crime Policy per occurrence limit of $100,000. 

Last Review: 12/2021 



May 10, 2024

MQBTC2LPJQ37 44 East Mifflin Street
Suite #500
Madison, Wisconsin 53703
608.251.1177

Kathleen Duffy, AICP
Principal-in-Charge
734.545.6096
kathleen.duffy@smithgroup.com

SmithGroup is not 
proposing any sub-
consultants



City of Appleton Comprehensive Plan Update & Subarea Planning Proposal2



smithgroup.com 3

44 East Mifflin Street
Suite #500

Madison, Wisconsin 53703

May 10, 2024 Re: City of Appleton, Comprehensive Plan Update & Subarea Planning Proposal

Principal Planner
100 North Appleton Street
Appleton, Wisconsin 54911

Dear Ms. Smith and the Selection Committee:

It is a pleasure to present SmithGroup’s proposal for the City of Appleton’s Comprehensive Plan Update and 
Subarea Planning project. We recognize that this is a critical juncture to help Appleton align and enhance its 
vision on land use, housing elements, and key subarea plans. The SmithGroup team we have assembled is eager 
to work toward a refreshed approach to your comprehensive plan. We are committed to collaborating every step of 

the way.

Delivering a successful citywide plan that builds upon existing systems while adopting future-focused initiatives 
is complex. Our nationally recognized, Wisconsin-based interdisciplinary planning team has a legacy of 
innovative and action-focused planning for urban communities in Wisconsin and across the Midwest and the 
United States. Please refer to Section Two: Project Understanding & Approach  for a discussion on connecting 

previous plans; land use and redevelopment; housing; corridor subarea plans; and corridor market analyses.

A proven, consensus-driven process will guide Appleton to a visionary and implementable plan. The outcome will 
enhance the community through a unified vision, policy, actions, and metrics that launch the plan into its next 
digital iteration for tracking progress. This is essential for creating resilient redevelopment, housing, and land use 
strategies for Appleton’s future generations.

We understand that the decisions you make now will resonate with the community for decades. We will tap into 
our diverse expertise to work with you and develop an effective and implementable vision 
that enhances the vitality of Appleton for the future. Please refer to Section Three: Project Work Plan & Timeline
for our plan to build a strong framework for action; engage the Appleton community in their own success story; 
and enact proactive communication and accountable teamwork.

Thank you for your thoughtful consideration. Please feel free to contact me at any time if you have questions or 
require additional information. We look forward to discussing our proposal with you in greater detail.

Sincerely,

Thomas Rogers, PLA, ASLA
Principal, Urban Studio Leader
608.327.4402
tom.rogers@smithgroup.com

Kathleen Duffy, AICP
Principal-in-Charge
734.545.6096
kathleen.duffy@smithgroup.com



City of Appleton Comprehensive Plan Update & Subarea Planning Proposal

Company Information   5

Project Understanding & Approach  11

Project Work Plan & Timeline   17

Firm Experience & References   26

Proposed Project Team   40

Cost Proposal   50





City of Appleton Comprehensive Plan Update & Subarea Planning Proposal6

SmithGroup is an award-winning, national design and planning firm that 
utilizes research, data, advanced technologies, and thoughtful design to 
help clients and communities solve their greatest challenges.

Based in Madison and Milwaukee, Wisconsin, our expert team is 
committed to excellence in strategy, design, and delivery—giving rise 
to new, innovative, and equitable processes and methodologies that 
redefine the way we work as teams and support the communities we 
serve. Our specialists—from artists and planners to data analysts and 
beyond—develop beautiful, sustainable, future-focused solutions for urban 
environments, mixed-use and waterfront developments, parks and open 
spaces, healthcare providers, science and technology organizations, higher 
education and cultural institutions, and diverse workplaces.

Over the past several decades, SmithGroup has had a legacy of great 
planning projects throughout Wisconsin and beyond.

 De Pere, WI Comprehensive, 
Downtown, and SE Area Plan

 Dane County, WI Circular  
Campus Vision

 Oshkosh, WI Lakeshore Park Master 
Plan & Park Pavilion

 Racine, WI Lincoln King   
Neighborhood Plan

 Kenosha, WI Innovation 
Neighborhood Master Plan

 Kane County, IL District 
Comprehensive Plan

 Mahomet, IL Downtown 
Comprehensive Plan

 Danville, VA City-Wide  
Comprehensive Plan

 Meridian Group, East Boro 
Comprehensive Plan

 Rocky Mount, NC Mill Master Plan 

 Ann Arbor, MI Comprehensive Plan

 Detroit, MI Comprehensive Plan

 Ferndale, MI Comprehensive Plan

 Lexington, MI Comprehensive Plan

 Las Vegas, NV Comprehensive Plan

 La Porte, IN Clear Lake Sub Area Plan

 Burns Harbor, IN Westport 
Development Area Visioning & 
Concept Plan

 Blue Island, IL Riverfront Plan

 Rock Creek, DC West   
Corridors Planning

 Alexandria, VA Landmark Mall 
Replanning Services

 Pittsburgh, PA District Vision Plan

 Innovate Pittsburgh Craig Street 
Innovation District Planning 

 Sandusky, OH Southside 
Neighborhood Plan

 Columbus, OH West Broad Study

 Toledo, OH Strategy Framework Plan 
Exploratory Assessment 

 Grand Rapids, MI Southtown Corridor 
Improvement District Plan

 California High-Speed Rail Delivery 
Support & Technical Planning

 Cleveland, OH Euclid Corridor Plan

 Ann Arbor/Ypsilanti, MI, Reimagine 
Washtenaw Corridor Plan

171 years

1,400 employees

Ann Arbor, Atlanta, Boston, 
Chicago, Cleveland, Dallas, 
Denver, Detroit, Houston, Los 
Angeles, Madison, Milwaukee, 
Phoenix, Pittsburgh, Portland, 
Sacramento, San Diego, San 
Francisco, Shanghai, 
Washington DC

Architecture; Building Enclosure 
Consulting; Campus Planning; 
Civil Engineering; Coastal 
Engineering;  
Energy & Environmental 
Modeling; Facility Condition 
Assessment; Fire Protection 
& Life Safety Engineering; 
Historic Preservation; Interiors; 
Lab Planning; Landscape 
Architecture; Lighting Design; 
Medical Planning; MEP 
Engineering; Programming; 
Strategy; Space Utilization; 
Structural Engineering; 
Sustainable Design; Urban 
Design; Urban Planning



smithgroup.com 7

As a multi-disciplinary firm, we do everything from long-range planning to zoning ordinance amendments and 
detailed construction drawings. An understanding of the challenges that come after the plan informs our designs. 
This begins at the creative idea generation phase and leads to informed implementation phases that optimize 
time and budget to bring the plan to life.

Our work is client-focused and based on building an understanding and deep appreciation for community 
context. We analyze existing conditions and rapidly iterate future opportunities, including the physical form 
and relationship of buildings, streets, and open spaces in the context of historical patterns, existing situations, 
and future needs. We improve cities through design guidelines, development projects, and refined details that 
strengthen and identify values and a unique sense of place.



City of Appleton Comprehensive Plan Update & Subarea Planning Proposal8

SmithGroup’s urban planners craft land use plans 
that build off local context, incorporating form-based 
techniques to realize a plan’s vision. Our visioning 
strategies make land use approachable and help 
residents visualize what development could look like in 
their neighborhoods.

Our team is built on the philosophy that equitable 
public engagement has the power to shape the design 
of our communities more inclusively. We believe in 
engaging the broadest range of perspectives and 
values. Transparent engagement and decision-making 
processes require in-person and virtual engagement 
methods that are thorough, enticing, sustained, 
nimble, and self-reflecting. We must break down rather 
than reinforce the digital divide. We must build trust 
through the planning processes, and always ask, 
Whose voice is missing?

Urban developments depend on collaborative networks 
for success: forging local partnerships and building 
community coalitions, drawing on multiple funding 
sources, and securing agency support and regulatory 
approvals, to name just a few. SmithGroup helps 
navigate this process. We listen first: gathering 
information and diverse stakeholder perspectives. 
Then we help shape a shared vision for future priorities 
and outcomes, building a broad coalition of support. 
The result is planning and design that authentically 
reflects your community, and that connects your 
aspirations and assets with genuine opportunities.



smithgroup.com 9

Successful urban spaces anticipate and accommodate 
a diverse range of users and uses, creating vital public 
destinations. Our team is dedicated to creating great 
places, streets, waterfronts, and vibrant, sustainable 
cities. We understand the key elements of creating 
active, people-focused places, and how to employ them 
in each part of a city. Our firm has designed signature 
public places for over 60 years and continues to be a 
leader in place creation for the public realm.

Mobility forges the connections essential for growth, 
economic prosperity, and neighborhood vitality. 
Resilient streets support civic activities, promote 
stronger economic environments, and uplift 
communities through greater interaction. We focus 
on integrated systems rather than individual modes 
of transportation, balancing the needs of pedestrians, 
motorists, bicyclists, and transit users, and providing 
flexibility to adapt to future demands and needs. 
Connecting people to their community assets is the key 
to urban revitalization and sustainability.

Resiliency in Appleton goes beyond climate strategy. 
Our team will weave resilient practices into every 
aspect of the plan through economic planning, housing 
design, open spaces, and mobility. We will work with 
the Advisory Committee and Resiliency, Climate 
Mitigation and Adaptation Task Force to integrate 
resilience throughout the plan.



City of Appleton Comprehensive Plan Update & Subarea Planning Proposal10

SmithGroup’s experience with projects that comply 
with federal contracting standards and grant funding 
programs spans decades. This includes 450 federal 
projects completed over the past 20 years alone for 
clients such as the General Services Administration, 
Social Security Administration, Environmental 
Protection Agency, National Park Service, Department 
of State, National Institutes of Health, and many other 
U.S. agencies.

This expertise includes projects since 2021 that utilize 
American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) funding. Additionally, 
our firm regularly assists a variety of clients with grant 
preparation and identifying appropriate government 
funding sources. As such, our firm is accustomed to the 
cost principles, procurement standards, and reporting 
obligations set forth by these programs.

ARPA Funding

ARPA Funding

ARPA Funding

ARPA Funding





City of Appleton Comprehensive Plan Update & Subarea Planning Proposal12

Appleton’s Comprehensive Plan is an opportunity 
to step back and appraise the current set of plan 
elements and studies considering community values, 
changing demographic and economic conditions, and 
potential future conditions.

Through a thorough review and summary of the prior 
plans—as well as the integration of other reports and 
ongoing planning efforts (such as West College Avenue 
Corridor Planning, Complete Streets Study, College 
North Neighborhood Plan, and Housing Development 
Policy Guide)—we will document revised issues and 
opportunities as a whole to guide updates to the 
land use, housing and neighborhoods, and corridor 
plan elements.

We will audit past plans, find commonalities, shape a 
vision framework that links them all, and use it to vet 
priorities and strategies with the Appleton community. 
We will work to create a common framework language 
of vision, principles, goals, and metrics. This 
will result in an actionable set of strategies to 
monitor via an online data dashboard to celebrate 
achievements, listen to constituents’ priorities, and 
prioritize budgets and capital improvements.

Our team has an extensive history of creating 
and streamlining comprehensive and subarea 
plans for communities across the U.S. We recently 
aligned and consolidated goals for the draft City 
of De Pere Comprehensive Plan Update and are in 
the process of building a unified framework from 
the City of Detroit’s dozens of plans. 



smithgroup.com 13

The Appleton Comprehensive Plan will play a crucial 
role in identifying key properties for development and 
revitalization citywide and within the three subareas. 
We will evaluate current zoning to ensure alignment 
with the plan’s vision, leveraging our expertise in land 
use and housing policy to encourage a variety of mixed-
use and housing typologies that meet the needs 
of residents.

We specialize in preparing context-specific series of 
land use place types that articulate combinations 
of density, neighborhood/district type, and building 
form/function that translate to desired place types 
throughout communities. Determining these typologies 
through the engagement process and analysis of 
previous plans and existing character will build a 
future land use plan that can translate to zoning 
amendments and redevelopment strategies that 
tie land use recommendations to transportation, 
infrastructure, and open space.

We are experts in every phase of the development 
process—from vision to implementation. Our design, 
market, and planning team sets the stage early in the 
process for identifying key projects that can begin 
implementation before the plan is finished.

We look forward to exploring redevelopment sites or 
public realm interventions to add a set of concrete 
recommendations and design inspiration to the 
subarea plans. As part of our land use place types 
analysis, we will develop a set of site-specific 
recommendations for the three corridors to flesh out 
catalytic opportunities to spur future investment.



City of Appleton Comprehensive Plan Update & Subarea Planning Proposal14

Suburban 
commercial

Suburban 
commercial

Suburban 
commercial

Subareas

College North 
Planning area

Downtown plan 
study area

Private lands available 
along Enterprise Ave and 
Evergreen Drive

High schools as potential 
future resilience hubs

Development 
opportunity

US Venture is planning to 
move to the 222 Building

South 
entrance to 
downtown

Commercial activities 
along HW 41 &441

Potential residential 
development with golf 
course frontage

Implement recent 
downtown plan

The current C2 
commercial zoning does 
not support mixed-use 
development



smithgroup.com 15

Appleton is built on strong, desirable, and livable 
neighborhoods. We will use our understanding of land 
use and housing policy to encourage a diverse range of 
housing typologies and policies that fit the needs 
of residents.

The College Avenue North Neighborhood Plan market 
analysis, conducted in 2022, revealed a pressing 
need for 3,000 new residential housing units in 
Appleton over the next decade. The city needs to 
deliver 300 units annually to accommodate this 
demand. However, the 2022 Growth Report indicates 
that only 179 housing units were constructed in 2022, 
highlighting a significant deficit. The 2024 Housing 
Development Policy Guide includes strategies for 
strengthening housing priorities and actions that can 
be better integrated into the comprehensive plan and 
supplemented by a housing assessment data update 
to the 2022 report.

The Comprehensive Plan will aim to align these recent 
studies with a revised housing vision and strategies to 
promote housing development. The planning process 
will identify barriers and evaluate opportunities for 
housing-centric development. The final plan will 
feature policies to address the housing shortage and 
affordability challenges, ensuring a more sustainable 
and inclusive housing landscape.

The goal of updating the corridor plans for Wisconsin 
Avenue, Richmond Street, and South Oneida Street is 
to leverage connections with neighborhoods, 
enhance the vibrancy of each area by strengthening 
the sense of a district, enhancing pedestrian spaces 
and connectivity, and promoting infill development 
and growth of local businesses.

Our approach to corridor planning will involve 
documenting and analyzing the existing urban form 
while defining the Appleton community’s vision 
for each subarea’s future. Through a collaborative 
visioning process, we will create inspirational plans 
and drawings that capture the essence of this vision. 
These visual representations could potentially serve
as a basis for the creation of a form-based code, 
ensuring that physical developments align with 
community goals.

Visualization is key to fostering a common 
understanding of the desired community vision. 
Therefore, we will test design scenarios in opportunity 
sites using a combination of hand-drawn sketches 
and computer-generated 3D renderings. This 
approach offers a hands-on, immersive experience 
for community members, resulting in a plan that 
authentically reflects their input and aspirations.



City of Appleton Comprehensive Plan Update & Subarea Planning Proposal16

Our team integrates market-based (re)development 
strategies into all of our comprehensive plans. 
We identify opportunities and build site-specific 
visions and feasibility considerations for housing, 
commercial, and mixed-use. We will develop a market 
snapshot, with a particular emphasis on future 
housing and employment drivers and frame our 
recommendations to emphasize flexibility to respond 
to evolving market forces and expected future mixed-
use demand.

Our team will develop a retail, office, and housing 
market analysis, and an economic impact and 
leakage analysis summary for the three major corridor 
subareas (Wisconsin Avenue, Northland Avenue/
Richmond Street, and South Oneida Street). As part 
of the market analysis, we will quantify new and 
supported retail square footage, average store size, and 
number of new stores by retail type, as well as quantify 
the number of new unit infill housing front doors and 
expected population growth for a 10-year horizon. If 
the three market areas draw from each other’s market 
demand, we will perform an analysis that identifies the 
market overlap that exists between the three areas.



Project outcomes are most successful 
and supportive when stakeholders 
and collaboration fuel the process—
where all parties can roll up their 
sleeves and work through ideas and 
solutions together.

revised 6/21/2024



City of Appleton Comprehensive Plan Update & Subarea Planning Proposal REVISED Scope and Budget2

Project outcomes are most successful and supportive 
when stakeholders and collaboration fuel the process—
where all parties can roll up their sleeves and work 
through ideas and solutions together. While land use 
planning is complex and technical—it is imperative 
that the community keeps ownership over the ideas 
and their outcomes.

Our present reality has granted us the opportunity 
to elevate our equitable approach to engagement. 
No longer dependent on a select few who regularly 
attend public meetings, we strive to provide live and 
on-demand virtual options for people to participate as 
often as they can throughout the process.

For your project, we propose to deploy remote virtual 
collaboration tools and processes for transparent 
engagement and decision-making that are sound, 
defensible, and inclusive. The goal will be to break 
down the digital divide and ensure that everyone 
is heard while maintaining the fundamentals that 
make engagement successful. Coupling our virtual 
web portal exercises with paper DIY Workshop kits has 
worked well to bridge the digital divide and we have 
found an increase in participation from traditional 
open houses and workshops.

For the Appleton Comprehensive Plan Update and 
Corridor Subarea Plans, the following groups are 
identified and referenced in this work plan:

 Consultant Team: SmithGroup will have prime 
responsibility for developing graphic and written 
materials throughout the process, data collection 
and analysis, meeting facilitation and summaries, 
and drafting plans and recommendations.

 City Staff: We feel that project outcomes are 
best when we work closely and collaboratively in 
partnership with key city staff. We anticipate that 
city staff will play an essential role in the following:

 — Regular planning team coordination calls. 

 — Identification and coordination of stakeholders. 

 — Assisting with meeting logistics (finding spaces, 
invites, contacting groups, etc.). 

 — Preparing communications, notices, and 
gathering/entering DIY paper kits.

 — Leading breakout room exercises (and additional 
focus groups not identified in the scope, if 
warranted).

 — Assist in gathering applicable city data, plans, 
and resources for the Consultant Team. 

 — Collaborate with SmithGroup on GIS mapping and 
Hub site crafting.

 — Timely review of deliverables and providing 
comments back to the SmithGroup Team.

 Advisory Committee: An inclusive and motivated 
advisory committee is also important for guiding the 
direction of the plan. The Advisory Committee should 
include a broad range of stakeholders from Appleton 
and represent key constituencies and expertise. 
They will play an important role in vetting strategies 
and ideas, reviewing materials, informing process 
decisions, and advocating on behalf of the process. 
We anticipate seven advisory committee meetings 
throughout the project.

 Corridor Subarea Plans Focus Groups: Each 
corridor will have a group of key local stakeholders  
to provide key leadership and direction for 
each of the three Corridor Subarea Plans. They 
will be engaged four strategic times: in Phase 1 
during the kickoff tour and a follow-up virtual 
online brainstorming meeting utilizing an online 
whiteboard tool (in person option $5000); vetting 
alternatives during our Phase 2 in-person visit; and 
reviewing draft documents in Phase 3.



smithgroup.com 3

In-Person Visits: We plan to schedule at least one 
in-person set of meetings per phase and can flexibly 
adapt for those unable to join us. We anticipate 
these workshop days to be focused engagement 
sessions that combine on-site tours, structured 
break out activities, collaboration, and reporting 
out. They provide opportunities for stakeholders to 
sit down one-on-one with the planning team to talk 
through specific challenges or opportunities and 
build toward consensus. Our kick off visit will be 
corridor tours, stakeholder interviews, and the first 
Advisory Committee meeting. The Phase 1 visit will 
be a public launch of the project to gain input on the 
plan audits, share existing conditions, and vision 
and goals. Phase 2 will combine corridor subareas 
workshop breakouts and public input on the 
comprehensive plan elements over the course of 2-3 
days. Phase 3 will be adoption meetings at the Plan 

Commission and Common Council or an additional 
public meeting on the draft (additional services).

Public: We feel—and our experiences have 
demonstrated—that the most successful 
engagement happens when you go directly to where 
the people are. We look forward to partnering with 
city staff and the Advisory Committee to get out the 
word for our in-person input sessions by tapping 
existing networks. We suggest reaching out to 
neighborhood, resident, and business associations 
by attending their regularly scheduled meetings and 
sharing links and DIY packets. 

Pop-up Boards and DIY Survey Kits: These kits will 
connect with people in the spaces they use, from 
parks to shopping centers to carry-out restaurants 
to book clubs and after-school pickups.



City of Appleton Comprehensive Plan Update & Subarea Planning Proposal REVISED Scope and Budget4

We believe in community-driven design backed by 
accurate data analysis. Our team of Geographic 
Information Systems (GIS) specialists uses place-
based data, census information, and other metric 
factors to create highly specific, location-based 
suggestions. We believe in making this information 
understandable and accessible to the public. 
It will be included on the Hub website and in 
engagement materials.

SmithGroup proposes the creation of a GIS-based 
digital platform that incorporates and expands upon 
the city’s GIS web platform already in operation. 
This platform will serve as a hub for input, analysis, 
and sharing of the plan, harnessing the latest 
Environmental Services Research Institute (Esri) 
technology and leveraging Appleton’s existing 
geospatial infrastructure. We will collaborate with city 
staff seamlessly via an ArcGIS Online group to organize 
the apps, maps, and data that can be operated, 
managed, and updated by city staff in the future. 
Beyond data management, this platform also enables 
public engagement and spatial input. 



smithgroup.com 5

Our team will work with you to understand what 
information should be displayed publicly for each 
plan element. The public-facing Hub will provide the 
community with opportunities to interact with maps, 
take surveys, and comment on draft plan components. 
The overarching concept is to establish and maintain 
an online platform with the following key capabilities:

Integration of relevant city data into a consolidated 
database and dashboard for effective planning and 
decision-making.

Facilitation of online engagement to share the plan 
update with stakeholders and the public through 
user-friendly tools.

To realize these goals, our team will configure and 
implement a suite of tools within the platform:

Hub Site: A dedicated online portal serving as a hub 
for accessing data, maps, documents, and other 
communication tools to keep stakeholders informed 
and engaged.

Survey 123: Online input gathering via surveys, 
comment boards, and collaborative mapping.

Dashboard: An interactive platform for analyzing 
spatial and non-spatial data, tracking key 
indicators, and understanding how indicators vary 
geographically.

Story Map: An intuitive tool that allows users 
to navigate through different aspects of the 
comprehensive plan, especially spatial data, 
with ease.

The Hub Site will display all completed or ongoing work 
related to comprehensive plan updates. Furthermore, 
the data dashboard will integrate with the plan’s 
strategies, enabling Appleton to update and track 
plan implementation while also sharing progress with 
stakeholders.

We recognize that the long-term success of a digital 
platform depends upon empowering city staff to 
update and manage the underlying data and system. 
We will provide training sessions and documentation 
tailored to city staff’s needs to equip them with the 
skills to utilize the tools, ensuring the continued 
effectiveness of the digital platform.



City of Appleton Comprehensive Plan Update & Subarea Planning Proposal REVISED Scope and Budget6

The Understand phase provides a solid foundation to build consensus 
around a set of community values and goals across the city and 
stakeholders. For both the Comprehensive Plan and Subarea Plans, we 
will review past plans, gain understanding into key opportunities and 
challenges, update existing conditions data, and begin engagement. After 
this phase’s input, we will draft a vision and goals framework for the plan, 
which will be translated into measurable objectives for making decisions.

 

We will audit the existing Comprehensive Plan and Housing Development 
Policy Guide and create a proposed framework for edits and alignment. 
We will share updated existing conditions and work with city staff and 
the Advisory Committee through a prioritization exercise of the issues 
and opportunities. We will follow with a Retain/Revise/Remove exercise 
for the housing and land use elements across two virtual AC meetings, 
evaluating what has been completed, what are still priorities, and what 
latest planning best practices should be included. The results of the audit 
and existing conditions will be shared during the launch of the project 
website and first public meeting. Online and in-person exercises will focus 
on confirming the vision and goals.

We will kick off with a tour of each corridor, a market assessment, and 
a follow-up Focus Group virtual meeting for each corridor to outline key 
opportunities and challenges and preliminary goals that will be used for 
garnering input during Public Meeting #1.

 Coordinate tour logistics.

 Provide consultant team with 

existing plans/studies and markups.

 Share GIS data and coordinate on 

online map delivery/Hub website.

 Review/endorse public participation 

plan, draft website, and input 

activities.

 Meeting notices, social media posts, 

and email blasts.

 Biweekly calls with Consultant Team. 

 Public participation plan.

 Map atlas.

 Plan audit and framework.

 ArcGIS Hub Website and input 

activities (digital and DIY paper).

 Meeting agendas, materials,  

and summaries.

JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV

1.1 Kick-off Call with City Staff

1.2 AC #1 /Stakeholder Interviews & Tour

1.3 Existing Conditions (Census Demographic)

1.4 Public Participation Plan

1.5 Base Map Atlas/coordination with city GIS

1.6 Build Hub Website

1.7 Past Plans Audits

1.8 Land Use and Housing Assessments

1.9 AC #2, #3, #4 Plan Audit Calls (3 main chapters)

1.10 Corridors City Staff Call

1.11 Corridors Focus Groups #1 (3)

1.12 Public Launch: DIY Engagement/Online Survey #1

1.13 Public Meeting #1: Plan Vision & Framework

City Staff
Advisory Committee
Corridors Focus 
Groups
Public Meeting
Key Consultant 
Deliverable

  Comprehensive Plan 
Task

Subarea Plan Task



smithgroup.com 7

The Exploration phase is about digging deeper into different plan 
alternatives and options with the community and stakeholders.  
This phase will be an interactive process of evaluating and refining 
different alternatives for each plan through a series of  
consensus-building exercises.

 

Plan revisions based on the feedback from Phase 1 will be drafted for 
review with city staff and the Steering Committee at a series of three 
virtual meetings. During the drafting of the plan, we will identify key 
questions or concepts for consideration, evaluation, and/or prioritization 
by the public during Public Meeting #2.

Based on input from Phase 1, we will prepare a set of design, land use, 
economic analyses, and preliminary ideas for each corridor. Visit #2 will 
start with focus groups where stakeholders will provide input on different 
public and private realm alternatives for key opportunities and catalytic 
projects in each corridor. SmithGroup’s design team will craft concepts 
and alternatives for public input during an evening Public Meeting #2. 
We will broadcast live or record the presentation and upload meeting 
materials/draft concepts onto the project website for continued input 
following the in-person meeting for those unable to attend in person.

 Review draft comprehensive   

plan revisions.

 Coordinate logistics for Corridor Plans 

Workshop and Public Meeting #2.

 Meeting notices, social media posts, 

and email blasts.

 Biweekly calls with Consultant Team. 

 Comprehensive plan draft chapters.

 Corridor plan assessment/analyses 

and meeting materials.

 ArcGIS Hub website and  

input activities.

 Corridor plan public and private 

realm alternative concepts.

 Website draft review/survey.

 Meeting agendas, materials,  

and summaries.

NOV DEC JAN FEB

2.1 Draft Issues/Opportunities & Housing Chapters

2.2 Land Use Approach

2.3 Compile Data/Actions for Other Elements

2.4 AC # 5,6,7 on Comp Plan Drafts

2.5 Corridors Physical Assessment

2.6 Corridors Base Mapping

2.7 Corridors Precedents/Design Ideas

2.8 Corridors Market Analysis

2.9 Corridors Focus Groups #2 (as part of Workshop #2)

2.10 Joint Draft Concept/alts Public 2-3-day Workshop #2

2.11 Corridors Public/Private Realm Alternatives/Design Ideas

2.12 Online Draft Alternatives Review/survey #2

2.13 PC Virtual Meeting on Draft Approach

City Staff
Advisory Committee
Corridors Focus 
Groups
Public Meeting
Key Consultant 
Deliverable

  Comprehensive Plan 
Task

Subarea Plan Task



City of Appleton Comprehensive Plan Update & Subarea Planning Proposal REVISED Scope and Budget8

The Realization phase takes the preferred plan direction and breaks it 
down into actionable tasks in the short term to see the plan implemented. 
This includes the assembly of the final report documents and digital 
dashboard. This phase also includes ushering the plan through formal 
approval processes. Upon completion of draft documents, we will convert 
policies, actions, and metrics to the project dashboard for review and 
comment followed by adoption meetings at the Plan Commission and 
Common Council.

 

One set of revisions will be completed to reflect the input gained during 
Phase 2. This phase will include coordination with the implementation 
strategy for the Subarea Corridor Plan, recent Downtown Plan, and Housing 
Development Policy Guide, adding measurable benchmarks to an online 
version of the plan.

Following Public Meeting #2, we will refine the draft public and private 
realm alternatives into refined strategies for different areas throughout 
each corridor. The corridor vision strategies will be accompanied by 
a summary of the physical and economic analysis and public input. 
Implementation strategies will be incorporated into the revised 
Comprehensive Plan for a seamless set of action steps.

 Review draft plan revisions.

 Meeting notices, social media posts, 

and email blasts.

 Lead plan adoption process.

 Monthly calls with Consultant Team. 

 Draft Corridor Plan chapters.

 Final revisions to the Comprehensive 

Plan with a unified implementation 

strategy for recent plans.

 Digital dashboard of plan policies, 

actions, and metrics.

 Executive summary presentation 

slide decks.

 Final document PDFs, Word files, and 

transfer of GIS mapping.

MAR APR MAY JUN JUL

3.1 Corridor Plans Land Use/Character + Public Realm 
Vision and Strategy

3.2 Corridors Implementation strategy

3.3 Corridors Focus Group on draft alternatives (virtual)

3.4 Future land use place types

3.5 Future land use map

3.6 Dashboard update with final actions, metrics

3.7 Draft input survey #3

3.8 Document revisions editing/formatting

3.9 PC + CC adoption meetings (2 in person, 1 virtual)

3.10 Final packaging of materials

City Staff
Advisory Committee
Corridors Focus 
Groups
Public Meeting
Key Consultant 
Deliverable

  Comprehensive Plan 
Task

Subarea Plan Task



smithgroup.com 9

JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL

1.1 Kick-off Call with City Staff

1.2 Visit #1: AC #1 /Stakeholder Interviews & Tour

1.3 Existing Conditions (Census Demographics)

1.4 Public Participation Plan

1.5 Base Map Atlas/coordination with city GIS

1.6 Build Hub Website

1.7 Past Plans Audits

1.8 Land Use and Housing Assessments

1.9 AC #2, #3, #4 Plan Audit Calls (Issues/Opps, Housing, LU)

1.10 Corridors City Staff Call

1.11 Corridors Virtual Focus Groups #1

1.12 Public Launch: DIY Engagement/Online Survey #1

1.13 Public Meeting #1: Plan Vision & Framework

2.1 Draft Issues/Opportunities and Housing Chapters

2.2 Land Use Approach

2.3 Compile Data/Actions for Other Elements

2.4 AC # 5,6,7 on Comprehensive Plan Draft Sections

2.5 Corridors Physical Assessment

2.6 Corridors Base Mapping

2.7 Corridors Precedents/Design Ideas

2.8 Corridors Market Analysis

2.9 Corridors Stakeholder Focus Groups #2 

2.10 Joint Draft Concept/alts Public 2-3-day Workshop #2

2.11 Corridors Public/Private Realm Alternatives/Design Ideas

2.12 Online Draft Alternatives Review/survey #2

2.13 PC Virtual Meeting on Draft Approach

3.1 Corridor Land Use/Char. & Public Realm Vision & Strategy

3.2 Corridors Implementation Strategy

3.3 Corridors Focus Groups #3 on Draft Alternatives (Virtual) x3

3.4 Future Land Use Place Types

3.5 Future Land Use Map

3.6 Dashboard Update with Final Actions, Metrics

3.7 Draft Input Survey #3

3.8 Document Revisions Editing/formatting

3.9 PC & CC Adoption Meetings (2 in person, 1 Virtual) Visits #3,4

3.10 Final Packaging of Materials

City Staff
Advisory Committee

Corridors Focus Groups
Public Meeting

Key Consultant Deliverable
       Comp Plan  Subareas

Visit #2 Workshop



















































City of Appleton Comprehensive Plan Update & Subarea Planning Proposal REVISED Scope and Budget10

revised 6/21/2024



smithgroup.com 11

Costs

1: Understand $102,000 

2: Explore $140,000 

3: Realize $117,000 

Total Project Cost $359,000

Comprehensive Plan Project Cost $236,000

Subarea Plans Project Cost $123,000

Shared tasks like past plan review, regular staff coordination, implementation, executive  
summaries, dashboard, and adoption are included in the comprehensive plan subtotal.

Team Member Role Anticipated 
Hours

Billing 
Rate

Kathleen Duffy Principal-in-Charge/Planner 210 $185

Xu Zhang Project Manager/Urban Designer 565 $150

Jake Jenkins Urban Designer 370 $120

Gizem Demirkol Cakal Urban Planner 990 $100

Rachel Smith Housing Planner 190 $130

Michelle Johnson Market Strategist 60 $220

Tom Rogers Urban Design/Quality 15 $220

Ethan Wissler GIS/Data 135 $100

Contingency Average Staff Rate 210 $150



 

MEMORANDUM  

Date: July 10, 2024  
To:  Community Development Committee   
From: Olivia Galyon, Community Development Specialist  
Subject:  Request to Award Contract to NeighborWorks Green Bay for ARPA 

Neighborhood Leadership Academy Project 
 
Background & Analysis:  On April 3, 2024, the Common Council allocated $100,000 of American 
Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) funding for Neighborhood Leadership Academy programming. This 
programming will empower Appleton’s residents to strengthen their neighborhood organizations, 

provide an educational leadership development opportunity, and increase the self-sufficiency of 
Appleton’s neighborhood organizations to pursue improvement projects, funding opportunities, and 
increase community connections. The City issued a Request for Proposals (RFP) to complete and 
coordinate services for the Neighborhood Leadership Academy on April 12, 2024 (attached). 
Proposals were solicited in accordance with City’s Procurement and Contract Management Policy 

and ARPA regulations. The City received three proposals in response to the RFP.  

The three received proposals were evaluated by Community Development Department staff and a 
neighborhood leader in Appleton’s Erb Park Neighborhood. The evaluation consisted of internal 
technical review of the proposals and interviews of all three respondent organizations on May 23, 
2024. 

After internal review and determination of the firm’s qualifications and ability to perform the desired 

work, the evaluation team selected NeighborWorks Green Bay. Following proposal refinement and 
revisions, NeighborWorks submitted a final project scope in the amount of $76,250 and staff is 
recommending a contingency of $3,750 for a project total of $80,000. 

Per the City’s organizational structure and procurement policies, contracts for services in excess of 

$25,000 by the Community Development Department fall under the jurisdiction of the Community 
Development Committee (CDC) for review and recommendation to Common Council for final 
award.  

Staff Recommendation: In accordance with City policy, staff recommends approval to award a 
contract to NeighborWorks Green Bay in an amount of $76,250 with a $3,750 contingency for a 
project total not to exceed $80,000 to perform the scope of services outlined in the attached 
Neighborhood Leadership Academy proposal.  

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

CITY OF APPLETON 

 

Request for Proposals  

for 

Neighborhood Leadership Academy 

Programming, Engagement, and Delivery 

 
 

Issued by: 

City of Appleton, WI 

April 12, 2024 

 

 

 

Proposals must be received no later than: 

4:00 PM, Friday, May 10, 2024 

 

Submit Quotes to: 

Olivia Galyon 

Community Development Specialist 

 

By mail: 

ATTN: Community Development Specialist 

100 N. Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI 54911 

 

Or electronically: 

Olivia.Galyon@Appleton.org  

 

For further information regarding this request contact: 

Olivia Galyon, Community Development Specialist 

Olivia.Galyon@Appleton.org  

920-832-6469 

 
 

mailto:Olivia.Galyon@Appleton.org
mailto:Olivia.Galyon@Appleton.org


1.0 GENERAL INFORMATION 

1.1 Introduction 

The City of Appleton is located in the Fox River Valley of northeastern Wisconsin and has a 

population of approximately 76,000. Appleton is located at the crossroads of Interstate 41 and US 

Highway 10 and is 90 miles north of Milwaukee and 30 miles southwest of Green Bay. Appleton 

is the sixth most populous city in Wisconsin and is the largest city in the Fox Cities Metro Area. 

More information about the City is available on our website at https://www.appleton.org/.  

1.2 Background 

City of Appleton first launched its Neighborhood Program in 1996, targeting core, older 

neighborhoods in central Appleton. The City recognizes the various benefits of having formal 

neighborhood organizations, including an increased sense of community, strong relationships 

between residents and local officials, and opportunities for neighborhood engagement and 

improvement efforts. Over time, the Neighborhood Program has evolved to be resident-led and 

focuses on strengthening communication between neighborhoods and City Hall. There are 

currently 21 active registered neighborhoods in the City of Appleton, with various levels of 

resident engagement and activity. Registered neighborhoods participating in the Neighborhood 

Program can apply for the City’s Neighborhood Grant Program, which provides CDBG funding 

to eligible neighborhood projects and programs, as well as a small amount of non-CDBG funding.  

Historically, City of Appleton offered biennial Neighborhood Leadership Academy programming 

as part of the Neighborhood Program. The Academy offered neighborhood leaders a chance to 

connect and provided them with the tools and knowledge necessary to create positive change in 

their neighborhoods. A key component of the biennial meetings was peer share-out among 

Neighborhood Leaders to help build connections and share best practices. Funding for this 

program was reduced, and staff capacity has been limited to continue offering such a program. 

Furthermore, regular activity of neighborhood organizations was severely limited by the COVID-

19 pandemic, especially with limited opportunities for events and gatherings. This project was 

spurred by the desire to re-engage Appleton’s neighborhoods and use the available ARPA funding 

to enhance community connections.  

1.3 ARPA Requirements 

This project is being supported, in whole or in part, by federal award number 21.027 - 

Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery (CSLFRF) granted to The City of Appleton by the 

U.S. Department of the Treasury. Contractors are required to follow all federal guidelines related 

to ARPA spenddown, eligible activities, and reporting as specified in the Uniform Guidance (2 

CFR Part 200). Due to the time-limited nature of ARPA funding, consultants must demonstrate 

their capacity to complete all activities related to this this project by June 30, 2026, and all final 

reporting activities by September 29, 2026.  

Further guidance on ARPA regulations can be found in the ARPA Contract Addendum attached to 

this RFP.

 

https://www.appleton.org/


2.0 PROJECT OBJECTIVES 

2.1 Project information 

This iteration of the Neighborhood Leadership Academy project is intended to reinvigorate 

connections between neighborhood residents and provide opportunities for education and 

engagement. Priorities of this project include:  

• bring residents from various neighborhoods in Appleton together for engagement and 

discussion of strengths and challenges, 

• increase the effectiveness and sustainability of these neighborhood organizations, 

• provide deliverable informational resources that neighborhoods can use beyond the life of 

the Academy, including but not limited to: 

▪ resident engagement guides 

▪ project planning and grant management handbooks 

▪ organizational development strategy 

Deliverables produced will serve as an educational resource for current and future neighborhood 

leaders. Resources produced should be available for neighborhood members in a digital format 

with a printable version available. Provide City staff with original documents in editable format 

in addition to PDF version (e.g. .docx, .ppt, .gpx, .skp, .ai, .shp, .gdb, etc.)  

The main goals of this project are to provide neighborhood leaders with information and 

strategies to build engagement and community within their neighborhoods.  

2.2 Scope of Services: 

The Neighborhood Leadership Academy is expected to be a multi-session training opportunity for 

neighborhood leaders, with sessions covering a variety of topics related to neighborhood 

development. The selected consultant firm will be responsible for the planning and preparation of 

the Academy curriculum, outreach to neighborhood residents, facilitation and delivery of the 

Academy sessions, and creation of deliverable educational resources for future use. 

Neighborhood Leadership Academy training sessions are expected to be held in person to give 

participants opportunities for discussion and collaboration, but some remote/hybrid options can 

be considered. Participation by neighborhood residents in all sessions should be encouraged but 

not required. Topics covered in the sessions should also be covered in deliverable resources to be 

shared throughout a neighborhood, to increase the reach of the program.  

Due to the time-limited nature of ARPA funding, consultants must demonstrate their capacity to 

complete all activities related to this this project by June 30, 2026, and all final reporting 

activities by September 29, 2026.  

An example of potential project activities and topics to include in the scope of work is listed 

below. These topics are divided into general categories and represent areas that staff have 

identified as important aspects of neighborhood development, but are not representative of all 

potential topics to be covered during the Academy. These topics can be expanded upon or updated 

to encompass current research and best practices regarding neighborhood organization 

development, as the consultant sees fit: 



o Project Management and Program Development: 

▪ Project planning and implementation 

▪ Grant application process, grant tracking, and financial management basics 

• Specifically reference CoA Neighborhood Grant program 

o Life Cycle of a neighborhood org 

▪ Engaging new members 

▪ Sustaining continuous engagement and building momentum  

▪ Succession – who takes over neighborhood leader roles 

▪ Capacity building & organizational development  

▪ Managing conflict and change within a neighborhood 

o Neighborhood Assets 

▪ Marketing & communications – promoting the neighborhood, organization, 

events, and neighborhood assets 

▪ Asset-based Community Development & Asset mapping 

▪ Gauge interest in and set up neighborhood walk-throughs with City staff, led by 

neighborhood members to show assets, discuss concerns, etc.  

o Engagement and Community Connections 

▪ Identify and execute growth of neighborhood orgs and bring new neighborhoods 

into Neighborhood Program – Prior to workshop kickoff 

▪ Partnership and collaboration with local businesses/community 

organizations/advocacy groups 

▪ Working with local city and elected officials 

▪ Connecting with local schools 

• Schools as a resource/community center space  

o Examples from Appleton neighborhoods 

▪ Erb Park and Kaleidoscope  

▪ West Appleton Neighborhood – West High, Wilson 

Middle School  

 

3.0 PREPARING AND SUBMITTING THE PROPOSAL 

3.1 Proposal Content & Organization 

A. Title Page 

Proposal title, the name of the consultant, Unique Entity Identifier 

(https://sam.gov/content/home), address, telephone numbers, name of primary contact, 

date of submittal, and other relevant company information. Also include a list and contact 

information for any sub-consultants and the work they will perform.  

B. Proposal Narrative 

1. Provide a description of the proposed project and your familiarity with the City 

of Appleton 

https://sam.gov/content/home


2. Describe your organization’s experience in similar areas of expertise. Include a 

minimum of three examples for which your organization executed similar 

projects and client reference contact information.  

3. Description of organizational structure for the consulting team, along with their 

availability and experience to support the project.  

4. Provide your project approach, detailed work plan that addresses the scope of 

services and training sessions, and description of public participation events. 

Describe anticipated interaction with City Staff. Provide project timeline 

indicating phases/milestones of the project.  

C. Provide total cost of the proposed project approach on a separate page. Total project cost 

should include all expenses associated with the plan, including travel and incidental 

expenses. Provide the billing rate and anticipated hours for staff involved with the 

budget.  

3.2 Selection Criteria: 

Proposals will be evaluated and scored by the project evaluation team using the following criteria: 

A. Project Approach & Scope: 

1. Proposal Quality: Creativity and approach to accomplishing project goals. 

2. Scope of work 

3. Key project staff 

4. Project Cost 

B. Ability to Perform 

1. Organizational capacity 

2. Team experience & qualifications 

3. Past projects 

3.3 Selection Process:  

The project selection process will include the following steps: 

1. Project selection team will review proposals based on the selection criteria above and 

rank submittals.  

2. The top consultants will interview and present their proposal to the project selection 

team. The team will select a consultant to advance in the selection process.  

3. The selected consultant will work with the City to develop a final scope and project 

cost.  

4. Contract will be brought before City Council for approval.  

3.4 Submittal 

Consultants may send completed proposal via email or delivery by hard copy on or before 

4:00 PM, Friday, May 10, 2024, to: 

 

Olivia Galyon 

Community Development Specialist 

City of Appleton 

100 N. Appleton Street 



Appleton, WI 54911-4799 

olivia.galyon@appleton.org 

 

Submittals received after Friday, May 10, 2024, at 4:00 PM will not be accepted. 

3.5 Liability 

The City of Appleton is not liable for any cost incurred by proposers in replying to this 

request. 

3.7 Contract Terms 

The successful consultant will be required to sign a City of Appleton Consultant Services 

Contract and meet the insurance requirements attached to this RFP. 

 

4.0 CALENDAR 

The following is an estimated project timeline and can be amended as necessary. Consultants may 

submit their own project timelines with differing program dates, provided all project activities are 

completed by June 30, 2026.  

4.1 Project timeline 

DATE   EVENT 

July 2024   Enter contract with consultant.  

Summer& Fall 2024 Consultant carries out activity planning and prep, scheduling and 

program development, and recruitment and promotion of the project. 

Recruitment should include targeted outreach and engagement efforts to 

recruit neighborhood leaders and encourage new participants.  

Winter 2024- 2025  Neighborhood Academy begins training sessions. 

Spring/Summer 2025  Session continue, implementation/follow-up. 

Fall 2025   Prep for second cohort. 

Winter 2025-2026  Second cohort session begins. 

Spring/Summer 2026  Wrap up programming by June 2026. 

September 2026  Complete final reporting requirements. 

 

4.2 RFP Calendar 

Listed below are the estimated dates of actions related to this request. In the event the City of 

Appleton finds it necessary to change any of the specific dates, it will do so.  

DATE   EVENT 

April 12, 2024  Issue Request for Proposals 

April 22, 2024  Question Period End Date – submit questions to main contact 

April 26, 2024   Addendum for Question Period Released on City of Appleton website 

May 10, 2024   RFPs due on or before 4:00 PM 

May 2024   Internal review of RFPs 

May 20-24, 2024 Interviews 

June 19, 2024  City Council Approval of Contract 

July 1, 2024   Enter contract for services with selected consultant; Project kickoff 

mailto:olivia.galyon@appleton.org


June 2026  Prepare and submit final deliverables 

  



5.0 EXHIBITS: 

Neighborhood Program link on CoA website (https://www.appleton.org/residents/neighborhood-program) 

Map of registered neighborhoods 

Neighborhood Grant Program Infographic 

ARPA Uniform Guidance Addendum  

Insurance Requirements  

 

https://www.appleton.org/residents/neighborhood-program


 

Proposal to City of Appleton 

Neighborhood Leadership Academy 

Programming, Engagement, and Delivery 
 

 

 

 

Consultant information 

 Julie Filapek 

 Neighborhood Partners program of NeighborWorks Green Bay 

 39-1402851  

 437 S. Jackson St, Green Bay WI 54301 

 920.217.8744     julief@nwgreenbay.org 

 

 

Sub-consultant information 

Andrew Dane (curriculum and toolkit development) 

Neighborhood Planners LLC  

 83-1307464 (EIN) 

 516 E. Pacific Street, Appleton 

 920.585.3593    andrew@neighborhoodplanners.org 

 

 Michael Gerwe (design) 

 mGerwe 

823 E. Alton St., Appleton 

920.268.2003  michael@mgerwe.com 

 

Catherine Neiswender (co-facilitation) 

133 E. Parkway Blvd., Appleton 

920.410.9650 

Catherine.neiswender@wisc.edu 

 

  

  



  NWGB/Neighborhood Partners 
  Neighborhood Planners 

2 
 

B.  Proposal Narrative Info. 

1. Project Description and Familiarity with City of Appleton 

NeighborWorks Green Bay and Neighborhood Planners (Project Team) will partner to develop 

and facilitate an innovative Neighborhood Leadership Academy program for neighborhood 

leaders. Participants will have the opportunity to learn from each other, the course instructors, 

and guest speakers.  Small neighborhood cohorts will work together throughout the training 

period to identify neighborhood issues, opportunities, and assets.  

The proposed project will include the following components: program marketing and 

recruitment; hands-on training and peer to peer learning for neighborhood leaders 

(Neighborhood Academy); and a print and web-based neighborhood toolkit for use by 

Appleton’s neighborhood organizations and their partners. The toolkit will include, at a 

minimum, a Resident Engagement Guide, Project Planning and Grant Management Handbook, 

and an Organizational Frameworks Guide.  

Residents participating in the program can expect: 

• Enhanced networking for neighborhood leaders that face similar challenges  

• Hands-on, focused problem-solving with a group of supportive peers.   

• A personalized action plan to help move their neighborhood forward  

• An understanding and ability to use the ABCD framework in their own neighborhoods 

• The opportunity to network and engage with business leaders, City officials, and elected 
officials 

 

The Neighborhood Academy will include the following proposed consultation, modules and 

training topics, to be finalized following a needs assessment with existing City of Appleton 

neighborhood organizations: 

 

PRE-TRAINING: Consultation and Neighborhood Organization Self-Assessment 

Consultants will meet with each neighborhood organization represented in the incoming cohort 

to conduct a self-assessment for strengths, weaknesses, and opportunities (some of these, 

Cohort 1, will be conducted as part of curriculum development -- see Work Plan Task 5).  With 

this assessment, consultants will help each neighborhood organization come to the Academy 

with organizational development priorities in place. Save extraordinary circumstances, no 

neighborhood organization will have capacity to implement all of the strategies presented 

during the four-month period of the Academy; organizational development plans will focus 

productive work on 2-3 elements of greatest immediate importance.  Each represented 

neighborhood will serve as 'content expert/example' for at least one curriculum topic, with the 

collective thought process of the cohort focused on supporting their development as we all 

learn together.   

MODULE 1: Foundations of a Strong Neighborhood and Neighborhood Organization 



  NWGB/Neighborhood Partners 
  Neighborhood Planners 

3 
 

This module, facilitated by Julie Filapek with guest speaker Andrew Dane (Visioning and 

Planning), will introduce the Resident Engagement Guide portion of the neighborhood toolkit 

and is designed to orient neighborhood leaders towards foundational concepts and ideas that 

create an abundance mindset towards a positive future for their neighborhoods.  Topics will 

include: 

Overview of Asset Based Community Development (ABCD). Participants will learn the 

principles and practices of ABCD using case studies from neighborhoods in northeast 

Wisconsin which have used the process. Participants will begin applying the ABCD 

methodology in their neighborhoods during the academy.  

Visioning and Planning. Participants will be introduced to several visioning techniques that 

help neighborhood leaders develop their organization's work towards a shared vision and 

priorities.  

 MODULE 2: Activating Your Neighborhood through Identity, Action, and Communication 

This module, facilitated by Julie Filapek with support from Catherine Neiswender and a guest 

speaker on design principles for print/digital communications, will introduce the Project 

Planning and Grants Management Handbook of the toolkit.  This module will energize 

neighborhood leaders about the uniqueness of their neighborhood and the impact their 

organization can have as a neighborhood convener and activator.   

Building Neighborhood Identity. Overview of strategies neighborhood groups employ to 

create a sense of place and affiliation with one’s neighborhood. Case studies will showcase 

neighborhood signage techniques, landscaping techniques, logo/branding, and how to use 

effective programs and events to strengthen your neighborhood’s identity. 

Project and Event Planning and Implementation.  In the context of specific projects/events 

each neighborhood organization seeks to pursue, we will walk through a process that sets 

meaningful, achievable objectives and maximizes neighbor engagement.  

Communication Strategies.  Overview of strategies available to neighborhood organizations 

to communicate to and with neighbors for maximum engagement. Guest speaker for this 

topic to support neighbor learning around simple design and communication principles 

useful in newsletter, flyer, social media, branding and other elements of neighborhood 

communications. 

 MODULE 3: Organizational Effectiveness 

This module, facilitated by Julie Filapek with support from Catherine Neiswender and a possible 

guest speaker on conflict management, will introduce the Organizational Frameworks Guide 

portion of the neighborhood toolkit. 

Bylaws and Organization Structure. Participants will understand and consider the 

implications of various formal and informal methods of convening neighbors and conducting 

decision-making.  Participants will draft bylaws that address geographic boundaries, 

purposes, membership and leadership, decision-making, and meetings.  



  NWGB/Neighborhood Partners 
  Neighborhood Planners 

4 
 

Leadership Styles, Group Dynamics and Conflict Management.  Participants will consider the 

temperaments and skills that contribute to an effective team and how to manage group 

dynamics for effective collaboration and personal fulfillment.  Session will include practical 

strategies for running effective meetings, how to identify and address healthy conflict as it 

emerges and manage unproductive group members and dynamics, and how to foster 

leadership succession.  This topic will include involvement of a guest speaker to work with 

neighbors on issues related to conflict management. Guest speakers under consideration 

from UW-Extension and local mediation services. 

Financial Management and Organizational Accountability.  Participants will learn the 

process of incorporation, maintaining good standing, and opening an account with a 

financial institution, and will be provided with tools and training in how to manage and 

report on finances. 

MODULE 4: Amplifying Your Impact: Partnership and Resource Development 

This module will be facilitated by Julie Filapek with support from Appleton Community 

Development Department staff and with guest speakers from other relevant city departments 

(e.g., police, parks) 

Partnership Development. Participants will explore partnership opportunities from both 

within and beyond their neighborhoods -- with potential for increasing impact on their 

priorities, and learn partnership and organizational collaboration tools and best practices. 

City of Appleton Department Relationships.  Panel of City of Appleton Department 

representatives from Planning, Parks & Rec, Public Works, and/or Police or other 

departments (will collaborate with City to determine best fits) to discuss opportunities and 

processes for working together towards shared City and neighborhood goals.   

Resource Development. Participants will learn how to secure funding through resident 

contributions, business solicitations, earned revenue, and grant opportunities including the 

City’s neighborhood grant program.  

 POST-TRAINING: Consultation Opportunity 

Cohort member organizations will be offered a follow-up consultation to be conducted within 

three months of Academy completion to further review, discuss and develop strategies and 

materials related to Academy learning.  

TOOLKIT 

Consultants will develop, in tandem with Academy curriculum, several handbooks with 

information and tools to support neighborhood organizations' development and success 

through their life cycle: Resident Engagement Guide, Project Planning and Grants Management 

Handbook, and Organizational Frameworks Guide.  These will include key concepts and tools 

covered in the Neighborhood Leadership Academy curriculum, designed to be useful both to 

those who have and have not participated in the Academy. 

 



  NWGB/Neighborhood Partners 
  Neighborhood Planners 

5 
 

Team Connections and Investment in the City of Appleton  

Both members of our team are residents of Appleton, familiar with the City's history, culture, 

community resources landscape, and municipal government including its neighborhoods 

program. 

Julie is a native of Appleton and first developed the Neighborhood Partners program working 

with the Historic Central Neighborhood beginning in 2009, helping neighbors identify their 

assets and determine their vision and priorities, and on that basis has supported many 

neighborhood improvement projects including the development of the St. Therese Community 

Garden and other beautification/food growing projects, public art installations and events, 

intergenerational connections in support of the neighborhood's young people, Wisconsin 

Avenue business promotion, and a plethora of social connection activities.  Since 2019, 

Neighborhood Partners has also been supporting the development of the West Appleton 

Neighborhood where Julie now lives and is a member of the neighborhood core team.   

Andrew is an Appleton resident and led the establishment of the Lawrence-City Park 

Neighborhood, whose members have organized and hosted dozens of successful events 

including Imagine City Park, block parties, and picnics.  Andrew has applied for and received 

funding on behalf of the neighborhood to conduct a resident survey and host two block parties.  

He and his neighbors have also successfully secured private donations to support neighborhood 

events and have advocated for issues including a Quiet Zone and improved walking and bicycling 

conditions on Lawe Street.  Andrew has served on the City Plan Commission and multiple non-

profit Boards of Directors in the community.   

Julie taught a previous iteration of the City’s Neighborhood Academy program, which Andrew 

also participated in. Both members of the team understand the City of Appleton’s governmental 

structure and community outreach programs, and have experience supporting applications and 

managing grants through the City’s neighborhood grant program.  Julie and Andrew share a 

passion for neighborhood development, understanding that the health and well-being of the 

City of Appleton will be strengthened as residents co-create quality of life where they live and 

are partners with the City in navigating challenges and opportunities today and in the future.  

Catherine Neiswender is a resident of the Erb Park Neighborhood and previously of the Historic 

Central Neighborhood where she was actively involved in the Historic Central Neighborhood 

Voice organization in its early years.  

  

2. Organizational Experience 

Julie Filapek (Neighborhood Partners, est. 2009, a program of NeighborWorks Green Bay since 

2021) has worked in neighborhood development since 1999 and holds a master's degree in 

Urban & Environmental Policy & Planning.  2001-2007 she staffed a Minneapolis neighborhood 

organization, leading efforts to strengthen the neighborhood's identity with the leadership of 

neighborhood artists, shepherd thoughtful, productive community voice through a period of 

rapid development and gentrification, and manage active relationships with municipal, peer 

organization, and supporting business, nonprofit, and funding partners.  Neighborhood Partners 



  NWGB/Neighborhood Partners 
  Neighborhood Planners 

6 
 

early development was with Appleton's Historic Central Neighborhood, and has since expanded 

to serve neighborhoods in Appleton, Menasha and Green Bay, and the rural communities of 

Waupaca and Denmark.  Neighborhood Partners employs an asset-based community 

development methodology in support of the attached social capital theory of change.  Julie is a 

peer practitioner with the ABCD Institute at DePaul University, center of the worldwide asset 

based community development movement, with several publications sharing the story of 

Neighborhood Partners' work in Appleton and Menasha.  

 

Julie previously led a neighborhood leadership academy for the City of Appleton, and from 

2017-2020 collaborated with UW-Extension Community Development, Oshkosh Healthy 

Neighborhoods, the City of Oshkosh, Stronger Together Fox Valley, and the East Central 

Wisconsin Regional Planning Commission to develop a regional learning network around both 

foundational and special topic trainings, covering many of the those proposed herein.  Julie 

regularly provides training for Green Bay's neighborhood associations, most recently in asset 

mapping, event planning, and grant writing and has several years' prior experience as a college-

level instructor.  

 

Client references: 

 

Elizabeth Williams   Catherine Neiswender 

Planning Manager   Assistant Dean 

City of Evanston   UW-Madison Division of Extension 

2100 Ridge Avenue   UW-Oshkosh Fox Cities Campus, 1478 Midway Rd. 

Evanston, IL  60201   Menasha, WI  54952 

224.296.4489       920.410.9650 

ewilliams@cityofevanston.org  catherine.neiswender@wisc.edu 

(formerly: City of Oshkosh  

Planning Services Division) 

 

 

Andrew Dane (Neighborhood Planners) has over twenty-five years’ experience in community 

development, including extensive experience designing and leading educational programs as a 

Peace Corps Volunteer, Peace Corps Technical Trainer, and UW-Extension Community 

Development Educator. Over a ten-year period, Andrew designed and successfully marketed 

educational programs focused on value-added agriculture, energy efficiency and renewable 

energy, land use and economic development. He has extensive experience working with diverse 

audiences including in Central and South America and in South Tucson, Arizona, and speaks 

fluent Spanish.  

More recently, over a five-year period ending December 31, 2023, Andrew provided community 

development expertise for the City of Waupaca. Over that period, he brought together a group 

of downtown business owners, the Chamber, and city officials to establish the Downtown 

Waupaca Partnership (DWP). The DWP raised over $75,000 to execute a series of placemaking 

interventions coinciding with the reconstruction of Main Street. Andrew also designed, 

marketed, and managed a $1M downtown incentive program for the City over a two-year 



  NWGB/Neighborhood Partners 
  Neighborhood Planners 

7 
 

period, resulting in over $3.5M in total new investment for Waupaca’s downtown small 

businesses.   

Client Reference: 

City of Waupaca 

Aaron Jenson 

City Administrator 

111 S. Main Street 

Waupaca, WI 54981 

715-412-1300 

ajenson@cityofwaupaca.org 

 

 

Michael Gerwe (mGerwe) will serve as the branding and design lead. For more than 25 years, 

Michael has created and developed brands and design systems for companies in a wide range of 

sectors, from health care and hospitality to retail, high tech and more. He has worked with local 

municipalities and not-for-profit organizations has been a special focus. Brands he’s developed 

have helped local organizations find the audience they’re looking for, and the mapping and 

wayfinding systems he’s developed have helped visitors navigate the subways of New York, 

discover Boston’s best attractions, and plan seasonal recreational in the Midwest. He’s even 

wrapped a major symphony hall in eye-popping outdoor graphics. 

  

Client Reference: 

Doug Davidson, Principal 

Alacrity Creative 

3509 Bryan Street, Suite 100 

Dallas, TX  75204 

214.336.7235 

doug@alacritycreative.com 

 

 

Catherine Neiswender will serve as co-facilitator for two of the four proposed course modules. 

Catherine spent many years as a UW-Extension educator, facilitating community and local 

community and local government conversations and planning process in northeastern 

Wisconsin.  She worked with Julie and others to develop and facilitate the Neighborhood 

Partners Network curriculum from 2017-2019.  Catherine currently serves as Assistant Dean of 

UW-Madison Division of Extension. 

 

 

 

3. Organizational Structure 

Julie Filapek (NeighborWorks Green Bay/Neighborhood Partners) will serve as Project Manager 

and Facilitator for the Project Team.  Andrew Dane (Neighborhood Planners) will serve as 

content developer for marketing, curriculum, and toolkits, and will co-facilitate one of the four 

mailto:ajenson@cityofwaupaca.org


  NWGB/Neighborhood Partners 
  Neighborhood Planners 

8 
 

modules. . Catherine Neiswender will co-facilitate two of the four modules. Michael Gerwe 

(Mgerwe) will provide graphic design services for the project including all aspects of visual 

communication from logo development to print, web, and social media assets. Anticipated 

graphic design services include a Resident Engagement Guide, Project Planning and Grant 

Management Handbook, and an Organizational Frameworks Guide. In addition, Michael will 

prepare all Neighborhood Academy and social media graphics and will participate as a guest 

speaker on basic design principles and tools for neighborhood communications.  

 

4. Project Approach and Detailed Work Plan 

 

Neighborhood Leadership Academy Curriculum and Consulting 

The City of Appleton Neighborhood Leadership Academy will be grounded in the principles of 

Asset Based Community Development (ABCD). The ABCD approach is a productive methodology 

for building effective neighborhood organizations because it leverages the talents, strengths, 

and passion of existing residents, organizations, and institutions to address self-identified 

community needs.  

The Neighborhood Academy experience is structured to provide flexibility for groups of 

neighborhood leaders to meet and identify their own goals, priorities, and action plans.  It is 

based on the concept of peer learning, where residents learn from each other throughout the 

training, building social capital while tackling real-world issues and opportunities in their 

respective neighborhoods.  The Academy will model and encourage a spirit of experimentation 

and continuous improvement to foster neighborhood organizations that are dynamic and 

forward-thinking. 

Opportunities for individualized neighborhood consulting before, during, and after the Academy 

will bolster the movement of learning to action.  Once committed to Academy participation, 

each neighborhood will work with a consultant to develop an organizational development plan; 

during the Academy, neighborhoods will focus on sharing their prioritized issues and work 

projects with the Cohort as exemplars for collective thought; post-Academy, neighborhoods will 

work with consultant to finalize those work products and determine next organizational 

development steps.  Post-Academy consulting work will be offered pro-bono.  

 

Outreach and Recruitment 

Outreach and recruitment will be undertaken through both broad-based and targeted 

strategies: 

• Existing neighborhood organizations.  Consultants will reach out to existing 

neighborhood organization leaders in a needs assessment to inform curriculum 

development.  As needed, consultants will support these leaders in identifying and 



  NWGB/Neighborhood Partners 
  Neighborhood Planners 

9 
 

recruiting other residents to join them as a learning-based entry point to getting 

involved with their organization.   

• Targeted awareness-building in areas of the City where there is currently no existing 

neighborhood organization.  Consultants will work with neighborhood-based people, 

organizations and locations such as neighborhood elementary schools, parks, local 

businesses, crime watch groups, and neighbors known to consultants/City staff and 

alderpersons to identify at least two people interested in forming a neighborhood 

organization where they live and participating in the Academy towards that end. 

• Broad public awareness through social media and traditional media stories.   

The City's RFP speaks to a desire for new neighborhood development within the City of 

Appleton.  New neighborhood formation is a challenging objective because it requires a 

condition largely out of the consultants' control: presence of a core team of neighbors 

motivated enough to be willing to take on this responsibility.  It is our intention to recruit for the 

Academy with a "come to learn and consider forming a neighborhood organization in your area" 

message where there is no existing neighborhood organization, rather than pushing 

participating neighbors to make a definite commitment to follow through.  Our goal will be to 

involve residents from up to five areas of the City not yet covered by an existing neighborhood 

organization over the course of the contract period, and to support those residents towards 

what we hope will be new neighborhood organization formation.  Consultants recommend 

marketing and recruitment focus in particular (though not exclusively) on areas of the City with 

evidence of disinvestment and concentration of low- to moderate-income households.   

 

Work Plan 

The work plan is organized into two phases, which coincide with the two-year timeline for the 

proposed project.  

NWGB: NeighborWorks Green Bay 

NP: Neighborhood Planners 

CN: Catherine Neiswender 

MG: Michael Gerwe 

 

Phase One (July 2024-June 2025) 

Task Lead Timeline 

Task 1 

Project kick off with City staff to finalize schedule and 

discuss stakeholder engagement plan.  

NWGB, 

NP 

July 2024 

Task 2a  

Create marketing materials  

NP July - December 2024 



  NWGB/Neighborhood Partners 
  Neighborhood Planners 

10 
 

Task 2b 

Promote Academy to potential participants. Our team 

will utilize a mix of outreach methods, primarily through 

direct outreach to neighborhood residents in areas of the 

City without a recognized neighborhood group, with 

particular (but not exclusive) focus on areas with 

evidence of disinvestment and concentration of low- to 

moderate-income households.  Goal of securing 

participation of residents from 2-3 unrecognized areas of 

the City. 

NWGB July-December 2024 

   

   

Task 5  

Conduct a needs assessment with existing neighborhood 

leaders to inform the design of the educational program 

and neighborhood toolkit.  

NWGB July-August 2024 

Task 6 

Mini-strategic planning with committed cohort members 

to identify their priority learning/development 

objectives, and which sessions their neighborhoods will 

be content focus. 

NWGB October-November 

2024 

Task 7  

Prepare a draft curriculum and toolkit based on feedback 

from key stakeholders including City staff  

NP 

w/MG, 

NWGB 

October 2024 

Task 8 

Organize and facilitate a fall neighborhoods showcase to 

highlight existing neighborhood accomplishments, 

connect leaders, and raise awareness of Academy 

NWGB October 2024 

Task 9 

Finalize Academy course materials  

NP December 2024 

Task 10 

Learning Cohort #1 brought together in four 2.5-hour 

modules. 

NWGB 

w/CN 

January-April 2025 



  NWGB/Neighborhood Partners 
  Neighborhood Planners 

11 
 

Task 11 

Conduct program evaluation with participants and meet 

with City to discuss results of Phase 1 and identify 

potential improvements for Phase 2.   

NWGB 

w/NP 

May-June 2025 

Task 12 

Follow up consultation offered to Cohort #1 

neighborhoods on the development of materials, 

policies, practices or other work products related to their 

learning. 

NWGB May-July 2025 

Task 13 

Revise curriculum and finalize and distribute Toolkit to 

Cohort #1. 

NP 

w/MG 

July-August 2025 

 

Phase Two:  July 2025-September 2026 

Task 14 

Market Neighborhood Leadership Academy to potential 

participants and recruit Cohort #2, refining recruitment 

strategies.  Goal of securing participation of residents 

from 2-3 unrecognized areas of the City. 

NWGB June-November 2025 

Task 15 

Organize and facilitate a fall neighborhoods showcase to 

highlight Cohort #1 applied learning success stories, 

connect leaders, and raise awareness of Academy 

NWGB October 2025 

Task 16 

Mini-strategic planning with committed cohort members 

to identify their priority learning/development 

objectives, and which sessions their neighborhoods will 

be content focus. 

NWGB October-November 

2025 

Task 17 

Cohort #2 Neighborhood Leadership Academy and 

Toolkit distribution. 

NWGB 

w/CN, 

NP 

January - April 2026 

Task 18 NWGB May 2026 



  NWGB/Neighborhood Partners 
  Neighborhood Planners 

12 
 

Conduct program evaluation and meet with City staff to 

review and discuss overall results of program.  

Task 19 

Follow up consultation offered to Cohort # 

neighborhoods on the development of materials, 

policies, practices or other work products related to their 

learning. 

NWGB May-July 2026 

Task 20 

Prepare and submit a final project report. Finalize Toolkit 

materials and submit all electronic files and program 

materials to City. 

NWGB 

w/NP 

July 2026 

 

  



  NWGB/Neighborhood Partners 
  Neighborhood Planners 

13 
 

C. Total Project Cost 

The proposed budget is $67,100 and is inclusive of all time, materials, travel, food, and 

miscellaneous costs. In addition, the partner consultant team intends to invest $5,250 in pro 

bono service to the project, and to raise $25,000 in private funding.  Please see itemizations of 

all aspects below. 

Fee breakdown by consultant (see itemization below): 

• NeighborWorks Green Bay/Neighborhood Partners $32,000 

• Neighborhood Planners $28,000 

• Catherine Neiswender $2,250 

• Michael Gerwe $5,000 

CONSULTANT EXPENSES:  $$67,250 

 Additional costs: 

• Guest speaker stipends (Communications & Conflict Management topics):  4 hours 

development, 30-45 minute presentation (x 2 cohorts) = $750 each for total $1,500 

• Printing and targeted recruitment mailings: $2,000 

• Academy curriculum materials: $500 

• Academy session meals: $ 

• Fall gatherings materials:  $2,000 

ADDITIONAL EXPENSES: $$9,000 

TOTAL PROPOSAL TO CITY OF APPLETON: $76,250 

  

 Phase 1 Partner Consultants Task Itemization  

Task 1 

Project kick off with City staff to finalize schedule and 

discuss stakeholder engagement plan 

NWGB & 

NP 

$750 

10 hours @ $75/HR 

Task 2a  

Create marketing materials.  

NP 

w/MG 

$2,250 

30 hours @ $75/HR 

$5,000 design 

services 

Task 2b 

Promote program to potential participants 

 $5,250 

70 hours @ $75/HR 

   



  NWGB/Neighborhood Partners 
  Neighborhood Planners 

14 
 

Task 5  

Conduct a needs assessment  

NWGB $750 

10 hours @ $75/HR 

Task 6 

Mini-strategic planning with committed Cohort 1 

participating neighborhoods. 

NWGB $2,250 

30 hours @ $75/HR 

 

Task 7  

Prepare a draft curriculum and toolkit  

NP 

w/NWGB 

& MG 

$15,000 

150 hours @ $75/HR 

Task 8  

Organize and facilitate a fall neighborhoods showcase 

to highlight existing neighborhood accomplishments, 

connect leaders, and raise awareness of Academy 

NWGB 

w/NP 

$1,500 

20 hours @ $75/HR 

Task 9 

Finalize Academy course materials 

NP 

w/NWGB 

& MG 

$3,000 

40 hours @ $75/HR 

Task 10 

Learning cohort #1 brought together in four 2.5-hour 

modules, including prep with participants sharing 

content. 

NWGB 

w/CN, 

NP 

$6,000 

80 hours @ $75/HR 

Task 11 

Conduct program evaluation with participants and 

meet with City to discuss results of Phase 1 and identify 

potential improvements for Phase 2.   

NWGB 

w/NP 

$2,250 

30 hours @ $75/HR 

Task 12 

Follow up consultation offered to Cohort #1 

neighborhoods  

NWGB $1,500 

20 hours @ $75/HR 

Task 13 

Revise curriculum and finalize toolkit. Distribute Toolkit 

to Cohort 1 participants. 

NP 

w/NWGB 

& MG 

$2,250 

30 hours @ $75/HR 

TOTAL PHASE 1 PARTNER CONSULTANTS  $47,750 

 



  NWGB/Neighborhood Partners 
  Neighborhood Planners 

15 
 

  

 Phase 2 Partner Consultants Task Itemization 

Task 14 

Market Neighborhood Leadership Academy 

NWGB $5,250 

70 hours @ $75/HR 

Task 15 

Organize and facilitate a fall neighborhoods showcase  

NWGB 

w/NP 

$1,500 

20 hours @ $75/HR 

Task 16 

Mini-strategic planning 

NWGB $2,250 

30 hours @ $75/HR 

 

Task 17 

Cohort #2 Neighborhood Leadership Academy, including 

prep with participants sharing content 

NWGB 

w/CN, 

NP 

$4,500 

60 hours @ $75/HR 

 

Task 18 

Conduct program evaluation and meet with City staff to 

review and discuss overall results of program.  

NWGB 

w/NP 

$2,250 

30 hours @ $75/HR 

 

Task 19 

Follow up consultation offered to Cohort #2 

neighborhoods  

NWGB $1,500 

20 hours @ $75/HR 

Task 20  Prepare and submit a final project report. 

Finalize toolkit materials and submit all electronic files 

and program materials to City. 

NWGB 

w/NP 

$2,250 

30 hours @ $75/HR 

TOTAL PHASE 2 PARTNER CONSULTANTS  $19,500 

 

 

 

  



 
 
MEMORANDUM  
 

Date:   July 10, 2024 
To:   Community Development Committee  
From:  Lily Paul, Economic Development Specialist 
Subject:   Amendment to Offer to Purchase – F Street, Southpoint Commerce Park 
 
 
GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
Owner:  F Street Manager 3, LLC 
 
Applicant:  Josh Lurie, F Street 
 
Address/Parcel Number:  Parcel ID #31-9-5712-00 – see location map 
 
Petitioner’s Request:  Applicant is requesting to extend the inspection date and modify the 
purchase price.  
 
Community Development Committee Meeting Date:  July 10, 2024 
 
Common Council Meeting Date:  July 17, 2024 
 
 
PROJECT DETAILS 
 
Project Summary:  In June of 2023, the City of Appleton received an offer to purchase from F 
Street for Parcel ID #31-9-5712-00, comprised of approximately 14.23 acres. The offer was for a 
one-year contract at a purchase price of $41,000 per acre. A commission of 8% would be paid to 
the procuring broker. The applicant is looking for an extension of their contract to secure lease and 
materials to develop the property. To adjust for the extension, the applicant is modifying the 
purchase price of $41,000 per acre to $43,000 per acre. All other provisions of the offer shall remain 
the same. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 

The City of Appleton APPROVE the First Amendment to the Offer to Purchase for ~14.23 acres of 
Parcel ID #31-9-5712-00 from F Street Manager 3, LLC.   



48683475v5 

FIRST AMENDMENT TO  
VACANT LAND OFFER TO PURCHASE  

 
 
 THIS FIRST AMENDMENT TO VACANT LAND OFFER TO PURCHASE 
("Amendment") is made and entered into as of June _____, 2024, by and between F STREET 
MANAGER 3, LLC, a Wisconsin limited liability company ("Purchaser"), and the City of 
Appleton ("Seller"). 
 

RECITALS 
 
A. Seller and Purchaser entered into that certain Vacant Land Offer to Purchase dated June 

21st, 2023 (as may be amended, collectively, the "Offer") for the purchase and sale of the 
land in the City of Appleton described in the Addendum to the Offer, the improvements 
thereon, and other property, interests, and rights as further described in the Offer 
(collectively, the “Property”). 

 
B. Seller and Purchaser desire to amend the Offer as set forth herein and modify the Purchase 

Price and extend the Inspection Date. 
 

AGREEMENTS 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of 
which is hereby acknowledged, Seller and Purchaser hereby agree as follows:   
 
1. Amendments. The Offer shall be amended as follows: 

a. Purchase Price: The purchase price per acre, as set forth in the Addendum to the Offer 
shall increase from $41,000.00 to $43,000 per acre.  

b. Inspection Period. The Inspection Period shall be extended from June 20th, 2024 to June 
20th, 2025. 

2. Miscellaneous. 

a. Except as expressly amended herein, all other provisions of the Offer shall remain 
unchanged and in full force and effect as if set forth herein.  In the event of any 
inconsistency between the terms of the Offer and the terms of this Amendment, the 
terms of this Amendment shall control.  

b. This Amendment may be executed via facsimile or email and in counterparts, each of 
which shall be deemed an original and together shall constitute one and the same 
instrument. 

c. The Recitals are incorporated herein by reference and made a part hereof. Capitalized 
terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning proscribed to them in the 
Offer. 



 
 
 2 
 

d. If any provision of this Amendment is held to be illegal, invalid or unenforceable under 
present or future laws, such provision shall be fully severable; this Amendment and the 
Offer shall be construed and enforced as if such illegal, invalid or unenforceable 
provision had never comprised a part of this Amendment or Offer; and the remaining 
provisions of this Amendment and the Offer shall remain in full force and effect and 
shall not be affected by such illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision or by its 
severance from this Amendment or the Offer. 

[signature page follows] 



  First Amendment – Signature Page 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Third Amendment to Purchase 
and Sale Agreement to be duly executed as of the date set forth above.   

 
 
PURCHASER: 
 

F STREET MANAGER 3, LLC 
 

 
By:  
     Scott Lurie, Manager 
 
 
SELLER: 
 
CITY OF APPLETON 
 
 
By:        
      Jacob A. Woodford, Mayor



 



48683475v5  

 































St
ate

 H
igh

way
 44

1

Milis Drive

Q
ue

st
 D

riv
e

La
ke

la
nd

 D
riv

e

Ei
se

nh
ow

er
 D

riv
e

C
oo

p 
R

oa
d

Ei
se

nh
ow

er
 D

riv
e

D
es

tin
at

io
n 

D
riv

e 
(P

riv
at

e)

Retail
CenterOffice

Park

26
05

26
25

Al
lia

nc
e 

D
riv

e

Vantage Drive

Endeavor Drive 3920

Plank R
oad

Plank Road

VT Capital
LLC

Security
Luebke

Farrell
Equiptment

FLAIR

NMCR

F Street 
Development

Custom
OffsetsRDI

Oshkosh AAP
LLC

9-5712-36
Lot 36

SCP Plat No. 3
2.59 acres

$43,000/acre9-5712-35
Lot 35

SCP Plat No. 3
2.59 acres

$43,000/acre9-5712-34
Lot 34

SCP Plat No. 3
2.59 acres

$43,000/acre

9-5712-39
3.64 acres

$43,000/acre

Subject Area
14 Acres +/-

Veritiv

9-5712-25
Lot 25

SCP Plat No. 2
4.88 acres

$43,000/acre

9-5712-15
Lot 15

SCP Plat No. 2
4.83 acres

$43,000/acre

9-5712-18
Lot 18

SCP Plat No. 2
4.07 acres

$43,000/acre

9-5712-6
Lot 6

SCP Plat No. 1
3.01 acres

$43,000/acre

9-5712-24
Lot 24

SCP Plat No. 2
2.88 acres

$43,000/acre

9-5712-21
Lot 21

SCP Plat No. 2
2.59 acres

$43,000/acre

9-5712-22
Lot 22

SCP Plat No. 2
2.59 acres

$43,000/acre

9-5712-23
Lot 23

SCP Plat No. 2
2.59 acres

$43,000/acre

9-5712-37
Lot 37

SCP Plat No. 3
2.59 acres

$43,000/acre

9-5712-16
Lot 16

SCP Plat No. 2
3.69 acres

$43,000/acre

Encapsys

9-5712-19
Lot 19

SCP Plat
No. 2

3.46 acres
$43,000/acre

9-5712-5
Lot 5

SCP Plat No. 1
2.32 acres

$43,000/acre

Appleton
Hydraulic

Components

Southpoint Commerce Park
Appleton, Wisconsin

Prepared by City of Appleton
Comm. & Econ. Dev. Dept. 6/2023

0 300 600

FeetÜ

Legend
City Limits

Park Boundary

Subject Area

For Sale (City Owned)

Privately Owned Parcels



 

MEMORANDUM  

Date: July 10, 2024 
To: HR/IT Committee, Common Council 
From: Corey Popp, I.T. Director 
Subject: Request to Approve Endpoint Switches for $256,000 
 

I am seeking approval to spend up to $256,000 to procure and install 58 endpoint switches and 
10 uninterruptible power supplies (UPS).  

I am requesting this project be sole sourced to Heartland Business Systems (HBS), the City’s 

contracted managed network service provider and a fulfilment partner listed on the State of 
Wisconsin National Association of State Procurement Officials ValuePoint Cisco Master 
Agreement (NVP #AR3227), which states a minimum discount of 35% for all Cisco hardware 
and 10% discounted cloud services. 

Endpoint switches secure, prioritize, and route digital data over the City of Appleton’s computer 

network. Some of the City’s endpoint switches are 15 years old, with a typical age of about 
seven years. We expect to get 10 years of life from this new cloud-managed hardware. 

The Common Council originally approved this Capital Improvement Project (CIP) as part of the 
2023 Executive Budget adopted on November 9, 2022. The debt was issued in 2023, but I 
elected to hold the CIP until 2024, after the network remediation project concluded. The 
carryover was approved in the City’s 2023-2024 Budget Carryover Request the Council 
approved on April 3, 2024. An estimated budget overage of $5,903 will be funded using dollars 
already allocated to IT from the 2021 Excess General Fund and currently set aside in the I.T. 
Department’s 2024 Operations Consulting budget. 

The approved sole source request from Finance is attached. A breakdown of the funding 
appears below. 

Supplier Description Cost Funding Source 

HBS CIP Budget $250,000 Debt issued in 2023 and approved in the 2023-2024 
Budget Carryover Request-Special Consideration 
“Endpoint Switches” item. 

HBS Budget Overage $6,000 I.T. Operations Budget 

Total  $256,000  



 





96-24 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 23 OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE OF THE CITY 
OF APPLETON AND THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP WHICH IS A PART THEREOF, BY 
MAKING THE FOLLOWING CHANGES IN THE DISTRICT AS NOW PROVIDED. 

(City Plan Commission 7-17-2024) 
 
The Common Council of the City of Appleton does ordain as follows: 
 
 

Section 1: That Zoning Ordinance, Chapter 23 of the Municipal Code of the City of 

Appleton and the Official Zoning Map, which is a part thereof, is amended by making the following 

changes: 

To rezone lands located at 1313 East Amelia Street (Tax Id #31-1-1926-00) and 1319 
North Owaissa Street (Tax Id #31-1-1927-00), including to the centerline of the 
adjacent street right-of-way, from R-1B Single-Family District to R-1C Central City 
Residential District. (Rezoning #5-24 – Terry Adams, owner and David Hebert of 
Hebert Associates, Inc., applicant) 
 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION: 
 
1313 East Amelia Street / Parcel 31-1-1926-00 
North 60 feet of Lot 5 and Lot 7 of Ullman's Addition, City of Appleton, Outagamie 
County, Wisconsin, including to the center line of the adjacent public right-of-way.   
  
1319 North Owaissa Street / Parcel 31-1-1927-00 
South 60 feet of Lot 5 and Lot 7 of Ullman's Addition, City of Appleton, Outagamie 
County, Wisconsin, including to the center line of the adjacent public right-of-way.   

  
COMMON DESCRIPTION: 
 
1313 East Amelia Street (Tax Id #31-1-1926-00) and 1319 North Owaissa Street 
(Tax Id #31-1-1927-00), including to the centerline of the adjacent street right-of-
way 
 
 
Section 2: This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and 

publication, and upon its passage and publication the Director of Community Development is 

authorized and directed to make the necessary changes to the Official Zoning Map in accordance 

with this Ordinance. 



97-24 
 
AN ORDINANCE CREATING SECTION 19-201 OF CHAPTER 19 OF THE MUNICIPAL 
CODE OF THE CITY OF APPLETON, RELATING TO SHORT-TERM COMMERCIAL 
RENTAL OF ELECTRIC SCOOTERS PROHIBITED. 

(Municipal Services Committee – 6-19-2024) 
 
The Common Council of the City of Appleton does ordain as follows: 
 
 

Section 1:  That Section 19-201 of Chapter 19 of the Municipal Code of the City of 

Appleton, relating to short-term commercial rental of electric scooters prohibited, is hereby created 

to read as follows: 

19-201.  Short-term commercial rental of electric scooters prohibited.    
 

 (a) For purposes of this section, electric scooter is defined in Wis. Stat. 
§340.01(15ps) (2021-22) and as amended over time. 
 
 (b) The short-term commercial rental of electric scooters to the general 
public is prohibited pursuant to Wis. Stat. §349.237(4) (2021-22) and as amended 
over time. 

 
Section 2:  This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and 

publication. 

98-24 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 18-83(a) OF CHAPTER 18 OF THE MUNICIPAL 
CODE OF THE CITY OF APPLETON, RELATING TO IMPOSITION OF MOTOR 
VEHICLE REGISTRATION FEE. 

(Finance Committee – 6-17-2024) 
 
The Common Council of the City of Appleton does ordain as follows: 
 
 

Section 1:  That Section 18-83(a) of Chapter 18 of the Municipal Code of the City of 

Appleton, relating to imposition of motor vehicle registration fee, is hereby amended to read as 

follows: 



Sec. 18-83.  Imposition of motor vehicle registration fee. 
 
 (a) Pursuant to §341.35 of the Wisconsin Statutes, an annual flat city 
registration fee as set forth herein, in the amount of thirty dollars ($30.00) is hereby 
imposed on all motor vehicles registered in the state of Wisconsin that are 
customarily kept in the city of Appleton.   
 
 
Section 2:  This ordinance shall be in full force and effect beginning January 1, 2025. 


	0000_Agenda
	0001_1_CC Minutes 6-19-24
	0003_1_Make Music Day 2024
	0003_2_Childrens Week Proclamation 2024
	0003_3_Glioblastoma Awareness Day Proclamation 2024
	0003_4_Parks and Recreation Month Proclamation 2024
	0004_1_RZ 5-24 Notice of Public Hearing
	RE: Proposed Zone Change

	0005_1_7-R-24 Rescind No Mow May
	0005_2_WeedComplaintData_MSC_Memo06062024
	0005_3_No Mow May Resolution Resident Handout
	0005_4_No Mow May Resolution Substitute AS AMENDED
	0006_1_4 Lil Taco Tables Chairs Permit
	0006_2_24-0754 Lil Taco Occupancy Permit App - Comments for 06-24-24 MSC Mtg Minutes
	From: Peter Neuberger <Peter.Neuberger@Appleton.org>  Sent: Monday, June 17, 2024 3:28 PM To: Denise Fenton <District6@Appleton.org> Subject: Municipal Services Committee Held Item - Occupancy Permit Lil Taco Tables & Chairs

	0007_1_Rise Apartments LLC - Permanent Occupancy Permit App MSC 06-24-2024
	Rise Apartments LLC - Permanent Occupancy Permit App DRAFT
	2275380c-1_1 - stoop exhibit
	Sheets and Views
	1_1


	EXH_2275380c-1_1 (002)

	0008_1_Boldt College Ave Occupancy Permit Extension MSC final 06-24-2024 
	Boldt College Ave Occupancy Permit Extension App MSC 06-24-2024 p1.pdf
	Boldt College Ave Occupancy Permit Extension MSC 06-24-2024 .pdf
	Boldt College Ave Long Term Temp Occupancy Permit Extension App DRAFT concurrence ADI Findorff
	From: Jennifer Stephany <jennifer@appletondowntown.org>  Sent: Monday, June 17, 2024 11:19 AM To: Brad Hechimovich <Brad.Hechimovich@boldt.com> Cc: Cole Alsbach <cole@darkhorsedevelopmentllc.com> Subject: Re: Fox Commons Sidewalk Closure and work Beyo...



	0009_1_Corner Pub Alcohol Lic Non-Renewal MEMO - Atty
	0009_2_2024 Corner Pub Non-Renewal Hearing Notice
	0009_3_2023 Non-Use of License Letter- Corner Pub
	LEGAL & ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES DEPARTMENT
	Office of the City Clerk

	0009_4_CORNER_PUB 2023 Inspection Report
	0009_5_CORNER_PUB 2024 Inspection Report
	0009_6_Corner Pub 2024.2025 Renewal
	0009_7_Kim Williams-inspection letter
	0009_8_Inspections SL Memo- Corner Pub 7-9-2024
	0009_9_7-10-24 - Corner Pub- Report of SL to Common Council
	0010_1_Aladtec Sole Source - SL 2024
	0010_2_Q032584 - Appleton Police Department_preview (1) (1)
	0011_1_Ab-105 Flicks Sips_Redacted
	0012_1_Fox Valley Estates- Mobile Home Park Renewal
	0013_1_Bowinator LLC Ukiyo Class C App Redacted
	0014_1_Mondo Wine LLC Class B Beer.Reserve Class B Liquor 2024 Redacted
	0015_1_Walgreens 12693 Redacted
	0016_1_Walgreens 12693 Redacted
	0017_1_Walgreens 12019 Redacted
	0018_1_Walgreens 2921 Redacted
	0019_1_Dairyland Brew Pub Redacted
	0020_1_Nanglo Momos Curry Tobacco Redacted
	0021_1_Richmond Smokeys Tobacco Inc Redacted
	0022_1_Late 2024-25 Alcohol License Renewals SL
	0023_1_2024-2025 Late C.T.V Renewals 3rd Round
	0024_1_Walgreens 5102 Redacted
	0025_1_Dispensary Tobacco App Redacted
	0026_1_Nanglo Momos Curry Class B Beer.Reserve Class B Liquor App Redacted
	0027_1_Golper Supply Co Inc 2024 Renewal Redacted
	0028_1_Mach IV Motors LLC 2024 Renewal Redacted
	0029_1_Spats Temp Premise Amendment 2024
	0030_1_Emmetts Premise Amend. 8.1.24
	0031_1_Family Dollar 23800 Redacted
	0032_1_Circle K Tobacco Redacted
	0033_1_Indianhead Oil LLC Class A Beer.Liquor App Redacted
	0034_1_Lindo Michoacan Class A Combo App Redacted
	0035_1_Lindo Michoacan Class B Reserve Combo App Redacted
	0036_1_Wooden Nickel Temp Premise Amend. 8.1.24
	0037_1_Jim's Place Temp Premise Amend. 8.1.24
	0038_1_Wild Habitats 2024 Renewal Redacted
	0039_1_Gingerootz Class B Combo App Redacted
	0040_1_Moon Water Cafe App Redacted
	0041_1_StaffReport_1313Amelia+1319Owaissa_Rezoning_For06-12-24
	0042_1_StaffReport_LumbiniEstates_FinalPlat_For7-10-24
	0043_1_2025 Assessment Policy Finance Memo 06-24-2024
	0043_2_2025 Assessment Policy - 7-17-24
	A. General Information
	18. Calculation Guidelines: a. On multiple frontage lots zoned R-1 or R-2, the shortest side will be assessed at 100% of  the assessment rate.  On the other sides, the first 120 feet of each side will be assessed at  25% (R-2, 50%) of the assessment r...
	c. On inside corner or multiple frontage lots, the side or sides precluded from access are not  included in the assessment frontage determination. d. On multiple frontage lots where all sides have equal frontage, the side to be considered  the short ...
	g. For work abutting only part of a parcel’s total frontage, assessments will be calculated based on the partial frontage.  The balance will be assessed as work is completed along the remaining frontage.
	II. SIDEWALKS
	A. General Information
	B. Calculation Guidelines - Sidewalks
	A. General Information
	B. Calculation Guidelines – Sanitary Sewer



	a. On multiple frontage lots zoned R-1 or R-2, the shortest side will be assessed at 100% of the assessment rate.  On the other sides, the first 120 feet for each side will be assessed at 0% of the assessment.  The balance of the frontage will be asse...
	b. On multiple frontage lots where all sides have equal frontage, the side to be considered the short side is the “Addressed” side.
	A. General Definition

	b. On multiple frontage lots where all sides have equal frontage, the side to be considered the short side is the “Addressed” side.
	c.   At the completion of the improvements, where sewer exists across an entire parcel frontage, but sewer construction only occurs along part of a parcel’s total frontage, assessments will be calculated based on the partial frontage.  The balance wil...
	A. General Information
	B. Calculation Guidelines
	A. General Information
	B. Calculation Guidelines – Water Mains and Services


	d. On multiple frontage lots where all sides have equal frontage, the side to be considered the short side is the “Addressed” side.
	A. Calculation Guidelines
	A. General Information
	A. General definition
	1. Special charges shall accrue interest starting 30 days following the invoice date.  Interest shall accrue at the same rate as for special assessments.  (Board of Public Works, June 6, 1990).

	A. General Definition


	0044_1_Phase 2 BFP Equip Upgrades Project Bid Award_Staab
	0045_1_Change Order 8_Staab
	0046_1_49840121_TPP_6.25.24_ signed
	0047_1_Public Safety Camera Budget Amendment
	0048_1_2024 Parks Pavilion Roof Replacement
	0049_1_DT1541_CoA_WATR _1130-65-76_1130-65-41
	0050_1_AwardMemo_CompPlanUpdate+SubAreaPlanning_For7-10-24
	0050_2_RFP_CompPlanUpdate_SubAreaPlanning_Final_4-12-24
	Page 1 - Cover Letter
	Page 3 - Request for Proposal
	Page 9 - Subarea Maps
	Page 12 - ARPA Uniform Guidance and Clauses
	Page 20 - Insurance Requirements

	0050_3_SmithGroup Proposal_CompPlanUpdate+SubAreaPlanning_7-2-24
	0051_1_AwardMemo_NeighborhoodLeadershipAcademy_For7-10-24
	0051_2_RFP_NeighborhoodLeadershipAcademy_4-12-24
	0051_3_NeighborWorksGreenBayProposal_NeighborhoodLeadershipAcademy_FINAL 24.6.24
	0052_1_OTP Amendment_FStreet_Memo to CDC_7-10-24
	0052_2_1st Amendment to OTP_FStreet
	0052_3_BuyerSignedOTP+Addendum_AdjacentExcessLand_14Acres_FStreetManager3LLC
	0052_4_FStreet14 acre-Exhibit A
	0053_1_Request to Approve Endpoint Switches for $256,000
	0053_2_Endpoint Switches Sole source
	0054_1_Ordinances to Council 7-17-24
	LEGAL DESCRIPTION:


	Project: Comprehensive Plan & Subarea Planning
	Bond: Off
	Property: Off
	Pollution: Off
	Aircraft: Off
	Drones: Off
	Watercraft: Off
	Cyber: Off
	Commercial Crime: Off


